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March 25, 2015 
Dear Fellow Stockholder:
You are cordially invited to attend the Annual Meeting of Stockholders of LKQ Corporation at 135 South LaSalle
Street, 43rd Floor, Chicago, Illinois 60603 at 1:30 p.m., Central Time, on May 4, 2015.
This Notice of Annual Meeting and Proxy Statement describe the business to be transacted at the meeting and provide
other information concerning LKQ that you should be aware of when you vote your shares.
The principal business of the Annual Meeting will be to elect directors, to ratify the appointment of our independent
registered public accounting firm, and to hold an advisory vote on executive compensation. We also plan to review the
status of the Company’s business at the meeting and answer any questions you may have.
It is important that your shares are represented at the Annual Meeting whether or not you plan to attend. To ensure
that you will be represented, we ask that you vote your shares as soon as possible.
On behalf of the Board of Directors and management, we would like to express our appreciation for your investment
in LKQ Corporation.
Sincerely,
Joseph M. Holsten Robert L. Wagman
Chairman of the Board President and Chief Executive Officer
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS
TO BE HELD ON MAY 4, 2015 
Notice is hereby given that the 2015 Annual Meeting of the Stockholders of LKQ Corporation will be held at 135
South LaSalle Street, 43rd Floor, Chicago, Illinois 60603 on Monday, May 4, 2015 at 1:30 p.m., Central Time. The
purpose of our 2015 Annual Meeting is to:
1. Elect ten directors for the ensuing year.

2. Ratify the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal
year 2015.

3. Hold an advisory vote on executive compensation.

4. Transact such other business as may be properly brought before the 2015 Annual Meeting or any adjournment or
postponement of the 2015 Annual Meeting.

We are pleased to take advantage of the Securities and Exchange Commission rule allowing companies to furnish
proxy materials to stockholders over the Internet. We believe that this e-proxy process lowers our costs and reduces
the environmental impact of our Annual Meeting. On or about March 25, 2015, we began mailing to certain
stockholders a Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials containing instructions on how to access our proxy
materials and how to vote online. All other stockholders will receive the proxy materials by mail.
You can vote at the 2015 Annual Meeting in person or by proxy if you were a stockholder of record on March 11,
2015. Whether or not you plan to attend, please review our proxy materials and submit your vote by proxy.
Instructions for voting are included in this Proxy Statement and in the Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy
Materials. You may revoke your proxy at any time prior to its use at the 2015 Annual Meeting.

By Order of the Board of Directors

Victor M. Casini
Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate
Secretary
March 25, 2015
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YOU ARE URGED TO MARK, DATE AND SIGN THE
ENCLOSED PROXY AND RETURN IT PROMPTLY.
THE PROXY IS REVOCABLE AT ANY TIME PRIOR
 TO ITS USE.
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INTRODUCTION
We have sent you this Proxy Statement because our Board of Directors is soliciting your proxy to vote your shares of
the common stock of LKQ Corporation at our upcoming annual meeting of stockholders for 2015 (the “2015 Annual
Meeting”). In this Proxy Statement, the words “LKQ,” “Company,” “we,” “our,” and “us” refer to LKQ Corporation and its
subsidiaries.
In accordance with rules promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), the information below
included under the captions “Report of the Audit Committee” and “Compensation Committee Report” will not be deemed
to be filed or to be proxy soliciting material or incorporated by reference in any prior or future filings by us under the
Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”).
GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE ANNUAL MEETING AND VOTING
Important Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials for the Stockholder Meeting to be Held on Monday, May
4, 2015.
Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 (the “2014 Annual Report”) and this
Proxy Statement are available at https://materials.proxyvote.com/501889.
Pursuant to rules adopted by the SEC, we have elected to provide access to our proxy materials over the Internet.
Accordingly, we are sending a Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials to the owners of our stock. All
stockholders have the ability to access our proxy materials on the website referred to in the Notice of Internet
Availability of Proxy Materials or request to receive a printed set of our proxy materials. Instructions on how to access
our proxy materials over the Internet or to request a printed copy of our proxy materials may be found in the Notice of
Internet Availability of Proxy Materials. In addition, stockholders may request to receive proxy materials in printed
form on an ongoing basis. We believe this process should expedite your receipt of our proxy materials and reduce the
environmental impact of the 2015 Annual Meeting. We are mailing the Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy
Materials to our stockholders on or about March 25, 2015.
Date, Time and Place of the Meeting
The 2015 Annual Meeting will be held on Monday, May 4, 2015, at 1:30 p.m., Central Time, at 135 South LaSalle
Street, 43rd Floor, Chicago, Illinois 60603. To obtain directions to attend the meeting, please contact our Corporate
Secretary. Our principal executive offices are located at 500 West Madison Street, Suite 2800, Chicago, Illinois 60661
(telephone: 312-621-1950). Admission to the meeting is limited to our stockholders (or their proxy holders) and other
invited guests.
Purpose of the Meeting
The purpose of the 2015 Annual Meeting is to vote on the following:
1. The election of ten directors, each to serve for a term of one year (or until his or her successor is duly elected and
qualified);
2. The ratification of the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm
for our fiscal year ending December 31, 2015;
3. On an advisory basis, executive compensation; and
4. The transaction of any other business properly brought before the 2015 Annual Meeting or any adjournment or
postponement of the 2015 Annual Meeting.
Who Can Vote
Stockholders of record at the close of business on March 11, 2015, the record date, will be entitled to notice of and to
vote at the 2015 Annual Meeting or any adjournment or postponement of the meeting. As of March 11, 2015, there
were 304,122,308 shares of our common stock outstanding. A list of the stockholders entitled to vote at the 2015
Annual Meeting will be open to the examination of any our stockholders, for any purpose germane to the 2015 Annual
Meeting, during ordinary business hours, for a period of at least ten days prior to the 2015 Annual Meeting at our
principal executive offices. Each share of our common stock is entitled to one vote on each matter to be voted on at
the meeting.
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You may vote in one of the following three ways:
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By the Internet
Go to www.proxyvote.com 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, and follow the instructions. You will need the 12 or
16-digit control number that is included in the Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials, proxy card or voting
instruction form that is sent to you. The internet voting system allows you to confirm that the system has properly
recorded your votes. This method of voting will be available up until 11:59 p.m. EDT on May 3, 2015.
By Telephone
On a touch-tone telephone, call toll-free 1-800-690-6803, 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, and follow the instructions.
You will need the 12 or 16-digit control number that is included in the Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy
Materials, proxy card or voting instruction form that is sent to you. As with internet voting, you will be able to
confirm that the system has properly recorded your votes. This method of voting will be available up until 11:59 p.m.
EDT on May 3, 2015.
By Mail
If you are a stockholder of record and you elect to receive your proxy materials by mail, you can vote by marking,
dating and signing your proxy card exactly as your name appears on the card and returning it by mail in the
postage-paid envelope that will be provided to you. If you hold your shares in street name and you elect to receive
your proxy materials by mail, you can vote by completing and mailing the voting instruction form that will be
provided by your bank, broker or other nominee. You should mail the proxy card or voting instruction form in plenty
of time to allow delivery prior to the meeting. Do not mail the proxy card or voting instruction form if you are voting
over the internet or by telephone.
If you vote before the 2015 Annual Meeting, the named proxies will vote your shares as you direct. If you send in
your proxy card or voting instruction form or use Internet voting but do not specify how you want to vote your shares,
the proxies will vote your shares in accordance with how the Board of Directors recommends that you vote as set forth
below under “How the Board Recommends that You Vote.”
How the Board Recommends that You Vote
The Board of Directors unanimously recommends that you vote:
•FOR all of the nominees for election to the Board of Directors in Proposal No. 1 -- Election of our Board of Directors;
•FOR Proposal No. 2 -- Ratification of appointment of our independent registered public accounting firm; and
•FOR Proposal No. 3 -- Approval, on an advisory basis, of the compensation of our named executive officers.
How You May Revoke or Change Your Vote
If you are a stockholder whose shares are registered in your name, you may revoke your proxy at any time before it is
voted by one of the following methods:

•Submitting another proper proxy with a more recent date than that of the proxy first given by following the Internetvoting instructions or completing, signing, dating and returning a proxy card;
•Sending written notice of revocation to our Corporate Secretary; or
•Attending the 2015 Annual Meeting and voting by ballot.
If you hold your shares through a broker, bank or other nominee, you may revoke your proxy by following
instructions the broker, bank or other nominee provides.
Quorum Requirement
The presence at the 2015 Annual Meeting, in person or represented by proxy, of a majority of the outstanding shares
of our common stock as of the record date will constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at the 2015 Annual
Meeting. Shares represented by “broker non-votes” and by proxies marked “Abstain” are counted in determining whether
a quorum is present for the transaction of business at the 2015 Annual Meeting. A “broker non-vote” is a proxy
submitted by a broker that does not indicate a vote for some or all of the proposals because the broker does not have
discretionary voting authority on certain types of proposals and has not received instructions from its client as to how
to vote on a particular proposal.
Vote Required
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election of each director. In an uncontested election, each director will be elected by a vote of the majority of the votes
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majority of votes cast means the number of shares cast “for” a director’s election exceeds the number of votes cast
“against” that director. We will not treat as cast any share (a) that is otherwise present at the meeting but for which there
is an abstention, or (b) otherwise present at the meeting as to which a shareholder gives no authority or direction. In a
contested election, the directors will be elected by a plurality of the votes cast, meaning the directors receiving the
largest number of “for” votes will be elected. A contested election is one in which:

•as of the last day for giving notice of a stockholder nominee, a stockholder has nominated a candidate for directoraccording to the requirements of our Bylaws; and

•as of the date that notice of the meeting is given, the Board of Directors considers that a stockholder candidacy hascreated a bona fide election contest.
In an uncontested election, a nominee who does not receive a majority vote will not be elected. If a nominee for
director is not elected and the nominee is an incumbent director, the director must tender his or her resignation to the
Board of Directors, subject to acceptance by the Board of Directors. Normally, the Governance/Nominating
Committee will make a recommendation to the Board of Directors as to whether to accept or reject the tendered
resignation or whether other action should be taken. The Board of Directors will act on the tendered resignation,
taking into account the Governance/Nominating Committee’s recommendation, and publicly disclose its decision
regarding the tendered resignation and the rationale behind the decision within 90 days from the date of the
certification of the election results. The Governance/Nominating Committee in making its recommendation and the
Board of Directors in making its decision may each consider any factors or other information that they consider
appropriate and relevant. The director who tenders his or her resignation will not participate in the recommendation of
the Governance/Nominating Committee or the decision of the Board of Directors with respect to his or her
resignation.
The Board of Directors may decrease the size of the Board or may fill any vacancy resulting from the non-election of
a director as provided in our Bylaws. Additional details about this process are specified in our Bylaws, which are
available on our website at www.lkqcorp.com.
For Proposals No. 2 and No. 3, you may vote “for,” “against” or “abstain” with respect to each proposal. Each proposal will
be decided by the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares present in person or represented by proxy and entitled to
vote at the 2015 Annual Meeting. Proposal No. 3 is an advisory vote only. Abstentions are counted in tabulations of
the votes cast on proposals presented to stockholders other than elections of directors. Thus, an abstention from voting
on a matter has the same legal effect as a vote against that matter. Broker non-votes and directions to withhold
authority are counted as present, but are deemed not entitled to vote on proposals for which brokers do not have
discretionary authority and, therefore, have no effect, other than to reduce the number of affirmative votes needed to
approve a proposal.
We have appointed a representative of Broadridge Financial Solutions as our independent inspector of election. The
representative will determine whether a quorum is present and will tabulate all votes cast at our 2015 Annual Meeting.
Discretionary Voting and Adjournments
We currently are not aware of any business to be acted upon at the 2015 Annual Meeting other than that described in
this Proxy Statement. If, however, other matters properly are brought before the 2015 Annual Meeting, or any
adjournment or postponement of the 2015 Annual Meeting, your proxy includes discretionary authority on the part of
the individuals appointed to vote your common stock or act on those matters according to their best judgment,
including to adjourn the 2015 Annual Meeting.
The 2015 Annual Meeting may be adjourned for the purpose of, among other things, soliciting additional proxies. The
meeting may be adjourned from time to time by approval of the holders of common stock representing a majority of
the votes present in person or by proxy at the 2015 Annual Meeting, whether or not a quorum exists, without further
notice other than by an announcement made at the 2015 Annual Meeting. We currently do not intend to seek an
adjournment of the 2015 Annual Meeting.
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PROPOSAL NO. 1
ELECTION OF OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Nominees
Ten directors are to be elected at the 2015 Annual Meeting. We have designated the persons named below as
nominees for election as directors. If elected, they will serve for a term expiring at our annual meeting of stockholders
in 2016 or until their successors are elected and qualified or until their earlier death, resignation, disqualification or
removal. All of the nominees are serving as directors as of the date of this Proxy Statement.
Unless you otherwise instruct us, your properly executed proxy that is returned in a timely manner will be voted for
election of these ten nominees. If, however, any of these nominees should be unable or should fail to act as a nominee
because of an unexpected occurrence, your proxy will be voted for such other person as the holders of your proxy,
acting in their discretion, may determine. In the alternative, the Board of Directors may reduce the number of directors
to be elected.
The names of the nominees, and certain information about them, are set forth below.
Name Age Director Since Position(s)
Sukhpal Singh Ahluwalia 56 November 2014 Chairman of Euro Car Parts Limited
A. Clinton Allen 71 May 2003 Lead Independent Director
Ronald G. Foster 73 October 2007 Director
Joseph M. Holsten 62 February 1999 Chairman of the Board
Blythe J. McGarvie 58 March 2012 Director
Paul M. Meister 62 February 1999 Director
John F. O'Brien 71 July 2003 Director
Guhan Subramanian 44 January 2013 Director
Robert L. Wagman 50 November 2011 President and Chief Executive Officer
William M. Webster, IV 57 June 2003 Director
Biographical information concerning our ten nominees is presented below.
Sukhpal Singh Ahluwalia. Mr. Ahluwalia was elected to our Board of Directors in November 2014. In addition, he
became the Chairman of our United Kingdom operations in November 2014. In 1978, Mr. Ahluwalia founded Euro
Car Parts Limited, a distributor of aftermarket mechanical vehicle replacement parts in the U.K., and served as its
Managing Director. LKQ Corporation acquired Euro Car Parts in October 2011. Mr. Ahluwalia continued serving as
the Managing Director of Euro Car Parts until June 2014. He also is Chairman of Dominvs Group, a London-based
company specializing in the acquisition, development and management of commercial, industrial, hospitality and
residential property across the U.K.
The specific experience, qualifications, attributes or skills that led to the conclusion that Mr. Ahluwalia should serve
as a director of LKQ include his deep knowledge of the U.K. and European vehicle parts aftermarket industry, his
extensive world-wide industry contacts, and his experience of founding and building the Euro Car Parts business.
A. Clinton Allen. Mr. Allen currently is Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of A.C. Allen & Company, a holding
company. Mr. Allen was Vice Chairman of Psychemedics Corporation, a provider of drug testing services, from
October 1989 until March 2002, and Chairman of Psychemedics Corporation from March 2002 until he retired from
the Psychemedics board in November 2003. Mr. Allen was Vice Chairman and a director of The DeWolfe
Companies, Inc., a real estate company, from 1991 until it was acquired by Cendant Corporation in September 2002.
He was the founding director of Blockbuster Entertainment Inc., an operator of video rental stores, serving from 1987
until the company was sold to Viacom in 1994. Additionally, he was a director and member of the executive
committee of Swiss Army Brands Inc., a worldwide company selling knives, watches and related accessories, from
1995 until it was acquired by Victorinox Corporation in August 2002. Mr. Allen is the non-executive Chairman of
Collector’s Universe, Inc., a provider of services and products to dealers and collectors of high-end collectibles; and a
director of Brooks Automation, a provider of automation technology to the semiconductor industry. He also served as
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a director of Avantair, Inc., a seller and manager of fractional ownerships of professionally piloted aircraft, until 2013.
In March 2011, Mr. Allen was elected as our Lead Independent Director. Mr. Allen holds an Executive Masters
Professional Director Certification from the American College of Corporate Directors.
The specific experience, qualifications, attributes or skills that led to the conclusion that Mr. Allen should serve as a
director of LKQ include his expertise in the areas of corporate governance and responsibility, audit practices and
executive compensation. His qualifications in these areas have helped us formulate our corporate governance
principles. Mr. Allen also serves on both our Audit Committee and our Governance/Nominating Committee because
of his knowledge in these areas. His
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experience as the Chief Executive Officer of a public company and his knowledge gained serving on the audit
committees of public companies qualify him as an audit committee financial expert.
Ronald G. Foster. Mr. Foster was the Chairman of the Board of Keystone Automotive Industries, Inc. from August
2000 until October 2007 when we acquired Keystone. In October 2007, Mr. Foster was elected to our Board of
Directors pursuant to a covenant in the Keystone acquisition agreement wherein we committed to add two Keystone
directors to our Board of Directors. Mr. Foster has been a consultant since he left the automotive segment of Tenneco,
Inc. in October 1993, where he specialized in acquisitions, joint ventures, turnaround situations and quality systems
such as QS9000. For the prior 25 years, he held various positions within the automotive segment, most recently as the
Senior Vice President of Tenneco Automotive and General Manager of Monroe Auto Equipment Company, the
world’s largest manufacturer of ride control systems. Mr. Foster holds a Masters Professional Director Certification
from the American College of Corporate Directors.
The specific experience, qualifications, attributes or skills that led to the conclusion that Mr. Foster should serve as a
director of LKQ include his extensive experience managing businesses in the automotive parts industry in both the
original equipment and replacement part segments, his role as Chairman of the Board of Keystone Automotive
Industries, Inc., and his knowledge of SEC and other regulatory requirements for publicly-traded companies.
Joseph M. Holsten. Mr. Holsten has been our Chairman of the Board since November 2011. He joined us in
November 1998 as our President and Chief Executive Officer. He was elected to our Board of Directors in February
1999. In November 2010, Mr. Holsten was appointed as Vice Chairman of our Board of Directors. On January 1,
2011, his officer position changed to Co-Chief Executive Officer as part of his transition to retirement. He retired
from his officer position in January 2012. Prior to joining us, Mr. Holsten held various positions of increasing
responsibility with the North American and International operations of Waste Management, Inc. for approximately 17
years. From February 1997 until July 1998, Mr. Holsten served as Executive Vice President and Chief Operating
Officer of Waste Management, Inc. From July 1995 until February 1997, he served as Chief Executive Officer of
Waste Management International, plc where his responsibility was to streamline operating activities. Prior to working
for Waste Management, Mr. Holsten was a staff auditor at a public accounting firm. Mr. Holsten also has served since
May 2009 as a member of the Board of Directors of Covanta Holding Corporation, a company in the
energy-from-waste solutions and insurance products business. Mr. Holsten holds an Advanced Professional Director
Certification from the American College of Corporate Directors.
The specific experience, qualifications, attributes or skills that led to the conclusion that Mr. Holsten should serve as a
director of LKQ include primarily his unparalleled knowledge of our business and our industry. Mr. Holsten has been
with us almost since our inception and from that time has become intimately familiar with all aspects of our business,
including in particular operational and financial matters. His knowledge and experience provide a critical component
for the proper functioning of our Board. Mr. Holsten also brings to our Board his significant operational experience
from his key positions at Waste Management. He also brings financial accounting skills to our Board through his
qualification as a certified public accountant, his attainment of an MBA in finance and accounting, and his prior work
at a public accounting firm.
Blythe J. McGarvie. Ms. McGarvie most recently was a member of the faculty of Harvard Business School teaching
in the accounting and management unit from July 2012 until June 2014. Prior to joining the Harvard Business School
faculty, Ms. McGarvie served for ten years as Chief Executive Officer and Founder of Leadership for International
Finance, a global consulting firm specializing in leadership seminars for corporate and academic groups. During this
period, she co-founded and served as Senior Fellow for Northwestern University’s Kellogg Innovation Network and
was a visiting leader at the Shanghai-based China Europe International Business School. Prior to 2003, Ms. McGarvie
was Chief Financial Officer for BIC Group, a publicly-traded consumer goods company with operations in 36
countries, based in Paris, France. Prior to moving to Paris, Ms. McGarvie was Chief Financial Officer for Hannaford
Bros. Co, a Fortune 500 retailing company, between 1994 and 1999. She serves on the board of directors of Viacom
Inc., a global entertainment content company, and currently is the chairperson of the Viacom audit committee.
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Ms. McGarvie is also a member of the board of directors of Accenture plc, a global management consulting,
technology services and outsourcing company, and a member of the board of directors of Sonoco Products Company,
a manufacturer of industrial and consumer packaging products. She was a member of the board of directors of The
Travelers Company, Inc. from 2003 through May 2011, and a member of the board of directors of The Pepsi Bottling
Group, Inc. from March 2002 through February 2010. Ms. McGarvie is a Certified Public Accountant and earned an
MBA from Northwestern University’s J.L. Kellogg Graduate School of Management. Ms. McGarvie holds an
Executive Masters Professional Director Certification from the American College of Corporate Directors.
The specific experience, qualifications, attributes or skills that led to the conclusion that Ms. McGarvie should serve
as a director of LKQ include her significant experience in the fields of finance and accounting and her international
experience. In addition, she has served on publicly-traded companies as a board member since 2001 and has
considerable experience with corporate governance matters. Ms. McGarvie’s MBA with a concentration in accounting
and marketing, her status as a Certified Public Accountant and her business experience as a Chief Financial Officer
qualify her as an audit committee financial expert.

5

Edgar Filing: LKQ CORP - Form DEF 14A

18



Table of Contents

Paul M. Meister. Mr. Meister is President of MacAndrews & Forbes Holdings Inc., a holding company with interests
in a diversified portfolio of public and private companies. He is also Co-Founder of Liberty Lane Partners, LLC, a
private investment company with investments in healthcare, technology, and distribution-related industries, and
Perspecta Trust, a trust company that provides trust and investment services. Mr. Meister previously served as
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of InVentiv Health, a leading provider of commercial, consulting and clinical
research services to the pharmaceutical and biotech industries. He formerly was Chairman of the Board of Thermo
Fisher Scientific Inc., a provider of products and services to businesses and institutions in the field of science, which
was formed by the merger of Fisher Scientific International Inc. and Thermo Electron Corporation in November 2006.
Mr. Meister was Vice Chairman of Fisher Scientific International Inc. from 2001 to 2006, and served as its chief
financial officer from 1991 to 2001. Fisher Scientific International provided products and services to research,
healthcare, industrial, educational and government markets. Mr. Meister is a member of the Board of Directors of
Scientific Games Corporation, which provides customized, end-to-end solutions to the gaming industry, Quanterix
Corporation, a developer of ground-breaking tools in high definition diagnostics, and inVentiv Health. Mr. Meister is
Co-Chair of the University of Michigan’s Life Sciences Institute External Advisory Board and serves on the Executive
Advisory Board of the Chemistry of Life Processes Institute at Northwestern University.
The specific experience, qualifications, attributes or skills that led to the conclusion that Mr. Meister should serve as a
director of LKQ include his executive positions with an S&P 500 company, including Chairman of the Board and
Chief Financial Officer, and his MBA in Finance and Accounting. Mr. Meister provides sound judgment and
discernment to our Board from the experience gained in his key roles with Fisher Scientific International and Thermo
Fisher Scientific. His ten years as a Chief Financial Officer and his MBA in Finance and Accounting qualify him as an
audit committee financial expert.
John F. O’Brien. Mr. O’Brien retired in 2002 as the Chief Executive Officer of Allmerica Financial Corporation, a
public insurance company. In addition to serving on our Board of Directors, he is a director and non-executive
chairman of Cabot Corporation, a global specialty chemicals corporation; the Lead Director of The TJX Companies,
Inc., an off-price retailer of apparel and home fashions; and a director of a family of registered investment companies
managed by BlackRock, an investment management advisory firm. From August 1989 to November 2002,
Mr. O’Brien was President and Chief Executive Officer of Allmerica Financial Corporation. From 1968 to 1989,
Mr. O’Brien held several positions at Fidelity Investments, including Group Managing Director of FMR Corporation
(from 1986 to 1989), Chairman of Institutional Services Company (from 1986 to 1989) and Chairman of Brokerage
Services, Inc. (from 1984 to 1989). Mr. O’Brien holds a Masters Professional Director Certification from the American
College of Corporate Directors.
The specific experience, qualifications, attributes, and skills that led to the conclusion that Mr. O’Brien should serve as
a director of LKQ include his tenure as the President and CEO of a Fortune 500 insurance company and over 35 years
of experience in the insurance and investment management industries. His insurance and financial experience provide
him with skills and knowledge that he is able to contribute to our Board’s oversight with regard to LKQ’s relationship
with the insurance industry. Moreover, he is able to provide oversight with regard to budgeting, financial planning,
and the appropriate financial strength and capital structure of the Company. Mr. O’Brien’s continuing education
regarding corporate governance matters in part led to his election as the chairman of our Governance/Nominating
Committee.
Guhan Subramanian. Mr. Subramanian was elected to our board in January 2013. He is currently the Joseph Flom
Professor of Law and Business at the Harvard Law School and the H. Douglas Weaver Professor of Business Law at
the Harvard Business School. He is the first person in the history of Harvard University to hold tenured appointments
at both the Harvard Law School and the Harvard Business School. At the Harvard Law School he teaches courses in
negotiations and corporate law. At the Harvard Business School he teaches in several executive education programs
including Strategic Negotiations, Changing the Game, and Making Corporate Boards More Effective. He is the faculty
chair for the JD/MBA program at Harvard University and the vice chair for research at the Harvard program on
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negotiation. Prior to joining the Harvard faculty in September 1999, Mr. Subramanian spent three years at
McKinsey & Company as a consultant in their New York, Boston, and Washington, D.C. offices. He also holds a
Masters Professional Director Certification from the American College of Corporate Directors.
The specific experience, qualifications, attributes or skills that led to the conclusion that Mr. Subramanian should
serve as a director of LKQ include his extensive knowledge of corporate law, corporate governance and business
negotiations. His positions at Harvard Law School and Harvard Business School provide Mr. Subramanian with
continuous exposure and insight into the key issues and developments affecting boards of directors and the businesses
they oversee. In addition, his role as an instructor in executive education programs allows Mr. Subramanian to
exchange ideas and gain knowledge from numerous prominent business leaders.
Robert L. Wagman. Mr. Wagman became our President and Chief Executive Officer on January 1, 2012. He was
elected to our Board of Directors in November 2011. Mr. Wagman was our President and Co-Chief Executive Officer
from January 1, 2011 to January 1, 2012. Prior thereto, he had been our Senior Vice President of Operations --
Wholesale Parts Division, with oversight of our wholesale late model operations, since August 2009. Prior thereto,
from October 1998, Mr. Wagman managed our insurance company relationships, and from February 2004, added to
his responsibilities the oversight of our aftermarket
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product operations. He was elected our Vice President of Insurance Services and Aftermarket Operations in August
2005. Before joining us, Mr. Wagman served from April 1995 to October 1998 as the Outside Sales Manager of
Triplett Auto Parts, Inc., a recycled auto parts company that we acquired in July 1998. He started in our industry in
1987 as an Account Executive for Copart Auto Auctions, a processor and seller of salvage vehicles through auctions.
The specific experience, qualifications, attributes or skills that led to the conclusion that Mr. Wagman should serve as
a director of LKQ include his extensive experience and knowledge regarding the operations of our company and the
industry in which we operate. He has been with our company for close to 17 years and has been involved in our
industry for almost 28 years. This experience and knowledge makes Mr. Wagman a key contributor to the
deliberations of the Board of Directors. In addition, Mr. Wagman is the primary management liaison to the Board of
Directors in his position as our Chief Executive Officer.
William M. Webster, IV. Mr. Webster was the co-founder and Chairman of the Board of Directors of Advance
America, Cash Advance Centers, Inc., the largest payday advance lender in the United States. He served as the
Chairman of the Board of Advance America from January 2009 to April 2012 when Advance America was sold to
Group Electra. Prior to founding Advance America in 1997, Mr. Webster was part of the Bush-Clinton transition team
and subsequently served the Clinton Administration in various capacities, including Chief of Staff to the Secretary of
Education, Richard W. Riley, and as Assistant to the President and Director of Scheduling and Advance in the White
House. Mr. Webster is a director and chairman of the Audit Committee of Golub Capital BDC, Inc., an investment
company focusing on the middle market. Mr. Webster is the past President and a Founding Board Member of the
Community Financial Services Association (CFSA), the national trade association for payday advance lenders.
Mr. Webster is also a director of Greenville Health System, the largest employer in South Carolina. Mr. Webster holds
an Executive Masters Professional Director Certification from the American College of Corporate Directors.
The specific experience, qualifications, attributes or skills that led to the conclusion that Mr. Webster should serve as a
director of LKQ include his experience as Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of Advance America,
Cash Advance Centers, Inc. and his past service as a member of the Board of Advisors of Golub Capital, an affiliate
of Golub Capital BDC, LLC and a leading provider of financing solutions for the middle market. These roles give
Mr. Webster a unique perspective with respect to financing matters involving LKQ. Mr. Webster also graduated from
the University of Virginia Law School, and he brings to our Board of Directors analytical skills developed through his
legal education.
We recommend that you vote “FOR” the election
of each of the nominees for director.
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Nominating Process
The Governance/Nominating Committee will consider recommendations for nominees for directorships submitted by
stockholders and will apply the same evaluation to such recommendations submitted by stockholders as to
recommendations submitted by any other person or entity. The Governance/Nominating Committee operates under a
written charter, which is available on our corporate website at www.lkqcorp.com. The charter includes a statement of
the competencies and personal attributes of nominees to the Board of Directors to be used as a guideline in connection
with their evaluation.
Some of the competencies and personal attributes that the Governance/Nominating Committee considers include a
nominee’s experience, general judgment and knowledge, grasp of the Company’s business, understanding of the
function of the Board to represent stockholders’ interests, willingness to devote adequate time to board duties, ability to
effectively communicate, and demonstration of vision and leadership. In identifying nominees for director, the
Governance/Nominating Committee seeks persons with diverse and complementary (as opposed to overlapping)
competencies and attributes. The Governance/Nominating Committee does not favor or disfavor any particular
nominee on the basis of race, religion, gender, age or national origin.
Stockholders who wish the Governance/Nominating Committee to consider their recommendations for nominees for
the position of director should submit their recommendations in writing to the Governance/Nominating Committee in
care of the Corporate Secretary of the Company at the Company’s principal executive offices, as described in the
section below entitled “Other Information -- Submitting Your Proposals for the 2016 Annual Meeting.”
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Corporate Governance Guidelines
Our Corporate Governance Guidelines establish our corporate governance principles and practices on a variety of
topics, including:
•Board composition, independence and membership criteria
•Length of board service and the review process upon a change in status of a director
•Board meeting procedures
•Board committees, committee membership selection, and committee functions

•Director rights and responsibilities, including access to information, the retention of independent experts, orientationand education programs, an annual evaluation of its governance practices, and risk oversight
Performance Evaluation
Currently, each year the Chairman of the Board interviews each director to obtain his or her assessment of the
effectiveness of the Board and its committees, director performance and board dynamics. The results of such
interviews are summarized and presented to the Board of Directors for discussion. We anticipate that the interviews
may, in the future, be conducted by our General Counsel or an independent, third-party governance expert.
Board Leadership Structure
We have different persons in the roles of Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Holsten has been
our Chairman of the Board since November 2011. Mr. Wagman has been our Chief Executive Officer since January
2012. We believe that this leadership structure is appropriate for our Company because our Chairman of the Board
and our Chief Executive Officer complement each other in their common objective of promoting the best interests of
our stockholders. Mr. Holsten led our Company as its top executive from November 1998 through December 2011 (as
the Co-Chief Executive Officer during the 2011 calendar year), after which he retired from his officer position. He had
assumed the Chairman of the Board position shortly after the death of Donald Flynn, the former Chairman.
Mr. Holsten brings to the Chairman of the Board position a great deal of experience operating companies and also has
a strong financial accounting background. Mr. Wagman has worked in our industry for almost 28 years and adds his
extensive knowledge of the operations side of our business. Messrs. Holsten and Wagman are able to apply their
different yet complementary strengths to give the Board of Directors a unique perspective with respect to the key
business issues that arise and help the Board to make well-informed decisions regarding such issues.
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executive sessions of our independent directors and focuses particular attention on our corporate governance matters.
We believe that in

8

Edgar Filing: LKQ CORP - Form DEF 14A

23



Table of Contents

fulfilling this role Mr. Allen complements the strengths of our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer described above
and strengthens our Board’s leadership.
Role of Board of Directors in Our Risk Management Process
We have well developed processes in place to manage our key strategic, operational, financial, and compliance risks.
Our entire Board of Directors is responsible for monitoring and evaluating the risks we face and our risk management
processes. We implement our risk management processes through the periodic disclosure to the Board of such risks by
each of our Chairman of the Board and our Chief Executive Officer and other appropriate executives (including our
Chief Financial Officer and our General Counsel) with respect to such matters as acquisitions, capital raising
transactions, financial accounting matters and legal issues. In addition, our annual strategic planning and budgeting
process includes identification of risks and a sensitivity analysis, which is reviewed with our Board. Our Internal
Audit department develops a risk-based audit plan annually that is reviewed with our Audit Committee, along with the
results of internal audit reviews and activities. We believe that the Board’s oversight of risks is enhanced by our
leadership structure because the Board often receives more than one point of view regarding the risks, thereby leading
to a more thorough analysis of the matter.
Director Independence
The Board, following consideration of all relevant facts and circumstances and upon recommendation of the
Governance/ Nominating Committee, has affirmatively determined that each nominee for election as a director
(except Messrs. Ahluwahlia, Holsten and Wagman) is independent in that each such person has no material
relationship with the Company, our management or our independent registered public accounting firm, and otherwise
meets the independence and other requirements of the listing standards of Nasdaq, the rules and regulations of the
SEC and applicable law. In determining the independence of the directors, the Board considered, among other things,
the following transactions: the Company pays for directors to attend education programs, including programs
sponsored by the Corporate Directors Group, with which Mr. Allen is affiliated; and one of our subsidiaries purchases
inventory from a company with which Mr. Meister was affiliated (his affiliation ended as of December 31, 2014). All
of the transactions were entered into in the ordinary course of business and involved the purchase or provision of
goods or services on a non-exclusive basis and at arm’s-length negotiated rates. Our board has determined that these
transactions were not material relationships under the Nasdaq rules and do not otherwise impair the independence of
our directors. The Board determined that Mr. Ahluwahlia is not independent due to his status as Chairman of our
United Kingdom operations and his receipt of payments from us in connection with acquisitions we made of
companies with which he was affiliated, that Mr. Holsten is not independent due to his status as an executive officer
of the Company through December 31, 2011 and his ongoing consulting arrangement, and that Mr. Wagman is not
independent due to his status as a current executive officer of the Company.
Director Attendance
The Board held seven meetings (four regular and three special) during fiscal 2014. Each incumbent director attended
at least 75% of the aggregate total number of meetings held by the Board and all committees on which such director
served that were held during the period during which such director served as a director. At each of its regular
meetings, the independent members of the Board typically hold executive sessions without management present. Four
executive sessions were held in 2014.
We encourage all of our directors to attend our annual meeting of stockholders, and we customarily schedule a regular
Board meeting on the same day as our annual meeting. All persons who were directors at the time attended our annual
meeting of stockholders in 2014.
Director Stock Ownership Guidelines
The Board has established stock ownership guidelines to provide that each non-employee director is expected to hold
a minimum of 20,000 shares (pledged shares do not count toward this minimum) and to provide that such ownership
amount would be obtained within five years after first becoming subject to the guidelines. Each of our non-employee
directors is currently in compliance with the stock ownership requirements. The two non-employee directors that own
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less than 20,000 shares have not been subject to the guidelines for five years. The complete guidelines can be found
on our website at www.lkqcorp.com (click the “Governance” link under “Investor Relations”).
Hedging/Pledging
The Company’s policies prohibit directors from engaging in hedging transactions involving our common stock. In
addition, share that are pledged do not count toward the stock ownership requirements of our directors.
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Committees of the Board
Our Board has four standing committees. They are the Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee, the
Governance/Nominating Committee and the Government Affairs Committee. The Board reviews and determines the
membership of the committees at least annually, with input from the Governance/Nominating Committee. The
following table sets forth the current membership of the committees.

Name Audit
Committee

Compensation
Committee

Governance/
Nominating
Committee

Government
Affairs
Committee

Sukhpal Singh Ahluwalia — — — Member
A. Clinton Allen Member — Member —
Ronald G. Foster — Member — Member
Joseph M. Holsten — — — Member
Blythe J. McGarvie Chairperson — Member —
Paul M. Meister Member Chairperson — —
John F. O'Brien — Member Chairperson —
Guhan Subramanian Member — Member —
William M. Webster IV — Member — Chairperson
The functions and membership of each committee are described below.
Audit Committee.    The Audit Committee’s functions include selecting our independent registered public accounting
firm and recommending that firm for ratification by stockholders; reviewing the arrangements for, and scope of, the
independent registered public accounting firm’s examination of our financial statements; reviewing the activities of our
internal audit department; meeting with the independent registered public accounting firm and certain of our officers
to review the adequacy and appropriateness of our system of internal control and reporting, our critical accounting
policies, and our public financial disclosures; reviewing compliance with our codes of ethics; and performing any
other duties or functions deemed appropriate by the Board of Directors.
All of the Audit Committee members satisfy the independence, financial literacy, and expertise requirements of the
rules of Nasdaq. Our Board of Directors has determined that each of Ms. McGarvie, Mr. Allen and Mr. Meister
satisfies the requirements to be designated an “audit committee financial expert” under the rules and regulations of the
SEC. The Audit Committee operates pursuant to a charter, which is available on our corporate website at
www.lkqcorp.com. The Audit Committee met nine times during 2014.
Compensation Committee.    The Compensation Committee is responsible for establishing and making
recommendations to the Board of Directors regarding compensation to be paid to our executive officers and is
responsible for the administration and interpretation of, and the granting of awards under, our incentive compensation
plans. All of the Compensation Committee members are independent as defined in Nasdaq’s listing standards. The
Compensation Committee operates pursuant to a charter, which is available on our corporate website at
www.lkqcorp.com. The Compensation Committee met five times during 2014.
The compensation of our executive officers is determined through a process involving our Chairman of the Board, our
Chief Executive Officer and our Compensation Committee. Our Chairman of the Board typically determines the
proposed compensation of our Chief Executive Officer. Our Chief Executive Officer typically determines the
proposed compensation of the remaining executive officers. The Compensation Committee holds a meeting near the
beginning of each calendar year to consider the proposed compensation amounts for that year and to make final
determinations. The executive officers are not present during the deliberations and final decisions by the
Compensation Committee concerning executive compensation (except for the General Counsel who serves as the
corporate secretary of the meeting).
Governance/Nominating Committee.    The Governance/Nominating Committee is responsible for developing policies
and processes designed to provide for effective and efficient governance by the Board of Directors and for identifying
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qualified individuals and nominating such individuals for membership on the Board of Directors and its committees.
All of the members of the Governance/Nominating Committee are independent as defined in Nasdaq’s listing
standards. The Governance/Nominating Committee operates pursuant to a charter, which is available on our corporate
website at www.lkqcorp.com. The Governance/Nominating Committee met four times during 2014.
Government Affairs Committee.    The responsibilities of the Government Affairs Committee are to monitor our
compliance with regulatory requirements, to oversee any significant legislative or regulatory issues affecting us, and
to provide guidance with respect to our initiatives involving federal and state governments. The Government Affairs
Committee oversees
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any lobbying activity engaged in by LKQ. The Government Affairs Committee operates pursuant to a charter, which
is available on our corporate website at www.lkqcorp.com. The Government Affairs Committee met four times in
2014.
Stockholder Communications with the Board of Directors
Stockholders desiring to contact the Board of Directors or any committee of the Board should address the
communication to LKQ Corporation, 500 West Madison Street, Suite 2800, Chicago, Illinois 60661, Attention:
Corporate Secretary, with a request to forward the communication to the intended recipient. All such communications
will be forwarded unopened.
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation
The Compensation Committee is currently composed of Messrs. Foster, Meister, O’Brien and Webster. It determines
the compensation of our executive officers. None of Messrs. Foster, Meister, O’Brien or Webster is or was an officer
or employee of the Company nor are any of our directors officers of any other entity for which one of our executive
officers served as a director or makes compensation decisions.
DIRECTOR COMPENSATION
Director Fees
Compensation of each non-employee director includes (a) quarterly cash compensation of $25,000, and (b) an annual
grant of restricted stock units (“RSUs”) with a value on the grant date of approximately $100,000. The equity grant vests
one year after the date of issuance. Director compensation is determined by the Board of Directors. The Board
periodically reviews the components and amounts of director compensation to determine if any adjustments are
appropriate. In the past, the Board has retained, and may retain in the future, a compensation consultant to assist in the
analysis of director compensation. No changes to director compensation have been made since March 2012.
Non-employee directors also received the following quarterly cash payments for serving on committees of the board:
$6,250 and $3,750 by each of the chairman and the other members of the Audit Committee, respectively; $3,750 and
$2,500 by each of the chairman and the other members of the Compensation Committee, respectively; $3,000 and
$2,000 by each of the chairman and the other members of the Governance/Nominating Committee, respectively; and
$3,000 and $2,000 by each of the chairman and the other members of the Government Affairs Committee,
respectively. In addition, the Chairman of the Board received a quarterly compensation amount of $12,500, and our
Lead Independent Director received a quarterly compensation amount of $6,250. Neither Mr. Holsten nor Mr.
Ahluwalia receives compensation for serving on the Government Affairs Committee.
Each director has the option, by making an election by December 31 of each year, to receive the cash portion of
director compensation for the following calendar year in shares of our common stock instead of cash. None of our
directors elected to receive his or her cash compensation for 2014 in shares of our common stock. Directors are also
reimbursed for their out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with serving on our Board.
Indemnification
Each member of our Board of Directors is a party to an indemnification agreement with us that assures the director of
indemnification and advancement of expenses to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law and our Certificate of
Incorporation.
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Director Compensation Table
The following table provides compensation information for the one year period ended December 31, 2014 for each of
our non-employee directors that served during 2014.

Name

Fees
Earned
or Paid in
Cash

Stock
Awards
(1)(2)

Option
Awards

Non-Equity
Incentive
Plan
Compensation

Change in
Pension
Value and
Nonqualified
Deferred
Compensation
Earnings

All Other
Compensation Total

A. Clinton Allen $148,000 $100,017 — — — — $248,017
Ronald G. Foster $118,000 $100,017 — — — — $218,017
Joseph M. Holsten (3) $150,000 $250,032 — $166,146 — $ 290,000 $856,178
Blythe J. McGarvie $133,000 $100,017 — — — — $233,017
Paul M. Meister $130,000 $100,017 — — — — $230,017
John F. O'Brien $122,000 $100,017 — — — — $222,017
Guhan Subramanian $123,000 $100,017 — — — — $223,017
William M. Webster
IV $122,000 $100,017 — — — — $222,017

(1)

The amounts represent the aggregate grant date fair value calculated in accordance with Financial Accounting
Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification 718, “Compensation-Stock Compensation” (“FASB ASC Topic
718”). See Note 3 of the consolidated financial statements in our 2014 Annual Report regarding assumptions
underlying the valuation of equity awards. Our Equity Incentive Plan is discussed beginning on page 20.

(2)

As of December 31, 2014, the non-employee directors held the following outstanding equity awards: Mr. Allen,
140,000 stock options and 3,437 RSUs; Mr. Foster, 3,437 RSUs; Mr. Holsten, 64,000 stock options and 81,435
RSUs; Ms. McGarvie, 3,437 RSUs; Mr. Meister, 220,000 stock options and 3,437 RSUs; Mr. O’Brien, 3,437
RSUs; Mr. Subramanian, 3,437 RSUs; and Mr. Webster, 60,000 stock options and 3,437 RSUs.

(3)

We have a consulting agreement with Mr. Holsten pursuant to which he provides consulting services to us for a
five year term, which commenced on January 1, 2012 when he ceased to be employed by us. The agreement may
be terminated early by Mr. Holsten for any reason or by us for cause. We have agreed to pay Mr. Holsten
$290,000 annually during the term for his consulting services. Under the terms of the consulting agreement,
Mr. Holsten also continues to receive payments under our Long Term Incentive Plan for the performance period
that ended on December 31, 2011 (during which he served as our Chief Executive Officer). The Non-Equity
Incentive Plan Compensation above is equal to the amount recorded by us to the income statement for accounting
purposes in 2014 related to the Long Term Incentive Plan. Also in 2014, Mr. Holsten received RSUs with a grant
date fair value equal to $100,017 related to his service as a director, as well as RSUs with a grant date fair value
equal to $150,015 related to his service as Chairman of the Board.
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PROPOSAL NO. 2
RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF OUR INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Audit Committee of our Board of Directors is responsible for appointing our independent registered public
accounting firm, and for recommending such appointment for stockholder ratification. The Audit Committee has
selected the accounting firm of Deloitte & Touche LLP to serve as our independent registered public accounting firm
for 2015. Deloitte & Touche has served as our independent registered public accounting firm since 1998 and also has
provided non-audit services from time to time.
Although ratification is not required by our bylaws or otherwise, our Board of Directors is submitting the selection of
Deloitte & Touche to our stockholders for ratification because we value our stockholders’ views on our independent
registered public accounting firm and as a matter of good corporate practice. The Audit Committee will consider the
outcome of this vote in its decision to appoint an independent registered public accounting firm but is not bound by
our stockholders’ vote. Even if the selection of Deloitte & Touche is ratified, the Audit Committee may change the
appointment at any time during the year if it determines a change would be in the best interests of the Company and
our stockholders.
Audit Fees and Non-Audit Fees
The following table summarizes the fees and expenses of Deloitte & Touche LLP, the member firms of Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu, and their respective affiliates for audit and other services for the periods indicated.

2013 2014
Audit Fees $2,587,851 $3,497,050
Audit-Related Fees 69,400 198,889
Tax Fees 307,384 785,396
All Other Fees — —
Total Audit and Non-Audit Fees $2,964,635 $4,481,335
For 2013, audit services consisted of the audit of our annual consolidated financial statements, the review of our
quarterly consolidated financial statements, the audit of internal controls over financial reporting as required by the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, providing a comfort letter on an offering memorandum, providing a consent to
incorporate Deloitte & Touche LLP’s report into our registration statement on Form S-4, and foreign statutory audits.
Audit-related services consisted of assistance with acquisitions due diligence. Tax services included foreign tax
compliance, research and planning. Tax compliance fees totaled $200,799 in 2013.
For 2014, audit services consisted of the audit of our annual consolidated financial statements, the review of our
quarterly consolidated financial statements, the audit of internal controls over financial reporting as required by the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, providing a consent to incorporate Deloitte & Touche LLP’s report into our registration
statement on Form S-4, and foreign statutory audits. Audit-related services consisted of assistance with acquisitions
due diligence. Tax services included foreign tax compliance, research and planning. Tax compliance fees totaled
$354,236 in 2014.
Policy on Audit Committee Approval of Audit and Non-Audit Services
The Audit Committee’s policy is to approve all audit and permissible non-audit services prior to the engagement of our
independent registered public accounting firm to provide such services. The Audit Committee approves, at the
beginning of each year, pursuant to detailed approval procedures, certain specific categories of permissible non-audit
services. Such procedures include the review of (i) a detailed description by our independent registered public
accounting firm of the particular services to be provided and the estimated fees for such services and (ii) a report to
the committee on at least a quarterly basis regarding the services provided and the fees paid for such services. The
Audit Committee must approve on a project-by-project basis any permissible non-audit services that do not fall within
a pre-approved category and any fees for pre-approved permissible non-audit services that materially exceed the
previously approved amounts. In making the determinations about non-audit services, the Audit Committee considers
whether the provision of non-audit services is compatible with maintaining the auditor’s independence.
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Representatives of Deloitte & Touche LLP will be available at the 2015 Annual Meeting to respond to your questions.
They have advised us that they do not presently intend to make a statement at the 2015 Annual Meeting, although they
will have the opportunity to do so.
We recommend that you vote “FOR” ratification of the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP
as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2015.
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Report of the Audit Committee
The Audit Committee assists the Board of Directors in fulfilling its responsibility to oversee management’s
implementation of LKQ’s financial reporting process. In discharging its oversight role, the Audit Committee reviewed
and discussed with management and Deloitte & Touche LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, our
audited financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2014. Management is responsible for those
financial statements and the reporting process, including the system of internal control. The independent registered
public accounting firm is responsible for expressing an opinion on the conformity of those financial statements with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
The Audit Committee has discussed with Deloitte & Touche LLP the matters required to be discussed by PCAOB
Auditing Standard No. 16, as amended. The Audit Committee has also received from Deloitte & Touche LLP the
written disclosures and the letter required by applicable requirements of the PCAOB regarding Deloitte & Touche
LLP’s communications with the Audit Committee concerning independence and has discussed the accounting firm's
independence with Deloitte & Touche LLP. The Audit Committee also considered whether the provision of non-audit
services by Deloitte & Touche LLP was compatible with maintaining Deloitte & Touche LLP’s independence.
Based upon the foregoing review and discussions, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board of Directors that
the audited financial statements referred to above be filed with LKQ’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2014.
In compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Board of Directors has established procedures for the
confidential reporting of employee concerns with regard to accounting controls and auditing matters. All members of
the Audit Committee meet the independence standards established by Nasdaq.
Audit Committee (as of March 11, 2015):
Blythe J. McGarvie (Chair)
A. Clinton Allen
Paul M. Meister
Guhan Subramanian
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PROPOSAL NO. 3
ADVISORY VOTE ON EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The guiding principles of our compensation policies and decisions include aligning each executive’s compensation
with our business strategy and the interests of our stockholders and providing incentives needed to attract, motivate
and retain key executives who are important to our long-term success. Consistent with this philosophy, a significant
portion of the total incentive compensation for each of our executives is directly related to our earnings and to other
performance factors that measure our progress against the goals of our strategic and operating plans.
Stockholders are urged to read the “Executive Compensation -- Compensation Discussion and Analysis” and “Executive
Compensation -- Compensation Tables” sections of this Proxy Statement, which discuss how our compensation design
and practices reflect our compensation philosophy. The Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors believe
that our compensation design and practices are effective in implementing our guiding principles.
We are required to submit a proposal to stockholders for a (non-binding) advisory vote to approve the compensation
of our named executive officers pursuant to Section 14A of the Exchange Act. This proposal, commonly known as a
“say-on-pay” proposal, gives our stockholders the opportunity to express their views on the compensation of our named
executive officers. This vote is not intended to address any specific item of compensation, but rather the overall
compensation of our named executive officers and the principles, policies and practices described in this Proxy
Statement. Accordingly, the following resolution is submitted for stockholder vote at the 2015 Annual Meeting:
“RESOLVED, that the stockholders of LKQ Corporation approve, on an advisory basis, the compensation of its named
executive officers as disclosed in the Proxy Statement for the 2015 Annual Meeting, including the Summary
Compensation Table and the Compensation Discussion and Analysis set forth in such Proxy Statement and other
related tables and disclosures.”
As this is an advisory vote, the result will not be binding on us, the Board of Directors or the Compensation
Committee, although our Compensation Committee will consider, among other things, the outcome of the vote when
evaluating our compensation principles, design and practices. Proxies submitted without direction pursuant to this
solicitation will be voted “FOR” the approval of the compensation of our named executive officers, as disclosed in this
Proxy Statement.
We recommend that you vote “FOR” the approval, on an advisory basis, of the compensation of our named
executive officers, as disclosed in this Proxy Statement.
OTHER PROPOSALS
We know of no matters to be brought before the 2015 Annual Meeting other than those described above. If any other
business should properly come before the meeting, we expect that the persons named in the enclosed proxy will vote
your shares in accordance with their best judgment on that matter.
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION—COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
This section describes the Company’s compensation programs for our executive officers that were in effect for 2014
and the decisions made with respect to these programs. Our goal is to explain the details of our compensation
programs as well as to describe why we believe these programs are appropriate for our Company and our
stockholders. This section contains compensation information for our principal executive officer, our principal
financial officer, and our three other most highly compensated executive officers who were serving as executive
officers as of December 31, 2014 (collectively referred to as our “named executive officers”).
Executive Summary
We are requesting a non-binding vote on our executive compensation and would like to assist our stockholders in
understanding the proposal. We believe that the compensation paid to our executive officers is aligned with our
corporate performance and the total return received by our stockholders. We are asking stockholders to consider the
following key features of our compensation programs when making their voting decisions.
Elements of Executive Compensation. Our executive compensation is composed primarily of the following:
TYPE METRIC INCENTIVE-BASED
Base Salary Fixed Periodic Payments No
Annual Bonus Awards Earnings Per Share Yes

Long Term Incentive Awards Earnings Per Share, Total Revenue
and Return on Equity Yes

Equity Incentive Grants Stock Price and Earnings Per Share Yes
Incentive-Based Compensation.    A significant portion of our executive compensation is in the form of
incentive-based compensation. We consider our annual bonus awards, long-term incentive awards and equity
incentive grants incentive-based compensation because their value depends in whole or in part on the financial
performance of the Company. The following charts set forth the percentage of our Chief Executive Officer's and the
other named executive officers' 2014 compensation that was incentive-based. 15%

Stock Ownership Requirements.    Each of our named executive officers is subject to stock ownership requirements
set forth below. These requirements are to be satisfied within five years of an individual becoming subject to the
requirements. Each of our named executive officers is currently in compliance with the stock ownership requirements.
The complete guidelines can be found on our website at www.lkqcorp.com (click the “Governance” link under “Investor
Relations”).
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POSITION MINIMUM NUMBER OF
SHARES *

VALUE OF MINIMUM
REQUIRED HOLDINGS**

Chief Executive Officer 112,000 $2,704,800
Chief Financial Officer 52,000 $1,255,800
Other Named Executive Officers 46,000 $1,110,900

*

For purposes of our stock ownership requirements, we include the number of shares actually owned by the named
executive officer in his or her own name or in the name of an estate planning entity of which the named executive
officer is the sole beneficiary. We also include restricted stock units. We exclude any pledged shares and shares
of stock that the named executive officer has a right to acquire through the exercise of stock options.

** Based on closing price per share of LKQ Corporation common stock on March 11, 2015 of $24.15.
At-Will Employment.    We adopted a written severance policy in July 2014 and have agreements with each of our
named executive officers that provide for a severance payment and other benefits upon a termination of the executive
in connection with a change of control of the Company. The severance policy and these agreements are described in
more detail under “Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control.” Other than the foregoing, none of our
named executive officers has an employment contract, and any of them can be terminated by the Board of Directors at
any time.
Insider Trading.    We have a comprehensive insider trading policy that is applicable to, among others, our named
executive officers. The policy prohibits trading during quarterly “blackout” periods and other periods during which
material information about us has not been publicly disclosed.
Hedging/Pledging.    The Company’s policies prohibit, among others, our named executive officers from engaging in
hedging transactions involving our common stock. In addition, shares that are pledged do not count toward the stock
ownership requirements of our named executive officers.
Forfeiture of Equity Awards for Restrictive Covenant Violations. Our equity awards generally provide that our
executive officers will forfeit to the Company their equity awards, the shares received upon vesting of the equity
awards, or the proceeds from the sale of shares received upon vesting of such equity awards if the executive officer
violates the restrictive covenants in the award agreements relating to the equity awards.  The restrictive covenants
prohibit the executive officer from competing with us, soliciting our customers or employees, and improperly using
our confidential information for a period continuing at least nine months after the executive officer’s affiliation with us
ceases.
No Material Perquisites. Other than matching contributions under our retirement plan and life insurance and disability
insurance premium payments, we do not provide any material perquisites to our named executive officers.
Independent Compensation Committee.    The Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors makes the final
decisions regarding executive compensation and is composed entirely of independent directors.
Independent Compensation Consultant.    Our Compensation Committee periodically engages a compensation
consultant to advise it regarding executive compensation. The compensation consultant provides no other services to
us and has no affiliation with any of our named executive officers.
Executive Compensation Decision-Making
Management provides to the Compensation Committee historical compensation information relating to our executive
officers to aid the deliberations of the Compensation Committee regarding executive officer compensation. The
information typically includes historical and proposed base salaries, bonuses, long term incentive awards,
equity-based awards, and any other material component of compensation or perquisite. The Compensation Committee
takes into account the historical trend of each element of compensation and the total of all of the elements for each
year in connection with its decisions about proposed compensation amounts. In addition, the Compensation
Committee receives recommendations from the Chairman of the Board regarding the compensation of the Chief
Executive Officer and receives recommendations from the Chief Executive Officer regarding the compensation of the
other executive officers.
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The Compensation Committee also considers the limitation imposed by Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code
on our deduction for federal income tax purposes when making decisions about compensation. The Compensation
Committee uses substantially the same compensation policies and considerations with respect to all of our executive
officers.
In August 2013, the Compensation Committee engaged Frederic W. Cook & Co., Inc., a compensation consulting
firm (“F.W. Cook”), to perform a review of our executive officer compensation. The Compensation Committee directed
F.W. Cook to prepare a report analyzing the reasonableness of the compensation of our executive officers and the
appropriateness of our compensation program structure and practices in supporting our business objectives. F.W.
Cook issued its report in December 2013. The report summarized our current executive compensation program,
provided a comparative analysis of our executive
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compensation program with the executive compensation programs of a peer group of companies, and offered
suggestions regarding potential adjustments to our executive compensation program. F.W. Cook compiled a peer
group for purposes of analyzing our executive compensation program. The peer group is composed of the following
companies.
Advance Auto Parts, Inc.
Allison Transmission Holdings, Inc.
American Axle & Manufacturing Holdings, Inc.
Applied Industrial Technologies, Inc.
AutoZone, Inc.
BorgWarner Inc.
Cooper Tire & Rubber Company
Dana Holding Corporation
Fastenal Company
Genuine Parts Company
MSC Industrial Direct Co., Inc.
O’Reilly Automotive, Inc.
Pool Corporation
Republic Services, Inc.
Schnitzer Steel Industries, Inc.
Tenneco Inc.
W.W. Grainger Inc.
Watsco, Inc.
WESCO International, Inc.
The Compensation Committee reviewed the F.W. Cook report and took it into account in connection with the
Compensation Committee’s analysis of 2014 executive officer compensation. However, the Compensation Committee
did not set any specific target with regard to setting the compensation of our executive officers in comparison to the
executive officers of the peer group. Other than services relating to executive officer compensation, F.W. Cook did
not provide any additional services to the Company during 2012, 2013 or 2014.
The Compensation Committee has considered the independence of F.W. Cook and determined that its engagement of
F.W. Cook did not raise any conflicts of interest with LKQ or any of our directors or executive officers. All of F.W.
Cook’s work was on behalf of the Committee.
Advisory Vote on Executive Compensation
Commencing in 2011, we have submitted to our stockholders on an annual basis a proposal for a (non-binding)
advisory vote to approve the compensation of our named executive officers. The table below sets forth the amount of
shares that voted to approve our executive compensation as a percentage of shares that voted on the proposal for each
year from 2012 to 2014. In 2011, our Board of Directors recommended, and our stockholders approved, that the
advisory vote be held every year.
YEAR PERCENTAGE
2012 96.5%
2013 97.1%
2014 99.5%
The Compensation Committee considered, among other things, the outcome of this vote when evaluating our
compensation principles, designs and practices and decided to continue for 2014 our compensation principles, designs
and practices largely unchanged compared to 2013 due in part to the level of stockholder support.
Objectives of Our Compensation Programs
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Our compensation programs are intended to enable us to attract, motivate, reward and retain the management talent
needed to achieve our corporate objectives in a highly competitive industry, and thereby increase stockholder value. It
is our policy to provide incentives to the Company’s senior management to achieve both short-term and long-term
goals. To attain
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these goals, our policy is to provide a significant portion of executive compensation in the form of at-risk,
incentive-based compensation. We believe that such a policy, which directly aligns the financial interests of
management with the financial interests of our stockholders, provides the proper incentives to attract, motivate,
reward and retain high quality management.
The Compensation Committee has maintained this policy since we became a public company in October 2003 and
believes that the policy has been and continues to be appropriate for a growing company like ours. The Compensation
Committee will reevaluate this policy in the event that our growth profile changes over time or in the event that the
Compensation Committee identifies other reasons that warrant a change of policy.
What Our Compensation Programs are Designed to Reward
Our compensation programs are designed to reward the executive officers for the overall performance of our
Company and the individual performance of each executive officer. Specifically, with respect to the overall
performance of our Company, we have historically used the growth of the following metrics to measure performance:
revenue, consolidated earnings per share, and return on equity. With respect to individual performance of an executive
officer, we analyze the growth of the performance metrics that most directly relate to such individual’s area of
responsibility and consider certain subjective factors, including the individual’s interpersonal skills, level of
motivation, and ability to resolve challenges and to overcome obstacles.
Other than for purposes of determining the appropriate value of equity related awards, stock price performance has not
been used as a direct factor in determining executive officer compensation because the price of our common stock is
subject to a variety of factors outside of the control of management. Stock price performance, however, ultimately
affects the value of equity incentive awards held by executive officers, thus aligning their interests with those of other
stockholders.
Elements of Our Compensation Programs, Why We Chose Each Element, and How We Determine the Amount of
Each Element
The elements of our compensation programs are base salaries, annual bonus awards, long term incentive awards, and
equity incentive grants. We believe that this mix of compensation elements best achieves the objectives of our
compensation programs and provides appropriate short-term and long-term motivation to our executive officers.
Base Salaries.    Base salaries provide immediate rewards because they are paid periodically throughout the year. The
following factors are considered in connection with the base salary of each of the executive officers: base salaries of
executive officers in similar positions at comparable companies; the contributions of the executive officers to the
Company’s development and growth; and the executive officer’s experience, responsibilities and position within the
Company. No specific corporate performance measures are considered with respect to base salaries.
Annual Bonus Awards.    We offer annual bonus awards under our Management Incentive Plan (“MIP”) to provide
incentives for superior performance over a one-year time horizon. The MIP was approved by our stockholders in May
2011. Under the MIP, each participant (including our named executive officers) is eligible to receive a cash payment
equal to a percentage of the participant’s base salary. The percentage of base salary ultimately paid is dependent on the
achievement of specified levels of financial performance of the Company during a particular fiscal year. In 2014,
these percentages ranged from 20% to 150% for our executive officers. In 2014, the bonus payment for our executive
officers was based on the Company’s consolidated earnings per share (adjusted for certain specified items). The target
amounts for consolidated earnings per share are determined through our budgeting process that includes growth rates
for the Company as a whole and for each region and unit, all as approved by our Board of Directors. In 2014, the
earnings per share target was a range of $1.26 (at which the threshold bonus would be earned) to $1.36 (at which the
maximum bonus would be earned). Our 2014 earnings per share for purposes of the bonus calculation resulted in
threshold bonus payments to our executive officers.
Long Term Incentive Awards.    We grant performance awards under our Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) to certain
of our key employees (including our named executive officers). The LTIP was approved by our stockholders in 2006
and re-approved by our stockholders in 2011. Long term incentive awards are designed to reward performance over a
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three-year period and to create retention incentives. The Compensation Committee administers the LTIP. Performance
periods begin on January 1 and end on December 31 of the third calendar year thereafter. Performance awards are
equal to the participant’s base salary multiplied by an award percentage. The award percentage is determined by the
growth from the year before the commencement of the performance period (base year) to the final year of the
performance period of three components: our earnings per share, our total revenue, and our return on equity. We
determine for each participant the range of award percentages based on different growth scenarios of the components.
One-half of any performance award achieved for the performance period ended December 31, 2014 was paid
promptly after certification by our Compensation Committee of the actual growth of the target components. A
participant must have been an employee or other key person of the Company at the end of the performance period to
be eligible for the first 50% payment. The other half of the performance award is deferred and will be payable in three
equal installments (plus interest) on each one year anniversary of the end of the performance period over a total of
three years. A participant must be an employee or other
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key person of the Company on each such anniversary date to be eligible for the respective deferred payment, unless
the participant is not an employee or key person as a result of death, total disability or normal retirement at age 65, in
which case the participant (or his or her estate) will be entitled to all of the deferred payments upon such death,
disability or retirement. Interest on the deferred portion of the performance award will accrue at the prime rate and be
payable to the participant at the same time as the deferred installments are paid. Upon a change in control, the LTIP
provides for acceleration of payments as described below under “Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in
Control.”
The performance awards for the three year performance period ended December 31, 2014 range from 70% to 275% of
base salary for our executive officers. The target growth ranges of the three components of these awards for that
performance period were 45% to 60% for earnings per share, 30% to 45% for revenue, and 210 basis points to 300
basis points for return on equity. We weighted each of the three components of these awards as follows: 47.5% for
earnings per share growth; 47.5% for revenue growth; and 5.0% for return on equity growth. Higher percentages were
assigned to earnings per share growth and revenue growth because they were considered relatively more important
measures of the success of our Company. For the three year performance period ended December 31, 2014, we
exceeded the maximum target range for earnings per share and revenue, and did not achieve the minimum target range
for return on equity. The Summary Compensation Table on page 27 sets forth under the column entitled “Non-Equity
Incentive Plan Compensation” the amounts recorded by us to the income statement relating to the LTIP for the years
presented with respect to our named executive officers.
In November 2014, we amended the LTIP (i) to allow the grant of three year performance awards each year (i.e.
overlapping performance periods) instead of the previous practice of granting three year performance awards every
three years (i.e. end-to-end performance periods), (ii) to eliminate the deferred vesting concept (i.e. the full award
would be payable at the end of the applicable performance period instead of 50% of the award being paid in equal
installments over three years following the end of the performance period), (iii) to increase, subject to stockholder
approval, the maximum dollar amount of any one performance award, (iv) to allow a pro rata payment of a
performance award in the event of a participant’s death or disability during the applicable performance period, and (v)
to allow continuation of vesting of a performance award in the event of a qualifying retirement during the applicable
performance period. We granted performance awards to our executive officers for the performance period
commencing January 1, 2015 and ending December 31, 2017 with terms consistent with the amendments.
Equity Incentive Grants.    Equity-based awards provide incentives over multi-year time horizons, with vesting
schedules of up to five years. Generally, equity-based awards are forfeited upon separation of service, providing an
incentive to the employee to remain with the Company. Equity based awards are granted under the Equity Incentive
Plan. The Compensation Committee administers the Equity Incentive Plan. Under the Equity Incentive Plan, the
Compensation Committee may grant qualified and non-qualified stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units,
stock appreciation rights, performance shares and performance units. During the life of the Equity Incentive Plan, not
more than 69,888,834 shares of common stock in the aggregate may be issued under the Equity Incentive Plan. As of
March 11, 2015, a total of 12,800,566 shares of our common stock remained available for issuance under the Equity
Incentive Plan. Shares subject to awards granted under the Equity Incentive Plan that are withheld or returned as
payment for the exercise price or tax withholding amount relating to the award, or with respect to which awards
expire, are forfeited, or are paid in cash, would again be available for grant under the Equity Incentive Plan.
The Compensation Committee has the power to set the terms and conditions to which each award is subject, including
the times at which it vests or becomes exercisable. Notwithstanding the foregoing: (i) the exercise price of a stock
option or SAR may not be less than the fair market value of our common stock on the date the award is granted; and
(ii) the performance period for performance shares and performance units must be a minimum of one year.
Upon a change in control as defined in the plan, awards under the Equity Incentive Plan become immediately
exercisable, restrictions thereon lapse, and maximum payout opportunities are deemed earned, as the case may be, as
of the effective date of the change in control. The Board of Directors may amend or terminate the Equity Incentive
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Plan in whole or in part at any time, subject to applicable laws, rules, or regulations; provided, however, that the
Board may not, without stockholder approval, (i) materially increase the benefits accruing to participants,
(ii) materially increase the number of securities that may be issued under the Equity Incentive Plan, or (iii) materially
modify the requirements for participation in the Equity Incentive Plan. No amendment, modification, or termination of
the Equity Incentive Plan can adversely affect in any material way any award previously granted, without the written
consent of the participant holding such award.
We grant equity awards to named executive officers and other key employees typically upon their commencement of
employment, in some cases upon their promotion, and annually near the beginning of each year. The annual grants are
made on the second Friday of January each year. When making equity awards, we consider factors specific to each
employee such as salary, position and responsibilities. We also consider factors such as the rate of the Company’s
development and growth and an estimate of the value of each award. In addition, we determine the amount of dilution
that we believe would be generally acceptable to our stockholders and correspondingly limit the aggregate number of
awards granted each year. Award grants typically are recommended by management.
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In January 2014, the Compensation Committee approved the issuance of a total of 175,800 RSUs to our executive
officers. The RSUs included both a performance-based vesting condition and a time-based vesting condition. The
performance-based condition is the report by the Company of positive diluted earnings per share, subject to certain
adjustments, during any fiscal year period within five years following the grant date. In addition, these RSUs include a
time-based vesting condition, vesting in equal tranches each six months beginning July 2014 through January 2017. In
all cases, both conditions must be met before any RSUs vest. If the applicable performance-based condition of an
RSU is not met, the RSU is forfeited. The performance-based condition was met in February 2015, and all applicable
RSUs that had previously met the time-based vesting condition vested immediately and the remaining RSUs will vest
according to the remaining schedule of the time-based condition.
The table entitled Grants of Plan-Based Awards for Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2014 on page 29 sets forth
additional information about the grants made in 2014 under the Equity Incentive Plan to our named executive officers.
Compensation of Our Chief Executive Officer
Robert L. Wagman has been our President and Chief Executive Officer since January 1, 2012. The annual
compensation, including base salary, bonus potential, long term incentive award and equity incentive awards, of
Mr. Wagman was determined for 2014 using substantially the same criteria that were used to determine the
compensation of other executive officers. Mr. Wagman’s base salary for 2014 was $800,000. Based on the Company’s
consolidated earnings per share in 2014, Mr. Wagman received a bonus payment in February 2015 of $400,000.
In March 2009, Mr. Wagman received a performance award under our LTIP for the three-year performance period
that ended on December 31, 2011. Based upon the financial performance of the Company during the three-year period
ended December 31, 2011, Mr. Wagman earned a cash award under the plan equal to 2.5 times his base salary as of
December 31, 2011. We paid 50% of the award in March 2012, and we paid the remaining 50% in three equal
installments (plus interest) in late 2012, 2013 and 2014.
In December 2011, Mr. Wagman received a performance award under our LTIP for the performance period beginning
as of January 1, 2012 and ending December 31, 2014. Based upon the financial performance of the Company during
the three-year period ended December 31, 2014, Mr. Wagman earned a cash reward under the Plan equal to 2.61 times
his base salary. We paid 50% of the award in February 2015, and we will pay the remaining 50% in equal installments
(plus interest) in late 2015, 2016, and 2017. Mr. Wagman must be employed by us at the time such payments become
payable to receive them (subject to certain exceptions relating to death, disability or normal retirement).
Mr. Wagman has been awarded RSUs, restricted shares and stock options under the Equity Incentive Plan. In January
2014, he received a grant under the Equity Incentive Plan of 50,500 performance-based RSUs. Of the total RSUs held
by Mr. Wagman, 151,020 vested in 2014 with an aggregate value, based on the market value of LKQ common stock
on the applicable vest dates, of $4,107,996. As of December 31, 2014, Mr. Wagman held options to purchase a total of
202,000 shares, of which 194,000 were exercisable. The value of the options to purchase the 194,000 shares,
measured by the amount that the market value of LKQ common stock on the last trading day in 2014 ($28.12)
exceeded each option’s exercise price, was $3,713,065.
In 2014, Mr. Wagman did not receive any material perquisites, any deferred compensation (other than pursuant to our
retirement plans), or any reimbursements for the payment of taxes. In our view, Mr. Wagman’s total compensation for
2014 properly reflected the Company’s performance and his performance, and was in proper proportion to the
compensation of our other executive officers.
Retirement Plans
We have a 401(k) plan covering substantially all of our employees, including our named executive officers, who have
been employed for at least six months. The 401(k) plan allows participants to defer their eligible compensation in
amounts up to the statutory limit each year. We currently make matching contributions equal to 50% of the portion of
the participant’s contributions that does not exceed 6% of the participant’s eligible compensation. We may, at our sole
discretion, make annual profit-sharing contributions on behalf of participants. Each participant is fully vested in such
participant’s contributions and any earnings they generate. Each 401(k) participant becomes vested in our matching
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contributions, and any earnings they generate, in the amounts of 50%, 75% and 100% after two, three and four years
of service, respectively. Each participant becomes vested in our profit sharing contributions, if any, and any earnings
they generate, in the amounts of 25%, 50%, 75% and 100% after one, two, three and four years of service,
respectively.
We also have a plan for highly compensated employees, or HCEs, that supplements the 401(k) plan. All of our named
executive officers are HCEs. The tax laws impose a maximum percentage of salary that can be contributed each year
by HCEs to our 401(k) plan depending on the participation level of non-HCEs. We adopted the supplemental plan to
provide an alternative retirement plan for the HCEs when the participation level of non-HCEs restricts the amount the
HCEs would
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otherwise have been permitted to contribute to the 401(k) plan. The supplemental plan operates similarly to the 401(k)
plan except that contributions by HCEs to the supplemental plan are not subject to the statutory maximum percentage,
the balance in each HCE’s account in the supplemental plan is a general asset of ours, and in the event of our
insolvency, the HCE would be a general, unsecured creditor with respect to such amount.
The terms of the supplemental plan limit the maximum annual contribution by each participant to 100% of the HCE’s
salary (including commissions), bonuses and long term incentive awards. In addition, the plan authorizes the
Compensation Committee to set an aggregate maximum annual contribution amount. There is no such current
aggregate maximum annual contribution amount. We periodically transfer from the plan to the 401(k) plan, on behalf
of each HCE who so elects, the maximum amount (if any) that could have been contributed directly to the 401(k)
plan. Participants have the choice to invest the funds in their accounts in the supplemental plan from among a
specified group of investment funds. A participant is entitled to a distribution of the funds in his or her account in the
plan upon either a termination of service or retirement.
Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control
Incentive Plans
Upon a change in control, the terms of our LTIP provide that each performance period that has not ended ends as of
the last day of the next calendar quarter, the performance award relating to the shortened performance period is
calculated taking into account the shortened performance period, and all unpaid performance awards (relating to the
shortened performance period and any other performance periods) become promptly payable. Upon a change in
control, the terms of our Equity Incentive Plan provide that equity awards become fully vested.
Severance Policy
In July 2014, we adopted a Severance Policy for Key Executives (the “Severance Policy”).  The Severance Policy sets
forth in a written document the terms and conditions that the Company would normally expect to follow upon an
involuntary separation of service of a key executive. We believed that it was in the Company's interest to formalize
the Severance Policy to provide increased certainty for the executives and the Company in the event of a severance.
Further, the formalization of the policy is expected to assist the Company with the recruitment and retention of key
executives, provide the Company with important protections, and reduce costs in the event of a dispute.
The Severance Policy applies to the executive officers of the Company and any other executive designated by the
Compensation Committee (“Covered Executives”). It provides that, in the event the employment of a Covered Executive
is terminated by the Company without “cause” or by the Covered Executive with “good reason” (as each term is defined in
the Severance Policy), the Company will provide to such Covered Executive (a) a pro rata bonus for the year in which
the termination occurs (if the applicable performance goals are met), (b) during the Severance Period (defined as 18
months in the case of the Chief Executive Officer and our Executive Vice Presidents and 12 months for all other
Covered Executives), a monthly severance payment equal to one-twelfth of the sum of the Covered Executive’s latest
annual base salary and the average annual bonus (for the two prior full fiscal years), (c) a pro rata payment of any
pending long term incentive award (if the applicable performance goals are met) and payment of any outstanding
deferred awards under the Company’s long term incentive plan, (d) Company-subsidized health and dental coverage
during the applicable Severance Period, (e) continuation of vesting of outstanding stock options, restricted stock and
restricted stock units during the applicable Severance Period, and (f) outplacement services. The foregoing payments
and benefits for a Covered Executive could be reduced in connection with the application of Internal Revenue Code
Section 280G if such a reduction would enable the Covered Executive to financially benefit on an after-tax basis.
The receipt by a Covered Executive of any severance benefits is conditioned upon (a) the delivery by the Covered
Executive of a full and unconditional release of all claims against the Company, and (b) compliance by the Covered
Executive during the Severance Period with provisions relating to confidentiality, non-competition, non-solicitation of
the Company’s customers, and non-hiring of the Company’s employees.
Change of Control Agreements
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We have Change of Control Agreements with certain of our employees, including each of our named executive
officers. The terms of the agreements as in effect as of December 31, 2014 are described below.
The agreements have an initial term of three years and will automatically renew for a two-year period, unless notice of
termination is given by the Company at least 60 days before any such renewal date. The operative provisions of the
agreements will apply, however, only if a Change of Control, as defined in the agreements, occurs during the period
the agreement is in effect.
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If the employee’s employment with the Company is terminated within two years following a Change of Control (or
within 12 months prior to a Change of Control in certain circumstances) as a result of an Involuntary Termination (as
defined in the agreements), then the employee will be entitled to receive payments and benefits that include the
following:

11,822 (3,429 ) 12,636 985
Net cash provided by (used in)
financing activities 58,171 29,111 18,130 $ (113,679 ) $ (56,781 )
Balance Sheet Data (at end of period):
Cash and cash equivalents $ 5,188 $ 4,898 $ 14,297 $ 29,457 $ 150,353
Working capital 272,403 233,414 236,168 247,722 320,527
Total assets 544,736 503,915 525,019 546,846 729,178
Total debt(2) 383,783 341,017 384,256 341,669 444,870
Stockholders’ (deficit) equity (20,592 ) 8,374 991 $ 50,820 $ 102,852
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(1) EBITDA is an amount equal to net (loss) income plus interest expense and all interest expense related items (e.g.
changes associated with ineffective interest rate swap, write-off of debt issue costs, charges associated with
mortgage refinancing), income taxes, and depreciation and amortization. EBITDA is presented herein because we
believe it is a useful supplement to cash flow from operations in understanding cash flows generated from
operations that are available for debt service (interest and principal payments) and further investment in
acquisitions. However, EBITDA is not a presentation made in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles, (“GAAP”), and is not intended to present a superior measure of the financial condition from
those determined under GAAP. EBITDA, as used herein, is not necessarily comparable to other similarly titled
captions of other companies due to differences in methods of calculations.

(2) Total debt represents long-term debt related to our mortgage and revolving credit facilities, including current
maturities and capital lease obligations.

A reconciliation of net cash (used in) provided by operating activities, the most directly comparable GAAP measure,
to EBITDA for each of the respective periods indicated is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 29,
2012

Year Ended
December 31,
2011

Year Ended
January 1,
2011

Year Ended
January 2,
2010

Year Ended
January 3,
2009

Net cash (used in) provided by operating
activities $ (74,250 ) $ (50,332 ) $(29,861 ) $(19,853 ) $190,390
Amortization of debt issue costs (3,746 ) (2,940 ) (1,963 ) (2,459 ) (2,479 )
Net gain from terminating the
Georgia-Pacific supply agreement — — — 17,772 —
Payments from terminating the
Georgia-Pacific supply agreement — — (4,706 ) (14,118 ) —
Vacant property charges, net 30 291 (53 ) (1,222 ) (4,441 )
Payments on modification of lease
agreement 5,875 — — — —
Deferred income tax benefit (provision) 20 25 600 (24,220 ) 2,935
Prepayment fees associated with sale of
property — — — (616 ) (1,868 )
Gain on sale of properties 9,885 10,604 — 10,397 1,936
Gain from insurance settlement 476 1,230 — — —
Gain from modification of lease
agreement — 1,971 — — —
Share-based compensation (2,797 ) (1,974 ) (3,978 ) (2,922 ) (2,614 )
Excess tax benefits from share-based
arrangements — — — — 81
Changes in assets and liabilities 50,045 11,444 (4,337 ) 421 (195,124 )
Interest expense 28,157 30,510 33,788 32,456 38,547
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 386 962 (589 ) 4,564 (16,434 )
EBITDA $ 14,081 $ 1,791 $(11,099 ) $200 $10,929

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS.
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The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes
and other financial information appearing elsewhere in this Form 10-K. In addition to historical information, the
following discussion and other parts of this Form 10-K contain forward-looking information that involves risks and
uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated by this forward-looking information due
to the factors discussed under “Risk Factors,” “Cautionary Statement Concerning Forward-Looking Statements” and
elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Overview

Company Background

BlueLinx is a leading distributor of building products in the United States. As of December 29, 2012, we distributed
approximately 10,000 products from over 750 suppliers to service approximately 11,500 customers nationwide,
including dealers, industrial manufacturers, manufactured housing producers and home improvement retailers. We
operate our distribution business from sales centers in Atlanta and Denver, and our network of approximately 55
distribution centers. We distribute products in two principal categories: structural products and specialty products.
Structural products include plywood, OSB, rebar and remesh, lumber and other wood products primarily used for
structural support, walls and flooring in construction projects. Structural products represented approximately 42% and
39% of our fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011 gross sales, respectively. Specialty products include roofing, insulation,
moulding, engineered wood, vinyl products (used primarily in siding), outdoor living and metal products (excluding
rebar and remesh). Specialty products accounted for approximately 58% and 61% of our fiscal 2012 and fiscal
2011 gross sales, respectively.
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Industry Conditions

We operate in a changing environment in which new risks can emerge from time to time.  A number of factors cause
our results of operations to fluctuate from period to period.  Many of these factors are seasonal or cyclical in nature.
Conditions in the United States (“U.S.”) housing market continue to be at historically low levels. Our operating results
have declined during the past several years as they are closely tied to U.S. housing starts. Additionally, the mortgage
markets have experienced substantial disruption due to an unprecedented number of defaults in the “subprime” market.
 This disruption and the related defaults have increased the inventory of homes for sale and also have caused lenders
to tighten mortgage qualification criteria, which further reduces demand for new homes. While there has been some
recent improvement, we expect the lower than historical average level of new housing activity will continue to
negatively impact our operating results. We continue to prudently manage our inventories, receivables and spending in
this environment. However, along with many forecasters, we believe that we are in the beginning of a housing
recovery and that U.S. housing demand will continue to improve in the long term based on population demographics
and a variety of other factors.

As the housing market and general economic conditions continue to improve, the Company believes that additional
capital would allow the Company to participate more fully in these improving conditions, and therefore the Company
currently is seeking additional capital.  The Company’s sales depend heavily on the strength of national and local new
residential construction and home improvement and remodeling markets, which are showing signs of significant
improvement. Moreover, the government’s legislative and administrative measures aimed at restoring liquidity to the
credit markets and providing relief to homeowners facing foreclosure are beginning to show positive results. The
overall housing market and economy are also improving, which is expected to lead to a considerable increase in
residential construction and, to a lesser extent, in home improvement activity.  If the Company and its industry
continue to recover from the historic housing market downturn, the Company expects its sales to improve and
therefore its need for inventory and its accounts receivable to increase.  This increase in working capital is expected to
use some of the Company’s current excess availability under its revolving credit facilities.  

Stock Rights Offerings

On January 10, 2013, we filed a registration statement on Form S-1 with the SEC for a planned rights offering of our
common stock to our stockholders, which seeks to raise gross proceeds of $40 million. In addition to being able to
purchase their pro rata portion of the shares offered based on their ownership as of the record date for the rights
offering, stockholders may oversubscribe for additional shares of common stock.  The estimated net proceeds from the
rights offering of approximately $39 million will be used to pay down the U.S. revolving credit facility.   Cerberus
ABP Investor LLC (“Cerberus”), the Company’s majority stockholder, has indicated that it intends, subject to the
exercise price of the rights being set at an acceptable amount, to exercise all of the rights issued to it and to subscribe
for the maximum additional shares pursuant to the over-subscription privilege that it would be entitled to purchase.
However, such indication is not binding, and Cerberus is not legally obligated to do so.  The Company anticipates that
the record date and the subscription price will be determined at or about the time that the SEC declares the Company’s
registration statement effective.

On July 22, 2011, we concluded an offering of our common stock to our stockholders (the “2011 rights offering”),
pursuant to which we distributed to our common stockholders transferable rights to subscribe for and purchase up to
$60 million of our common stock.  The 2011 rights offering was fully subscribed and resulted in gross proceeds of
approximately $60 million.  The net proceeds from the 2011 rights offering were approximately $58 million, and $56
million of the net proceeds were used to pay down the U.S. revolving credit facility.  We accounted for the rights
issued as a component of additional paid in capital as they were indexed to the Company’s equity and there were no net
cash settlement provisions.
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Private Label Products

On February 12, 2012, our three-year purchase agreement with G-P for engineered lumber expired in accordance with
its terms.  In February of 2012, we launched our own privately branded engineered product line for all geographic
markets other than New England. In addition, on February 13, 2012 we entered into a distribution agreement with
Weyerhaeuser Company for the sale of certain engineered wood products in the New England region.  We have
subsequently increased the number of private label products that we offer to customers and currently offer several
products under our private labels.
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Restructuring Charges

During fiscal 2007, we announced a plan to adjust our cost structure in order to manage our costs more effectively.
The plan included the consolidation of our corporate headquarters and sales center to one building from two buildings
which resulted in certain charges recorded in “Selling, general, and administrative” expenses in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007.

 During the third quarter of fiscal 2011, we entered into an amendment to our corporate headquarters lease in Atlanta,
Georgia related to the unoccupied 4100 building.  This amendment released us from our obligations with respect to
this unoccupied space as of January 31, 2012, in exchange for a $5.0 million space remittance fee, which was paid in
the first quarter of 2012.  We also paid $0.9 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2012 and are obligated to pay an
additional $0.3 million on or before December 31, 2013 related to contractually obligated tenant improvement
reimbursement expense.  The provisions relating to the occupied 4300 building remain unchanged.  Under the existing
provisions, the current term of the lease ends on January 31, 2019.  The amendment resulted in a reduction of our
restructuring reserve of approximately $2.0 million, with the credit recorded in “Selling, general, and administrative”
expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations during fiscal 2011.

Selected Factors that Affect our Operating Results

Our operating results are affected by housing starts, mobile home production, industrial production, repair and
remodeling spending and non-residential construction. We believe a substantial percentage of our sales are directly
related to new home construction.

Our operating results also are impacted by changes in product prices. Structural products prices can vary significantly
based on short-term and long-term changes in supply and demand. The prices of specialty products also can vary from
time to time, although they generally are significantly less variable than structural products.

The following table sets forth changes in net sales by product category, sales variances due to changes in unit volume
and dollar and percentage changes in unit volume and price, in each case for fiscal 2012, fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2010:

Sales Revenue Variances by Product

Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010
(Dollars in millions)

Sales by Category
Structural Products $806 $705 $835
Specialty Products 1,114 1,068 985
Other(1) (12 ) (18 ) (16 )
Total Sales $1,908 $1,755 $1,804
Sales Variances
Unit Volume $ Change $42 $(52 ) $36
Price/Other(1) 111 3 122
Total $ Change $153 $(49 ) $158
Unit Volume % Change 2.3 % (2.8 )% 2.2 %
Price/Other(1) % Change 6.4 % 0.1 % 7.4 %
Total % Change 8.7 % (2.7 )% 9.6 %

(1) “Other” includes unallocated allowances and discounts.
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The following table sets forth changes in gross margin dollars and percentages by product category, and percentage
changes in unit volume growth by product, in each case for fiscal 2012, fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2010:

Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010
(Dollars in millions)

Gross Margin $ by Category
Structural Products $77 $65 $74
Specialty Products 146 137 129
Other(1) 7 8 8
Total Gross Margin $230 $210 $211
Gross Margin % by Category
Structural Products 9.6 % 9.2 % 8.9 %
Specialty Products 13.1 % 12.8 % 13.1 %
Total Gross Margin % 12.1 % 12.0 % 11.7 %
Unit Volume % Change by Product
Structural Products 1.4 % (15.1 )% (2.5 )%
Specialty Products 2.9 % 7.4 % 5.7 %
Total Unit Volume % Change 2.3 % (2.8 )% 2.2 %

(1) “Other” includes unallocated allowances and discounts.

The following table sets forth changes in net sales and gross margin by channel and percentage changes in gross
margin by channel, in each case for fiscal 2012, fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2010:

Fiscal
2011

Fiscal
2011

Fiscal
2010

(Dollars in millions)
Sales by Channel
Warehouse/Reload                                                                                                                    $1,534 $1,397 $1,409
Direct 386 376 411
Other(1) (12 ) (18 ) (16 )
Total $1,908 $1,755 $1,804
Gross Margin by Channel
Warehouse/Reload $199 $179 $182
Direct 24 23 21
Other(1) 7 8 8
Total $230 $210 $211
Gross Margin % by Channel
Warehouse/Reload 13.0 % 12.8 % 12.9 %
Direct 6.2 % 6.1 % 5.1 %
Total 12.1 % 12.0 % 11.7 %

(1) “Other” includes unallocated allowances and discounts.

Fiscal Year
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Our fiscal year is a 52- or 53-week period ending on the Saturday closest to the end of the calendar year. Fiscal year
2012, 2011, and 2010 contained 52 weeks.

Results of Operations

Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011

The following table sets forth our results of operations for fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011.

Fiscal 2012

% of
Net
Sales Fiscal 2011

% of
Net
Sales

(Dollars in thousands)
Net
sales                                                                                                   $1,907,842 100.0 % $1,755,431 100.0 %
Gross profit 230,070 12.1 % 210,149 12.0 %
Selling, general and administrative 215,996 11.3 % 207,857 11.8 %
Depreciation and amortization 8,565 0.4 % 10,562 0.6 %
Operating income (loss) 5,509 0.3 % (8,270 ) (0.5 )%
Interest expense, net 28,157 1.5 % 30,510 1.7 %
Changes associated with the ineffective interest rate swap — 0.0 % (1,676 ) (0.1 )%
Other income (expense), net (7 ) 0.0 % 501 0.0 %
Loss before provision for income taxes (22,641 ) (1.2 )% (37,605 ) (2.1 )%
Provision for income taxes 386 0.0 % 962 0.1 %
Net loss $(23,027 ) (1.2 )% $(38,567 ) (2.2 )%
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Net sales.  For the fiscal year ended December 29, 2012, net sales increased by 8.7%, or $152.4 million, to
$1.9 billion. Sales during the fiscal year were positively impacted by a 28% increase in single family housing starts.
Single family home construction has a significant impact on our sales. Structural sales increased by $101.2 million, or
14.3% from a year ago, as a result of a 12.9% increase in structural product prices and a 1.4% increase in unit
volume.  In addition, specialty sales increased $45.8 million, or 4.3% from a year ago, as a result of a 1.4% increase in
specialty product prices and a 2.9% increase in unit volume.

Gross profit.  Gross profit for fiscal 2012 was $230.1 million, or 12.1% of sales, compared to $210.1 million, or
12.0% of sales, in fiscal 2011. The increase in gross profit dollars compared to fiscal 2011 was driven primarily by the
factors noted above, coupled with an improvement in gross margin percentage due to the Company’s efforts to
improve gross margin.

Selling, general and administrative.  Selling, general and administrative expenses for fiscal 2012 were $216.0 million,
or 11.3% of net sales, compared to $207.9 million, or 11.8% of net sales, during fiscal 2011. The increase in selling,
general, and administrative expenses is primarily due to a reduction in other gains recorded in selling, general and
administrative expenses in 2012 when compared to 2011 coupled with increases in certain variable costs and pension
expense.  During 2012 the Company recognized $10.4 million of other gains compared to $14.0 million of other gains
recognized in fiscal 2011, both of which were recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses, resulting  in an
increase in total selling, general, and administrative expenses of $3.6 million.  In addition, during fiscal 2012 there
were increases in pension expense, commissions, stock compensation and other salary based incentives of $2.1
million, $0.7 million, $0.8 million and $1.7 million, respectively.  These increases were partially offset by a decrease
in payroll of $2.8 million. 

The other gains recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses during fiscal 2012 were comprised of $9.9
million of gains on property sales and a $0.5 million gain related to the insurance settlement on the Newtown,
Connecticut facility.  In comparison, during fiscal 2011, other gains recorded in selling, general and administrative
expenses were comprised of $10.6 million of gains on property sales, a $2.0 million gain related to the modification of
the lease agreement for our headquarters in Atlanta, Georgia and a $1.4 million gain related to the insurance
settlement on the Newtown, Connecticut facility. The increase in pension expense was due to changes in the
underlying pension valuation assumptions.  The increases in incentives and commissions were largely attributable to
higher sales activity in fiscal 2012.   The $2.8 million decrease in payroll was due to reduction in force activities
occurring in fiscal 2011, which resulted in $1.4 million in severance charges in fiscal 2011.  We did not materially
increase headcount during fiscal 2012 or perform any material restructuring. 

Depreciation and amortization.  Depreciation and amortization expense was $8.6 million for fiscal 2012, compared to
$10.6 million for fiscal 2011. The $2.0 million decrease in depreciation and amortization is primarily related to a
portion of our property and equipment becoming fully depreciated during fiscal 2012 and replenishment of fixed
assets occurring at a slower rate.

Operating income (loss).  Operating income for fiscal 2012 was $5.5 million compared to an operating loss of $8.3
million for fiscal 2011.  The change in operating income (loss) reflects a $19.9 million increase in gross profit as a
result of the above factors, and a decrease in depreciation of $2.0 million.  This change was partially offset by an
increase in selling, general, and administrative expenses of $8.1 million.

Interest expense, net.  Interest expense for fiscal 2012 was $28.2 million compared to $30.5 million for fiscal 2011.
The $2.3 million decrease is due to a decrease of $2.2 million in fees related to the interest rate swap due to the
expiration of the interest rate swap during fiscal 2011 and a decrease in interest expense related to our mortgage of
$2.3 million due to a decrease in principal.  These changes were partially offset by an increase in interest related to our
revolving credit facilities of $1.4 million and an increase in debt issuance cost amortization of $0.8 million.  Interest
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expense included $3.7 million and $2.9 million of debt issue cost amortization for fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011,
respectively.  In fiscal 2012, interest expense related to our revolving credit facilities and mortgage was $9.6 million
and $14.7 million, respectively.  In fiscal 2011, interest expense related to our revolving credit facilities and mortgage
was $10.3 million and $17.0 million, respectively.  See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” below for a description of
agreements for the revolving credit facilities and the mortgage.

Changes associated with the ineffective interest rate swap. Changes associated with the ineffective interest rate swap
totaled $1.7 million of income in fiscal 2011.  As the effective interest rate swap terminated in March of 2011, there
was no comparable activity in the fiscal 2012.
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Provision for income taxes.  Our effective tax rate was (1.7)% and (2.5)% for fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, respectively.
The effective tax rate for fiscal 2012 and 2011 is largely due to a full valuation allowance recorded against our tax
benefit related to our fiscal 2012 loss. The effect of the valuation allowance was offset by state income taxes, gross
receipts taxes, and foreign income taxes recorded on a separate company basis partially offset by various refundable
tax credits.

Net loss.  Net loss for fiscal 2012 was $23.0 million, compared to $38.6 million for fiscal 2011 as a result of the
factors discussed above.

On a per-share basis, basic and diluted loss applicable to common stockholders for fiscal 2012 each was $0.38. For
fiscal 2011, basic and diluted loss per share each was $0.89.

Fiscal 2011 Compared to Fiscal 2010

The following table sets forth our results of operations for fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2010.

Fiscal 2011

% of
Net
Sales Fiscal 2010

% of
Net
Sales

(Dollars in thousands)
Net
sales                                                                                                   $ 1,755,431 100.0% $ 1,804,418 100.0%
Gross profit 210,149 12.0 % 210,673 11.7 %
Selling, general and administrative 207,857 11.8 % 221,185 12.3 %
Depreciation and amortization 10,562 0.6 % 13,365 0.7 %
Operating loss (8,270 ) (0.5 )% (23,877 ) (1.3 )%
Interest expense, net 30,510 1.7 % 33,788 1.9 %
Changes associated with the ineffective interest rate swap (1,676 ) (0.1 )% (4,603 ) (0.3 )%
Write-off of debt issue costs — 0.0 % 183 0.0 %
Other expense, net 501 0.0 % 587 0.0 %
Loss before provision for (benefit from) income taxes (37,605 ) (2.1 )% (53,832 ) (3.0 )%
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 962 0.1 % (589 ) 0.0 %
Net loss $ (38,567 ) (2.2 )% $ (53,243 ) (3.0 )%

Net sales.  For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011, net sales decreased by 2.7%, or $49.0 million, to $1.8 billion.
Sales during the fiscal year were negatively impacted by a 9% decrease in single family housing starts. Single family
home construction has a significant impact on our sales. Structural sales, including plywood, OSB, lumber and metal
rebar, decreased by $129.8 million, or 15.5% from a year ago, as a result of a 0.4% decrease in structural product
prices and a 15.1% decrease in unit volume.  The decrease in structural sales was partially offset by an increase in
specialty sales.  Specialty sales, primarily consisting of roofing, specialty panels, insulation, moulding, engineered
wood products, vinyl siding, outdoor living and metal products (excluding rebar and remesh) increased by
$84.6 million or 8.4% compared to fiscal 2010, due to a 7.4% increase in unit volume and a 1.0% increase in specialty
product prices.

Gross profit.  Gross profit for fiscal 2011 was $210.1 million, or 12.0% of sales, compared to $210.7 million, or
11.7% of sales, in fiscal 2010. The decrease in gross profit dollars compared to fiscal 2010 was driven primarily by a
decrease in structural product volumes of 15.1% offset by an increase in specialty product volumes of 7.4%.
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Selling, general and administrative.  Selling, general and administrative expenses for fiscal 2011 were $207.9 million,
or 11.8% of net sales, compared to $221.2 million, or 12.3% of net sales, during fiscal 2010. The decrease in selling,
general, and administrative expenses is due to $10.6 million of property sale gains that were recognized in fiscal 2011,
a $2.0 million gain related to the modification of the lease agreement for our headquarters in Atlanta, Georgia, and a
$1.4 million gain related to the insurance settlement on the Newtown, Connecticut facility. There were no similar
property gains in fiscal 2010. However, in fiscal 2010 there were expenses incurred related to the failed tender offer of
$3.0 million partially offset by a gain related to the settlement received on an OSB class action lawsuit in which we
were a claimant of $5.2 million. In addition, decreases in payroll and payroll related costs of $1.7 million, as well as
decreases in stock compensation expense of $2.0 million also contributed to the overall decrease in selling, general
and administrative expense. These changes were largely related to fiscal 2011 reduction in force activities, as well as
the vesting of certain restricted stock grants during fiscal 2011.  Partially offsetting these fluctuations were increases
to fuel expense and other operating expenses of $2.9 million and $1.4 million, respectively.
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Depreciation and amortization.  Depreciation and amortization expense was $10.6 million for fiscal 2011, compared
to $13.4 million for fiscal 2010. The $2.8 million decrease in depreciation and amortization is primarily related to
fiscal 2011 sales of certain depreciable properties, a portion of our property and equipment becoming fully depreciated
during fiscal 2011 and replenishment of fixed assets occurring at a slower rate.

Operating loss.  Operating loss for fiscal 2011 was $8.3 million, or 0.5% of sales, compared to an operating loss of
$23.9 million, or 1.3% of sales, for fiscal 2010, reflecting the $13.3 million decrease in selling, general and
administrative expense and a $2.8 million decrease in depreciation and amortization offset by a $0.5 million decrease
in gross profit.

Interest expense, net.  Interest expense for fiscal 2011 was $30.5 million compared to $33.8 million for fiscal 2010.
The $3.3 million decrease is due to the $45.1 million decrease in total debt and the related effect on interest expense.
In fiscal 2011, interest expense related to our revolving credit facilities (including the Canadian revolving credit
facility), and mortgage was $10.3 million and $17.0 million, respectively. In fiscal 2010, interest expense related to
our U.S. revolving credit facility and mortgage was $13.3 million and $18.3 million, respectively. In addition, interest
expense included $2.9 million and $2.0 million of debt issue cost amortization for fiscal 2011 and for fiscal 2010,
respectively.

Changes associated with the ineffective interest rate swap. Changes associated with the ineffective interest rate swap
recognized for fiscal 2011 was income of $1.7 million compared to $4.6 million of income for fiscal 2010.  The
decrease is primarily related to the change in the swap’s fair value and a decrease in amortization of the accumulated
loss in other comprehensive income into interest expense due to the termination of the swap in March 2011.

Write-off of debt issue costs.  During fiscal 2010, we permanently reduced our revolving loan threshold limit. As a
result, we recorded expense of $0.2 million, for the write-off of deferred financing costs that had been capitalized
associated with the borrowing capacities that were reduced during these periods.  No similar activity occurred during
fiscal 2011.

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes.  Our effective tax rate was (2.5)% and 1.1% for fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2010,
respectively. The effective tax rate for fiscal 2011 is largely due to a full valuation allowance recorded against our tax
benefit related to our 2011 loss. The effect of the valuation allowance was offset by state income taxes, gross receipts
taxes, and foreign income taxes recorded on a separate company basis partially offset by various refundable tax
credits.  The effective tax rate for fiscal 2010 is largely due to a full valuation allowance recorded against our tax
benefit related to our fiscal 2010 loss and an allocation of income tax expense to other comprehensive income
resulting in a tax benefit to continuing operations.  This tax benefit was partially offset by gross receipts and other
taxes.

Net loss.  Net loss for fiscal 2011 was $38.6 million, compared to $53.2 million for fiscal 2010 as a result of the
factors discussed above.

On a per-share basis, basic and diluted loss applicable to common stockholders for fiscal 2011 each was $0.89. For
fiscal 2010, basic and diluted loss per share each was $1.73.

Seasonality

We are exposed to fluctuations in quarterly sales volumes and expenses due to seasonal factors. These seasonal factors
are common in the building products distribution industry. The first and fourth quarters are typically our slowest
quarters due to the impact of poor weather on the construction market. Our second and third quarters are typically our
strongest quarters, reflecting a substantial increase in construction due to more favorable weather conditions. Our
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working capital and accounts receivable and payable generally peak in the third quarter, while inventory generally
peaks in the second quarter in anticipation of the summer building season.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We depend on cash flow from operations and funds available under our revolving credit facilities to finance working
capital needs and capital expenditures. We had approximately $86.0 million of excess availability under our U.S.
revolving credit facility (the “U.S. revolving credit facility”) and $2.0 million under our Canadian revolving credit
facility, described further below, as of December 29, 2012. As of December 29, 2012, we had excess availability of
$49.8 million above the minimum required under the U.S. revolving credit facility. As of the period ended December
29, 2012, under our amended U.S. revolving credit facility, we are required to maintain a fixed charge coverage ratio
of 1.1 to 1.0 in the event our excess availability falls below the greater of $30 million or the amount equal to 15% of
the lesser of the borrowing base or $400 million (the “Excess Availability Threshold”).  If we fail to maintain this
minimum excess availability, the amended U.S. revolving credit facility requires us to (i) maintain certain financial
ratios, which we would not meet with current operating results, triggering the lender’s right to make the debt callable,
and (ii) limit our capital expenditures, which would have a negative impact on our ability to finance working capital
needs and capital expenditures.
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In the event that excess availability falls below $35 million or 15% of the lesser of the borrowing base or $400
million, the U.S. revolving credit facility gives the lenders the right to dominion of our bank accounts.  This would not
make the underlying debt callable by the lender and may not change our ability to borrow on the U.S. revolving credit
facility.  However, we would be required to reclassify the “Long-term debt” to “Current maturities of long-term debt” on
our Consolidated Balance Sheet.  For additional information regarding our financial covenants under our revolving
credit facilities, see the Risk Factors “The instruments governing our indebtedness contain various covenants limiting
the discretion of our management in operating our business” set forth under Item 1.A. Risk Factors.

While the Company believes that the amounts currently available from its revolving credit facilities and other sources
will be sufficient to fund its routine operations and capital requirements for at least the next 12 months, the Company
believes that additional capital will provide it with a stronger liquidity position and allow it to more fully participate in
the improving housing market. The Company believes that this stronger liquidity position will also give the Company
an advantage over many competitors that have less liquidity and less or no access to additional capital, and therefore
may not be able to fully participate in the opportunities that arise in a growing market.

On January 10, 2013, we filed a registration statement on Form S-1 with the SEC for a planned rights offering of our
common stock to our stockholders, which seeks to raise gross proceeds of $40 million. In connection with the rights
offering we plan to distribute to our common stockholders non-transferable rights to subscribe for and purchase up to
$40 million of our common stock.  The estimated net proceeds from the rights offering of approximately $39 million
will be used to pay down the U.S. revolving credit facility.

On July 22, 2011, we concluded an offering of our common stock to our stockholders, pursuant to which we
distributed to our common stockholders transferable rights to subscribe for and purchase up to $60 million of our
common stock.  The 2011 rights offering was fully subscribed and resulted in gross proceeds of approximately $60
million.  The majority of the net proceeds from the 2011 rights offering were used to pay down the U.S. revolving
credit facility.  The amendment to our U.S. revolving credit facility, which was a condition to the 2011 rights offering,
and is described in more detail below, became effective upon the successful completion of the 2011 rights offering.  In
addition, as a condition to the 2011 rights offering, we entered into an amendment to our mortgage, as described in the
Debt and Credit Sources section of this MD&A of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

We may elect to selectively pursue acquisitions. Accordingly, depending on the nature of the acquisition, we may use
cash or stock, or a combination of both, as acquisition currency. Our cash requirements may significantly increase and
incremental cash expenditures will be required in connection with the integration of the acquired company’s business
and to pay fees and expenses in connection with any acquisitions. To the extent that significant amounts of cash are
expended in connection with acquisitions, our liquidity position may be adversely impacted. In addition, there can be
no assurance that we will be successful in completing acquisitions in the future. For a discussion of the risks
associated with our acquisition strategy, see the risk factor “Integrating acquisitions may be time-consuming and create
costs that could reduce our net income and cash flows” set forth under Item 1A — Risk Factors.

The following tables indicate our working capital and cash flows for the periods indicated.

December
29,
2012

December 31,
2011

(Dollars in thousands)
Working capital $272,403 $ 233,414

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
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December
29,
2012

December
31,
2011

January 1,
2011

(Dollars in
thousands)

Cash flows used in operating activities $(74,250 ) $(50,332 ) $(29,861 )
Cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities 16,369 11,822 (3,429 )
Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities 58,171 29,111 18,130
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Working Capital

Working capital increased by $39.0 million to $272.4 million at December 29, 2012 from $233.4 million at December
31, 2011. The increase in working capital reflected an increase in accounts receivable and cash of $18.6 million and
was primarily related to higher revenues in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012 compared to fiscal 2011.  In addition,
inventories increased by approximately $44.5 million largely related to the increased activity in the fourth quarter of
fiscal 2012 coupled with a build in inventory to prepare for the expected growth associated with the housing
recovery.  There was also a decrease to other current liabilities of $5.6 million that contributed to the overall increase
in working capital, which was mainly comprised of payments of $5.9 million made during fiscal 2012 associated with
the 2011 amendment to our lease agreement in Atlanta, Georgia related to the unoccupied 4100 building.  These
increases were partially offset by a $13.0 million increase in bank overdrafts due to the timing of payments, a decrease
in other current assets of $7.7 million and a $7.6 million increase in accounts payable, reflected as a $9.1 million
change in the operating activities section of the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows net of $1.5 million of payments
for debt issuance costs, which were reflected in the financing activities section of the Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flows. The change in other current assets was largely attributable to decreases in restricted cash associated with our
mortgage.  In an effort to preserve working capital, we have applied for a waiver from the IRS for one or more of our
required contributions relating to the minimum required contribution for 2012 with respect to our defined benefit
plans. 

Operating Activities

During fiscal 2012, cash flows used in operating activities totaled $74.3 million. The primary driver of cash flows
used in operations was a net loss, as adjusted for non-cash charges of $18.3 million, an increase in accounts receivable
of $18.6 million and an increase in inventory of $44.5 million.  In addition, we made payments totaling $5.9 million
associated with the 2011 amendment to our lease agreement in Atlanta, Georgia related to the unoccupied 4100
building. These changes were partially offset by an increase in accounts payable of $9.1 million.  This change in
accounts payable was classified net of $1.5 million of payments for debt issuance costs, which were classified in cash
flows from financing activities.  Refer to the Working Capital section above for further discussion of these items.

During fiscal 2011, cash flows used in operating activities totaled $50.3 million. The primary driver of cash flow used
in operations was a net loss, as adjusted for non-cash charges of $38.9 million, an increase in accounts receivable of
$19.7 million, partially offset by a decrease in inventory of $2.7 and an increase in accounts payable of $6.7
million.  Refer to the Working Capital section above for further discussion of these items.

During fiscal 2010, cash flows used in operating activities totaled $29.9 million. The primary driver of cash flow used
in operations was a net loss, as adjusted for non-cash charges of $38.9 million, an increase in inventory of
$15.1 million due to the addition of a new outdoor living product line, partially offset by the receipt of our $20.4
million tax refund in fiscal 2010.

Investing Activities

During fiscal 2012, cash flows provided by investing activities totaled $16.4 million, compared to $11.8 million in
fiscal 2011.

During fiscal 2012, fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2010, our expenditures for property and equipment were $2.8 million,
$6.5 million and $4.1 million, respectively. These expenditures were primarily to purchase information technology,
leasehold improvements, and certain machinery and equipment. During fiscal 2011 we also purchased a replacement
warehouse facility in Nashville, Tennessee.  We estimate that capital expenditures for fiscal 2013 will be
approximately $6.0 million.  Our 2013 capital expenditures are anticipated to be paid with borrowings from our
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revolving credit facilities.

Proceeds from the disposition of property and equipment were $19.2 million, $18.4 million and $0.7 million during
fiscal 2012, fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2010, respectively. During fiscal 2012, the proceeds of $19.2 million included
$17.8 million related to the sale of certain real properties classified as held for sale assets included in “Other current
assets” on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.  During fiscal 2011, the proceeds of $18.4 million included $9.2 million
related to the sale of certain real properties classified as held for sale assets included in “Other current assets” on our
Consolidated Balance Sheets.  Comparable sales of real properties did not occur during fiscal 2010.
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Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $58.2 million during fiscal 2012, compared to $29.1 million during
fiscal 2011. The net cash provided by financing activities in fiscal 2012 primarily reflected net borrowings on our
revolving credit facility of $76.9 million, increases in bank overdrafts of $13.0 million and $10.0 million related to the
decrease in restricted cash on our mortgage.  These cash inflows were offset by payments of principal on our mortgage
of $37.3 million and payments for debt financing costs of $1.7 million.

The net cash provided by financing activities in fiscal 2011 primarily reflected the receipt of proceeds from the 2011
rights offering, netted with expenses related to that offering, of $58.5 million and cash provided by changes in
restricted cash related to our mortgage of $20.6 million.  These cash inflows were offset by additional repayments on
our revolving credit facilities of $2.7 million (net of borrowings) and payments of principal on our mortgage of $42.4
million.

During fiscal 2010, net cash provided by financing activities primarily reflected additional borrowings on our
U.S.  revolving credit facility of $41.2 million (net of payments made), offset by an increase in restricted cash related
to our mortgage of $11.2 million.

Debt and Credit Sources

We have our U.S. revolving credit facility with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, successor by merger to
Wachovia Bank, National Association, dated August 4, 2006, as amended.  The U.S. revolving credit facility has a
final maturity of January 7, 2014 and maximum available credit of $400 million.  The U.S. revolving credit facility
also includes an additional $100 million uncommitted accordion credit facility, which permits us to increase the
maximum available credit up to $500 million.

As of December 29, 2012, we had outstanding borrowings of $169.5 million and excess availability of $86.0 million
under the terms of our U.S. revolving credit facility.  The interest rate on the U.S. revolving credit facility was 4.1% at
December 29, 2012.   As of December 31, 2011, we had outstanding borrowings of $93.4 million and excess
availability of $115.7 million under the terms of our U.S. revolving credit facility.  The interest rate on the U.S.
revolving credit facility was 4.2% at December 31, 2011.  As of December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011, we had
outstanding letters of credit totaling  $4.5 million and $2.7 million, respectively, for the purposes of securing collateral
requirements under casualty insurance programs and for guaranteeing lease and certain other obligations. The $4.5
million in outstanding letters of credit as of December 29, 2012 does not include an additional $1.5 million fully
collateralized letter of credit securing certain insurance obligations that was issued outside of the U.S. revolving credit
facility.

As of December 29, 2012, our U.S. revolving credit facility, as amended, contains customary negative covenants and
restrictions for asset based loans, including a requirement that we maintain a fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.1 to 1.0
in the event our excess availability falls below the Excess Availability Threshold.  The fixed charge coverage ratio is
calculated as EBITDA divided by the sum of cash payments for income taxes, interest expense, cash dividends,
principal payments on debt, and capital expenditures.  EBITDA is defined as BlueLinx Corporation’s net income
before interest and tax expense, depreciation and amortization expense, and other non-cash charges.  The fixed charge
coverage ratio requirement only applies to us when excess availability under our amended U.S. revolving credit
facility is less than the Excess Availability Threshold on any date. As of December 29, 2012 and through the time of
the filing of this Form 10-K, we were in compliance with all covenants under the U.S. revolving credit facility.  We
are required to maintain the Excess Availability Threshold in order to avoid being required to meet certain financial
ratios and triggering additional limits on capital expenditures.  Our lowest level of fiscal month-end availability in the
last three years as of December 29, 2012 was $86.0 million, which is the excess availability on that date.  We do not
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anticipate our excess availability in fiscal 2013 will drop below the Excess Availability Threshold.  Should our excess
availability fall below the Excess Availability Threshold on any date, however, we would not meet the required fixed
charge coverage ratio covenant with our current operating results.  

In the event that excess availability falls below $35 million or the amount equal to 15% of the lesser of the borrowing
base or $400 million, the U.S. revolving credit facility gives the lenders the right to dominion of our bank
accounts.  This would not make the underlying debt callable by the lender and may not change our ability to borrow
on the U.S. revolving credit facility.  However, we would be required to reclassify the “Long-term debt” to “Current
maturities of long-term debt” on our Consolidated Balance Sheet.  In addition, we would be required to maintain a
springing lock-box arrangement where customer remittances go directly to a lock-box maintained by our lenders and
then are forwarded to our general bank accounts.  Our outstanding borrowings are not reduced by these payments
unless our excess availability falls below the greater of $35 million or the amount equal to 15% of the lesser of the
borrowing base or $400 million on any date or in the event of default.  Our amended U.S. revolving credit facility
does not contain a subjective acceleration clause, which would allow our lenders to accelerate the scheduled maturities
of our debt or to cancel our agreement.
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The Company intends to amend and extend its $400 million U.S. revolving credit facility.  The amendment will
extend the maturity by three years from the closing date.  It is expected that the maximum available credit under the
U.S. revolving credit facility will be increased by $22.5 million to $422.5 million.  The amended U.S. revolving credit
facility is also expected to continue to have a $100 million uncommitted accordion credit facility to potentially
increase the maximum available credit to $522.5 million.  The amended U.S. revolving credit facility is expected to
have covenants substantially similar to those in the existing U.S. credit facility.

The Company has engaged Wells Fargo Capital Finance (“Wells Fargo”) as sole lead arranger for the transaction.  Wells
Fargo has informed the Company that it has received commitments from several financial institutions with respect to
the U.S. revolving credit facility, subject to execution of satisfactory documentation and the completion of the $40
million rights offering of common stock announced on January 10, 2013. Closing is expected to occur concurrently
with the completion of the rights offering of common stock.   The definitive terms of, and the obligations of BlueLinx,
Wells Fargo, and/or any members of the syndicate of financial institutions to enter into such an amendment to the U.S.
revolving credit facility are subject to additional discussions and negotiations among the parties, and there is no
assurance that an amendment to the existing U.S. revolving credit facility will be consummated.

On May 10, 2011, we entered into an amendment to our U.S. revolving credit facility, which became effective on July
29, 2011 pursuant to which certain components of the borrowing base calculation and excess liquidity calculation
were adjusted as part of this amendment.  The most significant of the changes included in the amendment are
described in the discussion of the terms and covenants of the U.S. revolving credit facility above.

On August 12, 2011, our subsidiary BlueLinx Canada entered into a revolving credit agreement (the “Canadian
revolving credit facility”) with CIBC Asset-Based Lending Inc., as lender, administrative agent and collateral agent
(the “Agent”).  The maturity date of this agreement is August 12, 2014.  As of December 29, 2012, we had outstanding
borrowings of $1.9 million and excess availability of $2.0 million under the terms of our Canadian revolving credit
facility.  The interest rate on the Canadian revolving credit facility was 4.0% at December 29, 2012.  As of December
31, 2011, we had outstanding borrowings of $1.1 million and excess availability of $2.6 million under the terms of our
Canadian revolving credit facility.  The interest rate on the Canadian revolving credit facility was 4.0% at December
31, 2011.  The Canadian revolving credit facility contains customary covenants and events of default for asset-based
credit agreements of this type, including the requirement for BlueLinx Canada to maintain a minimum adjusted
tangible net worth of $3.9 million and for that entity’s capital expenditures not to exceed 120% of the amount budgeted
in a given year.  As of December 29, 2012 and through the time of the filing of this Form 10-K, we were in
compliance with all covenants under this facility.

On September 19, 2012, we entered into an amendment to our mortgage agreement, which provided for the immediate
prepayment of approximately $11.8 million of the indebtedness under the mortgage agreement without incurring a
prepayment premium from cash currently held as collateral under the mortgage agreement.  In addition, on the last
business day of each calendar quarter, starting with the fourth quarter of 2012, additional funds held as collateral
under the mortgage agreement will be used to prepay indebtedness under the mortgage agreement, without
prepayment premium, up to an aggregate additional prepayment of $10.0 million.  Thereafter, any cash remaining in
the collateral account under the mortgage agreement, up to an aggregate of $10.0 million, will be released to the
Company on the last business day of each calendar quarter through the second quarter of 2014.  All funds released
pursuant to these provisions may only be used by the Company to pay for usual and customary operating
expenses.  During the periods described above in which cash in the collateral account is used to either prepay
indebtedness under the mortgage agreement or released to the Company, the lenders will not release any of the cash
collateral to the Company for specified capital expenditures as previously provided under the mortgage
agreement.  Under the terms of our mortgage, we are required to transfer certain funds to be held as collateral. We
expect to transfer approximately $13.2 million as collateral during the next twelve month period, approximately $6.4
million of which will be used to reduce mortgage principal on a quarterly basis.  The remaining amount of

Edgar Filing: LKQ CORP - Form DEF 14A

68



approximately $6.8 million will be remitted to us on a quarterly basis for uses as indicated in the amendment.  In
conjunction with the modification of our mortgage agreement we incurred approximately $0.3 million in fees that
were capitalized and are being amortized over the remaining term of the mortgage.
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On July 14, 2011, we entered into an amendment to the mortgage which (i) eliminated the requirement to obtain
lender approval for any transfer of equity interests that would reduce Cerberus ABP Investor LLC’s ownership in the
Company and certain of our subsidiaries, directly or indirectly, to less than 51%, (ii) provided for the immediate
prepayment of $38.3 million of the indebtedness under the mortgage without incurring a prepayment premium from
funds currently held as collateral under the mortgage and, if certain conditions are met, will allow for an additional
prepayment on or after July 30, 2014 from funds held as collateral without incurrence of a prepayment premium,
(iii) allow us, at the lenders’ reasonable discretion, to use a portion of the cash held as collateral under the mortgage for
specified alterations, repairs, replacements and other improvements to the mortgaged properties, and (iv) in the event
certain financial conditions are met and the Company extends the Amended and Restated Master Lease by and among
certain of our subsidiaries with respect to properties covered by the mortgage for an additional five years, we may
request the lenders to disburse to the Company a portion of the cash held as collateral under the mortgage.  In
conjunction with the modification of our mortgage agreement we incurred approximately $2.9 million in debt fees that
were capitalized and are being amortized over the remaining term of the mortgage.

On June 12, 2006, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement with Goldman Sachs Capital Markets, to hedge
against interest rate risks related to our variable rate U.S. revolving credit facility. The interest rate swap was
terminated in March of 2011.

Due to the termination of the swap in fiscal 2011, the fair value of the swap as of December 31, 2011 was
zero.  Changes associated with the ineffective interest rate swap recognized in the Consolidated Statement of
Operations for the period from January 1, 2011 to October 1, 2011 were approximately $1.7 million of income and
were comprised of amortization of the remaining accumulated other comprehensive loss of the ineffective swap of
$0.5 million offset by income of $2.2 million related to reducing the fair value of the ineffective interest rate swap
liability to zero.

Contractual Commitments.  The following table represents our contractual commitments associated with our debt and
other obligations disclosed above as of the fiscal year end of each year set forth below (in thousands).

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 ThereafterTotal
Revolving credit facilities(1)                                                                 $— $171,412 $— $— $— $— $171,412
Mortgage indebtedness 8,946 2,556 2,725 191,753 — — 205,980
Interest payments on our revolving credit facilities(2) 7,003 182 — — — — 7,185
Interest payments on our mortgage(3) 14,076 12,609 12,439 6,137 — — 45,261
Subtotal 30,025 186,759 15,164 197,890 — — 429,838
Operating leases(4) 4,488 3,943 3,354 3,394 3,016 2,786 20,981
Capital leases(5) 1,188 1,237 1,292 1,238 709 727 6,391
Interest payments on our capital leases(6) 347 278 206 131 71 26 1,059
Letters of credit(7) 4,485 — — — — — 4,485
Letters of credit(8) 1,501 — — — — — 1,501
Total $42,034 $192,217 $20,016 $202,653 $3,796 $3,539 $464,255

(1) Payments for both the U.S. and Canadian revolving credit facilities are included.

(2) Interest on the revolving credit facilities is variable, based on Libor or prime plus the applicable margin.  The
interest rate on the U.S. revolving credit facility and the Canadian revolving credit facility was 4.1% and 4.0%,
respectively, at December 29, 2012. The final maturity date on our U.S. revolving credit facility and Canadian
revolving credit facility is January 7, 2014 and August 12, 2014, respectively.
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(3) Interest payments on the mortgage are based on a fixed rate of 6.35%.

(4) We lease various facilities and vehicles under non-cancelable operating leases.

(5) We lease certain other fixed assets under non cancelable leases that we have determined to be capital leases.

(6) Includes imputed interest based on individual capital lease agreements.

(7) Letters of credit included under the credit facilities.

(8) Letters of credit not included under the credit facilities.
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Purchase orders entered into in the ordinary course of business are excluded from the above table. Amounts for which
we are liable under purchase orders are reflected on our Consolidated Balance Sheets (to the extent entered into prior
to the end of the applicable period) as accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements. As of December 29, 2012, we did not have any material off-balance sheet
arrangements.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles requires our management to make judgments and estimates that affect the amounts
reported in our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Our management believes that we
consistently apply these judgments and estimates and the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes
fairly represent all periods presented. However, any differences between these judgments and estimates and actual
results could have a material impact on our Consolidated Statements of Operations and financial position. Critical
accounting estimates, as defined by the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), are those that are most important
to the portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations and require our management’s most difficult and
subjective judgments and estimates of matters that are inherently uncertain. Our critical accounting estimates include
those regarding (1) revenue recognition; (2) allowance for doubtful accounts and related reserves; (3) inventory
valuation; (4) impairment of long-lived assets; (5) income taxes; (6) defined benefit pension plans; and (7)
stock-based compensation. Our significant accounting policies are more fully described in the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue when the following criteria are met: persuasive evidence of an agreement exists, delivery has
occurred or services have been rendered, our price to the buyer is fixed and determinable and collectibility is
reasonably assured. Delivery is not considered to have occurred until the customer takes title and assumes the risks
and rewards of ownership. The timing of revenue recognition is largely dependent on shipping terms. Revenue is
recorded at the time of shipment for terms designated as FOB (free on board) shipping point. For sales transactions
designated FOB destination, revenue is recorded when the product is delivered to the customer’s delivery site.

All revenues are recorded at gross. The key indicators used to determine when and how revenue is recorded are as
follows:

● We are the primary obligor responsible for fulfillment and all other aspects of the customer relationship.

● Title passes to BlueLinx, and we carry all risk of loss related to warehouse, reload inventory and inventory
shipped directly from vendors to our customers.

● We are responsible for all product returns.

● We control the selling price for all channels.

● We select the supplier.

● We bear all credit risk.
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In addition, we provide inventory to certain customers through pre-arranged agreements on a consignment basis.
Customer consigned inventory is maintained and stored by certain customers; however, ownership and risk of loss
remains with us. When the inventory is sold by the customer, we recognize revenue on a gross basis.

All revenues recognized are net of trade allowances, cash discounts and sales returns. Cash discounts and sales returns
are estimated using historical experience. Trade allowances are based on the estimated obligations and historical
experience. Adjustments to earnings resulting from revisions to estimates on discounts and returns have been
insignificant for each of the reported periods.
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Allowance for Doubtful Accounts and Related Reserves

We evaluate the collectability of accounts receivable based on numerous factors, including past transaction history
with customers and their creditworthiness. We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for each aging category
on our aged trial balance based on our historical loss experience. This estimate is periodically adjusted when we
become aware of specific customers’ inability to meet their financial obligations (e.g., bankruptcy filing or other
evidence of liquidity problems). As we determine that specific balances will ultimately be uncollectible, we remove
them from our aged trial balance. Additionally, we maintain reserves for cash discounts that we expect customers to
earn as well as expected returns.

Inventory Valuation

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost or market. The cost of all inventories is determined by the moving average
cost method. We include all charges directly or indirectly incurred in bringing inventory to its existing condition and
location. We evaluate our inventory value at the end of each quarter to ensure that first quality, actively moving
inventory, when viewed by category, is carried at the lower of cost or market.

Additionally, we maintain a reserve for the estimated value impairment associated with damaged, excess and obsolete
inventory. The damaged, excess and obsolete reserve generally includes discontinued items or inventory that has turn
days in excess of 270 days, excluding new items during their product launch.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets, including property and equipment and intangible assets with definite useful lives, are reviewed for
possible impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be
recoverable.

We consider whether there were indicators of potential impairment on a quarterly basis. Indicators of impairment
include current period losses combined with a history of losses, management’s decision to exit a facility, reductions in
the fair market value of real properties and changes in other circumstances that indicate the carrying amount of an
asset may not be recoverable.

Our evaluation of long-lived assets is performed at the lowest level of identifiable cash flows, which is generally the
individual distribution facility. In the event of indicators of impairment, the assets of the distribution facility are
evaluated by comparing the facility’s undiscounted cash flows over the estimated useful life of the asset, which ranges
between 5-40 years, to its carrying value. If the carrying value is greater than the undiscounted cash flows, an
impairment loss is recognized for the difference between the carrying value of the asset and the estimated fair market
value. Impairment losses are recorded as a component of “Selling, general and administrative” expense in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Our estimate of undiscounted cash flows is subject to assumptions that affect estimated operating income at a
distribution facility level. These assumptions are related to future sales, margin growth rates, economic conditions,
market competition and inflation. In the event that undiscounted cash flows do not exceed the carrying value of a
facility, our estimates of fair market value are generally based on market appraisals and our experience with related
market transactions. We use a two year average of cash flows based on 2012 EBITDA and 2013 projected EBITDA,
which includes a growth factor assumption, to estimate undiscounted cash flows. These assumptions used to
determine impairment are considered to be level 3 measurements in the fair value hierarchy as defined in Note 13.
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Our operating results have declined during the past several years as they are closely tied to U.S. housing starts, which
have been at historically low levels. During fiscal 2012, we began to see signs of a housing recovery and our results
have improved, however our sales are still at historically low levels. To the extent that reductions in volume and
operating income have resulted in impairment indicators, in all cases our carrying values continue to be less than our
projected undiscounted cash flows. As such, we have not identified significant known trends impacting the fair value
of long-lived assets to an extent that would indicate impairment.

During the first quarter of fiscal 2011 our Newtown, Connecticut facility was damaged due to severe winter
weather.  As a result of the damage to the facility and its contents, we have received approximately $5.8 million in
proceeds from the insurance company comprised of $2.2 million related to the damaged building, $2.4 million related
to damaged and destroyed inventory and $1.2 million related to the recovery of additional expenses incurred as a
result of the damage. Cash received related to the damaged building was classified as an investing cash inflow in our
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 and used to reduce the principal
of our mortgage, which was classified as a financing cash outflow. All other cash inflows related to the insurance
settlement were classified as operating cash flows in our Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows in the appropriate
period. The majority of the remaining cash inflows were used to fund costs incurred related to the Newtown loss. We
recognized a $1.4 million gain in fiscal 2011 of which $1.2 million related to the damaged building and $0.2 million
related to the recovery of gross margin on the inventory. We recorded an additional gain of $0.5 million related to the
damaged building during the second quarter of 2012. We recorded all gains related to the events above at the time the
recovery of the minimum expected proceeds under our insurance policy became probable and was estimable.  These
gains were recorded in “Selling, general and administrative expenses” in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Income Taxes

The federal statutory income tax rate was 35%. Our provision for (benefit from) income taxes is reconciled to the
federal statutory amount as follows:

Fiscal Year
Ended
December
29,
2012

Fiscal Year
Ended
December
31,
2011

Fiscal Year
Ended
January 1,
2011

(In thousands)
Benefit from income taxes computed at the federal statutory tax rate $(7,924 ) $(13,162 ) $(18,841 )
Benefit from state income taxes, net of federal benefit (866 ) (1,296 ) (2,153 )
Valuation allowance change 8,820 14,498 18,433
Nondeductible items 484 806 3,128
Other (128 ) 116 (1,156 )
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes $386 $962 $(589 )

Our income before provision for income taxes for our Canadian operations was $0.1 million, $0.9 million and
$1.6 million for fiscal 2012, fiscal 2011, and fiscal 2010, respectively.

For fiscal 2012, we recognized tax expense of $0.4 million. The expense recognized for the year is primarily
comprised of $0.3 million for current state income tax expense related to earnings generated on a separate company
basis.

For fiscal 2011, we recognized tax expense of $1.0 million. The expense recognized for the year is primarily
comprised of $0.8 million for current state income tax expense related to earnings generated on a separate company
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basis and $0.3 million of current income tax expense resulting from foreign income taxes.

In accordance with the intraperiod tax allocation provisions of U.S. GAAP, we are required to consider all items
(including items recorded in other comprehensive income) in determining the amount of tax benefit that results from a
loss from continuing operations that should be allocated to continuing operations. In fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, there
was no intraperiod tax allocation due to the fact that there was a loss in other comprehensive income for the period.
While the income tax benefit from continuing operations is reported in our Consolidated Statements of Operations, the
income tax expense on other comprehensive income is recorded directly to accumulated other comprehensive loss,
which is a component of stockholders’ equity.
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As of December 29, 2012, our deferred income tax assets were $79.9 million, which are offset by a full valuation
allowance. Deferred income tax assets and income tax liabilities are recognized for temporary differences between
amounts recorded for financial reporting and income tax purposes. Our financial statements contain certain deferred
tax assets which have arisen primarily as a result of tax benefits associated with the loss before income taxes incurred
during fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, as well as net deferred income tax assets resulting from other temporary
differences related to certain reserves, pension obligations and differences between book and tax depreciation and
amortization. We record a valuation allowance against our net deferred tax assets when we determine that based on
the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that our net deferred tax assets will not be realized. We
considered the four sources of taxable income that should be considered when determining whether a valuation
allowance is required including (from least to most subjective):

● taxable income in prior carryback years, if carryback is permitted under the tax law;

●future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences (i.e., offset gross deferred tax assets against gross deferred
tax liabilities);

●tax planning strategies; and

●future taxable income exclusive of reversing temporary differences and carryforwards.

In estimating future taxable income, we develop assumptions including the amount of future state and federal pretax
operating and non-operating income, the reversal of temporary differences and the implementation of feasible prudent
tax planning strategies. These assumptions require significant judgment about the forecasts of future taxable income.
Substantial changes in these assumptions could result in changes in our judgments around our ability to realize future
tax benefit.

Defined Benefit Pension Plans

We sponsor several defined benefit pension plans covering substantially all of our hourly employees. Our estimates of
the amount and timing of our future funding obligations for our defined benefit pension plans are based upon various
assumptions. These assumptions include, but are not limited to, the discount rate, projected return on plan assets,
compensation increase rates, mortality rates, retirement patterns, and turnover rates. In addition, the amount and
timing of our pension funding obligations can be influenced by funding requirements that are established by the
Employee Retirement Income and Security Act of 1974 (ERISA), the Pension Protection Act, Congressional Acts, or
other governing bodies. During fiscal 2010 and 2011, we met our required contribution to our defined benefit pension
plans.

We recognize the unfunded status (i.e., the difference between the fair value of plan assets and the projected benefit
obligations) of our pension plan in our Consolidated Balance Sheets, with a corresponding adjustment to accumulated
other comprehensive loss. On December 29, 2012, we measured the fair value of our plan assets and benefit
obligations. As of December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the net unfunded status of our benefit plan was
$46.6 million and $35.5 million, respectively. These amounts were included in “Other non-current liabilities” on our
Consolidated Balance Sheets. The net adjustment to other comprehensive loss for fiscal 2012, fiscal 2011, and fiscal
2010 was $8.2 million loss ($8.2 million loss, net of tax, offset by a valuation allowance), $15.0 million loss ($15.0
million loss, net of tax, offset by a valuation allowance), $1.0 million loss ($0.6 million loss, net of tax), respectively,
which represents the net unrecognized actuarial (loss) gain and unrecognized prior service cost.

The Company’s required cash contribution to the pension plan in 2012 was approximately $3.3 million.  The 2012
required contribution was comprised of approximately $1.2 million related to our 2011 minimum required
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contribution and approximately $2.1 million related to our 2012 minimum required contribution.  The Company’s
minimum required contribution for plan year 2012 was $3.2 million.  The Company has funded the $1.2
million related to its 2011 minimum required contribution with cash in 2012.  However, in an effort to preserve
additional cash for operations, we applied for a waiver from the IRS for our 2012 minimum required contribution. 
The waiver is still being reviewed by the IRS.  We have not made the $2.1 million of required 2012 contributions
related to the 2012 minimum required contribution.  If we are granted the requested waiver, our contributions for 2012
will be amortized over the following five years, increasing our future minimum required contributions. We are
currently required to make three quarterly cash contributions during fiscal 2013 of $0.8 million per quarter related to
our 2013 minimum required contribution. We are pursuing contributing personal property to the pension plan during
fiscal 2013.  We will designate the contribution such that it will offset our future minimum required contribution.
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We used a discount rate of 4.24% to compute the projected benefit obligation, which was determined by matching of
plan liability cash flows to a portfolio of bonds.  A change in the discount rate of 25 basis points, from 4.24% to
4.49%, while holding all other assumptions constant, would have resulted in a reduction in the Company’s projected
benefit obligation of approximately $3.7 million in 2012.

We used an estimated rate of future compensation increases of 3.00% to compute the projected benefit obligation.  A
change in the rate of 25 basis points, from 3.00% to 3.25%, while holding all other assumptions constant, would have
resulted in an increase in the Company’s projected benefit obligation of less than $0.2 million in 2012.

Plan assets are managed as a balanced portfolio comprised of two major components: an equity portion and a fixed
income portion. The expected role of plan equity investments will be to maximize the long-term real growth of fund
assets, while the role of fixed income investments will be to generate current income, provide for more stable periodic
returns, and provide some downside protection against the possibility of a prolonged decline in the market value of
equity investments. We review this investment policy statement at least once per year. In addition, the portfolio will
be reviewed quarterly to determine the deviation from target weightings and will be rebalanced as necessary. Target
allocations for fiscal 2013 are 50% domestic and 15% international equity investments, 30% fixed income
investments, and 5% cash. The expected long-term rate of return for the plan’s total assets is based on the expected
return of each of the above categories, weighted based on the target allocation for each class.

Stock-Based Compensation

We recognize compensation expense equal to the grant-date fair value for all share-based payment awards that are
expected to vest. This expense is recorded on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the entire award,
unless the awards are subject to market or performance conditions, in which case we recognize compensation expense
over the requisite service period of each separate vesting tranche to the extent market and performance conditions are
considered probable. The calculation of fair value related to stock compensation is subject to certain assumptions
discussed in more detail in Note 7. Management updates such estimates when circumstances warrant. All
compensation expense related to our share-based payment awards is recorded in “Selling, general and administrative”
expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2011, the FASB issued guidance which amends existing GAAP fair value measurement and disclosure
guidance to converge GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards requirements for measuring amounts at
fair value as well as disclosures about these measurements.  This guidance is effective during interim and annual
periods beginning after December 15, 2011.  This guidance did not have a material impact on our financial statements
and disclosures.

In June 2011, the FASB issued guidance which eliminates the option to present the components of other
comprehensive income as part of the statement of changes in stockholders’ equity.  The update also requires the
presentation of a single statement of comprehensive income or consecutive presentation of the statement of income
and the statement of comprehensive income, if a company elects to present two separate statements. Finally,
reclassification adjustments from other comprehensive income to net income are required to be presented on the face
of the financial statements.  The new guidance and subsequent amendment are effective for fiscal years, and interim
periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2011. We have formally adopted this guidance during fiscal
2012 and presented the total of comprehensive income (loss), the components of net income (loss) and the
components of other comprehensive income (loss) in a single continuous statement on the face of the Consolidated
Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss).
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There were no other accounting pronouncements adopted during fiscal 2012 that had a material impact on our
financial statements.
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ITEM 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

General.  We are exposed to risks such as changes in interest rates, commodity prices and foreign currency exchange
rates. We employ a variety of practices to manage these risks including the use of derivative instruments. Derivative
instruments are used only for risk management purposes and not for speculation or trading, and are not used to address
risks related to foreign currency exchange rates. We record derivative instruments as assets or liabilities on the balance
sheet at fair value. The following discussion provides additional information regarding our market risk exposure.

Interest Rates.  Our revolving credit facilities accrue interest based on a floating benchmark rate (the prime rate or
LIBOR rate), plus an applicable margin.  A change in interest rates under the revolving credit facility would have an
impact on our results of operations. However, a change of 100 basis points in the market rate of interest would have an
impact of $3.8 million and $3.4 million based on borrowings outstanding at December 29, 2012 and December 31,
2011, respectively, which we do not believe to be material. Additionally, to the extent changes in interest rates impact
the housing market, we would be impacted by such changes.

We have a $295 million mortgage loan with the German American Capital Corporation. The mortgage has a term of
ten years and a fixed interest rate of 6.35%. By entering into this fixed rate mortgage, we insulated ourselves from
changes in market interest rates on a portion of our indebtedness. This mortgage replaced our previously existing
$165 million floating rate mortgage, which had a 7.4% interest rate when it was terminated.

Foreign Exchange Rates.  Less than 3.0% of our net sales are denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar,
and we do not believe our total exposure to currency fluctuations to be significant.

Commodity Prices.  We believe that general inflation did not significantly affect our operating results or markets in
fiscal 2012, fiscal 2011 or fiscal 2010. As discussed above, our results of operations were both favorably and
unfavorably impacted by increases and decreases in the pricing of certain commodity-based products. Commodity
price fluctuations have from time to time created cyclicality in our financial performance and may do so in the
future.  For the year ended December 29, 2012, we believe that a 5% change in the prices underlying our commodity
based products would have resulted in a $40.3 million, $36.5 million and $3.9 million change in revenue, cost of sales
and gross margin, respectively.  For the year ended December 31, 2011, we believe that a 5% change in the prices
underlying our commodity based products would result in a $35.3 million, $32.0 million and $3.3 million change in
revenue, cost of sales and gross margin, respectively.
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BLUELINX HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

To the Stockholders of BlueLinx Holdings Inc.:

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as
defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Our internal control over financial
reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance to our management and board of directors regarding the
preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements.

Our management, including our chief executive officer and our chief financial officer, does not expect that our
internal controls over financial reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud. Internal controls, no matter how well
designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the internal controls
are met. Given the inherent limitations of internal controls, internal controls over financial reporting may not prevent
or detect all misstatements or fraud. Therefore, no evaluation of internal control can provide absolute assurance that
all control issues or instances of fraud will be prevented or detected.

Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 29, 2012. In
making this assessment, management used the criteria established by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission set forth in Internal Control — Integrated Framework. Based on our assessment, our
management concluded that, as of December 29, 2012, our internal control over financial reporting was effective.

Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm that audited our consolidated financial
statements as of and for the year ended December 29, 2012 included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, has issued
an attestation report on our internal control over financial reporting as of December 29, 2012, dated February 20,
2013.

February 20, 2013

39

Edgar Filing: LKQ CORP - Form DEF 14A

84



Table of Contents

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ON INTERNAL
CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of BlueLinx Holdings Inc. and subsidiaries

We have audited BlueLinx Holdings Inc. and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of December 29,
2012, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). BlueLinx Holdings Inc. and subsidiaries’
management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of
the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining
an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, BlueLinx Holdings Inc. and subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control
over financial reporting as of December 29, 2012, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the 2012 Consolidated Financial Statements of BlueLinx Holdings Inc. and subsidiaries and our report dated
February 20, 2013 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

                           /s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
February 20, 2013
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ON THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of BlueLinx Holdings Inc. and subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of BlueLinx Holdings Inc. and subsidiaries as of
December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive
loss, stockholders’ (deficit) equity, and cash flows for the fiscal years ended December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011,
and January 1, 2011.  These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.  Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of BlueLinx Holdings Inc. and subsidiaries at December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011, and the
consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for the fiscal years ended December 29, 2012, December
31, 2011, and January 1, 2011, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), BlueLinx Holdings Inc. and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of December 29, 2012,
based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 20, 2013 expressed an unqualified opinion
thereon.

                           /s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
February 20, 2013
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BLUELINX HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 29,
2012

December 31,
2011

(In thousands, except share data)
ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 5,188 $ 4,898
Receivables, less allowances of $4,720 in fiscal 2012 and $5,135 in fiscal
2011 157,465 138,872
Inventories, net 230,059 185,577
Other current assets 19,427 27,141
Total current assets 412,139 356,488
Property and equipment:
Land and improvements 43,120 49,562
Buildings 94,070 95,652
Machinery and equipment 78,674 75,508
Construction in progress 1,173 741
Property and equipment, at cost 217,037 221,463
Accumulated depreciation (101,684 ) (98,335 )
Property and equipment, net 115,353 123,128
Non-current deferred income tax assets, net 445 358
Other non-current assets 16,799 23,941
Total assets $ 544,736 $ 503,915

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ (DEFICIT) EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 77,850 $ 70,228
Bank overdrafts 35,384 22,364
Accrued compensation 6,170 4,496
Current maturities of long-term debt 8,946 9,046
Deferred income taxes, net 449 382
Other current liabilities 10,937 16,558
Total current liabilities 139,736 123,074
Non-current liabilities:
Long-term debt 368,446 328,695
Other non-current liabilities 57,146 43,772
Total liabilities 565,328 495,541
STOCKHOLDERS’ (DEFICIT) EQUITY
Common Stock, $0.01 par value, 200,000,000 and 100,000,000 shares
authorized at December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively;
63,664,115 and 62,012,962 shares issued and outstanding at December 29,
2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively 637 620
Additional  paid-in-capital 209,815 207,626
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (30,042 ) (21,900 )
Accumulated deficit (201,002 ) (177,972 )
Total stockholders’ (deficit) equity (20,592 ) 8,374
Total liabilities and stockholders’ (deficit) equity $ 544,736 $ 503,915
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BLUELINX HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND
COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Fiscal Year
Ended
December
29,
2012

Fiscal Year
Ended
December 31,
2011

Fiscal Year
Ended
January 1,
2011

(In thousands, except per share data)
Net sales $1,907,842 $ 1,755,431 $1,804,418
Cost of sales 1,677,772 1,545,282 1,593,745
Gross profit 230,070 210,149 210,673
Operating expenses:
Selling, general, and administrative 215,996 207,857 221,185
Depreciation and amortization 8,565 10,562 13,365
Total operating expenses 224,561 218,419 234,550
Operating income (loss) 5,509 (8,270 ) (23,877 )
Non-operating expenses (income):
Interest expense 28,157 30,510 33,788
Changes associated with the ineffective interest rate swap — (1,676 ) (4,603 )
Write-off of debt issue costs — — 183
Other (income) expense, net (7 ) 501 587
Loss before provision for (benefit from) income taxes (22,641 ) (37,605 ) (53,832 )
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 386 962 (589 )
Net loss $(23,027 ) $ (38,567 ) $(53,243 )

Basic and diluted weighted average number of common shares
outstanding 60,080 43,187 30,688
Basic and diluted net loss per share applicable to common shares
outstanding $(0.38 ) $ (0.89 ) $(1.73 )

Comprehensive loss:
Net loss $(23,027 ) $ (38,567 ) $(53,243 )
Other comprehensive loss:
Foreign currency translation, net of taxes 103 (92 ) 336
Unrealized loss from pension plan, net of taxes (8,245 ) (14,969 ) (616 )
Unrealized gain from ineffective interest rate swap, net of taxes — 519 1,297
Total other comprehensive loss (8,142 ) (14,542 ) 1,017
Comprehensive loss $(31,169 ) $ (53,109 ) $(52,226 )
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BLUELINX HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Fiscal
Year
Ended
December
29,
2012

Fiscal
Year
Ended
December
31,
2011

Fiscal
Year
Ended
January 1, 
2011

(In thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $(23,027 ) $ (38,567 ) $ (53,243 )
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash used in operations:
Depreciation and amortization 8,565 10,562 13,365
Amortization of debt issue costs 3,746 2,940 1,963
Payments from terminating the Georgia-Pacific Supply
Agreement — — 4,706
Gain from sale of properties (9,885 ) (10,604 ) —
Gain from property insurance settlements (476 ) (1,230 ) —
Changes associated with the ineffective interest rate swap — (1,676 ) (4,603 )
Write-off of debt issue costs — — 183
Vacant property charges, net (30 ) (291 ) 53
Gain on modification of lease agreement — (1,971 ) —
Payments on modification on lease agreement (5,875 ) — —
Deferred income tax benefit (20 ) (25 ) (600 )
Share-based compensation 2,797 1,974 3,978
Decrease in restricted cash related to the ineffective interest
rate swap, insurance, and other 695 987 6,556
Changes in assets and liabilities:
 Receivables (18,593 ) (19,670 ) 145
 Inventories (44,482 ) 2,673 (15,065 )
 Accounts payable 9,050 5,973 (1,791 )
 Changes in other working capital 1,722 (375 ) 15,452
 Other 1,563 (1,032 ) (960 )
Net cash used in operating activities (74,250 ) (50,332 ) (29,861 )
Cash flows from investing activities:
Property, plant and equipment investments (2,826 ) (6,533 ) (4,140 )
Proceeds from disposition of assets 19,195 18,355 711
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 16,369 11,822 (3,429 )
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repurchase of common stock — — (583 )
Repurchase of shares to satisfy employee tax withholdings (526 ) — —
Repayments on revolving credit facilities (473,349 ) (478,630 ) (466,219 )
Borrowings from revolving credit facilities 550,270 475,918 507,419
Principal payments on mortgage (37,272 ) (42,416 ) —
Payments on capital lease obligations (2,259 ) (1,440 ) (629 )
Increase (decrease) in bank overdrafts 13,020 (725 ) (4,143 )
Decrease (increase) in restricted cash related to the mortgage 9,970 20,604 (11,201 )
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Debt financing costs (1,683 ) (2,721 ) (6,521 )
Proceeds from stock offering less expenses paid — 58,521 —
Other — — 7
Net cash provided by financing activities 58,171 29,111 18,130
Increase (decrease) in cash 290 (9,399 ) (15,160 )
Cash and cash equivalents balance, beginning of period 4,898 14,297 29,457
Cash and cash equivalents balance, end of period $5,188 $ 4,898 $ 14,297
Supplemental Cash Flow Information
Net income tax (payments) refunds during the period $(508 ) $ (22 ) $ 19,983
Interest paid during the period $24,288 $ 28,098 $ 31,675
Noncash transactions:
Capital leases $5,238 $ 3,131 $ 1,889
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BLUELINX HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ (DEFICIT) EQUITY

Accumulated Stockholders’
Additional Other (Deficit)

Common Stock Paid-In- Comprehensive Accumulated Equity

Shares Amount Capital
Income
(Loss) Deficit Total

(In thousands)
Balance, January 2, 2010 32,179 322 145,035 (8,375 ) (86,162 ) 50,820
Net loss — — — — (53,243 ) (53,243 )
Foreign currency
translation adjustment,
net of tax — — — 336 — 336
Unrealized loss from
pension plan, net of tax — — — (616 ) — (616 )
Unrealized gain from
cash flow hedge, net of
tax — — — 1,297 — 1,297
Issuance of restricted
stock, net of forfeitures 688 7 — — — 7
Repurchase of common
stock (199 ) (2 ) (581 ) — — (583 )
Compensation related to
share-based grants — — 3,876 — — 3,876
Reclassification of equity
awards to liability — — (903 ) — — (903 )
Balance, January 1, 2011 32,668 327 147,427 (7,358 ) (139,405 ) 991
Net loss — — — — (38,567 ) (38,567 )
Foreign currency
translation adjustment,
net of tax — — — (92 ) — (92 )
Unrealized loss from
pension plan, net of tax — — — (14,969 ) — (14,969 )
Unrealized gain from
cash flow hedge, net of
tax — — — 519 — 519
Issuance of restricted
stock, net of forfeitures 774 7 — — — 7
Issuance of stock related
to the rights offering, net
of expenses 28,571 286 58,235 — — 58,521
Compensation related to
share-based grants — — 2,158 — — 2,158
Impact of net settled
shares for vested grants — — (194 ) — — (194 )
Balance, December 31,
2011 62,013 620 207,626 (21,900 ) (177,972 ) 8,374
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Net loss — — — — (23,027 ) (23,027 )
Foreign currency
translation adjustment,
net of tax — — — 103 — 103
Unrealized loss from
pension plan, net of tax — — — (8,245 ) — (8,245 )
Issuance of restricted
stock, net of forfeitures 1,875 19 — — — 19
Compensation related to
share-based grants — — 2,730 — — 2,730
Impact of net settled
shares for vested grants (224 ) (2 ) (524 ) — — (526 )
Other — — (17 ) — (3 ) (20 )
Balance, December 29,
2012 63,664 $ 637 $ 209,815 $ (30,042 ) $ (201,002 ) $ (20,592 )
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BLUELINX HOLDINGS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.  Basis of Presentation and Background

Basis of Presentation

BlueLinx Holdings Inc., operating through our wholly-owned subsidiary, BlueLinx Corporation (BlueLinx Holdings
Inc. and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as “BlueLinx” or the “Company”), is a leading distributor of building
products in the United States. We operate in all of the major metropolitan areas in the United States and, as of
December 29, 2012, we distributed more than 10,000 products to approximately 11,500 customers through our
network of approximately 55 distribution centers. The Consolidated Financial Statements include our accounts and
those of our wholly-owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.
Our fiscal year is a 52 or 53-week period ending on the Saturday closest to the end of the calendar year. Fiscal 2012,
fiscal 2011, and fiscal 2010 each contained 52 weeks.

Nature of Operations

We are a wholesale supplier of building products in North America. We distribute products in two principal
categories: structural products and specialty products. Structural products include plywood, oriented strand board
(“OSB”), rebar and remesh, lumber and other wood products primarily used for structural support, walls and flooring in
construction projects. Specialty products include roofing, insulation, moulding, engineered wood, vinyl products (used
primarily in siding), outdoor living and metal products (excluding rebar and remesh). These products are sold to a
diversified customer base, including independent building materials dealers, industrial and manufactured housing
builders and home improvement centers. Net sales by product category are summarized below:

Fiscal Year
Ended
December 29,
2012

Fiscal Year
Ended
December 31,
2011

Fiscal Year
Ended
January 1,
2011

(Dollars in millions)
Sales by category
Structural products $ 806 $ 705 $ 835
Specialty products 1,114 1,068 985
Unallocated allowances and adjustments (12 ) (18 ) (16 )
Total sales $ 1,908 $ 1,755 $ 1,804

Suppliers

As of December 29, 2012, our vendor base included over 750 suppliers of both structural and specialty building
products. In some cases, these products are branded. We have supply contracts in place with many of our vendors.
Terms for these agreements frequently include prompt payment discounts and freight allowances and occasionally
include volume discounts, growth incentives, marketing allowances, consigned inventory and extended payment
terms.

On February 12, 2012, our three-year purchase agreement with Georgia-Pacific Corporation (“G-P”) for engineered
lumber expired in accordance with its terms.  We continue to distribute a variety of G-P building products, but no
longer are contractually obligated to make minimum purchases of products from G-P or to purchase certain products
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2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue when the following criteria are met: persuasive evidence of an agreement exists, delivery has
occurred or services have been rendered, our price to the buyer is fixed and determinable and collectibility is
reasonably assured. Delivery is not considered to have occurred until the customer takes title and assumes the risks
and rewards of ownership. The timing of revenue recognition is largely dependent on shipping terms. Revenue is
recorded at the time of shipment for terms designated as FOB (free on board) shipping point. For sales transactions
designated FOB destination, revenue is recorded when the product is delivered to the customer’s delivery site.
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All revenues are recorded at gross. The key indicators used to determine when and how revenue is recorded are as
follows:

●           We are the primary obligor responsible for fulfillment and all other aspects of the customer relationship.

●          Title passes to BlueLinx and we carry all risk of loss related to warehouse, reload inventory and inventory
shipped directly from vendors to our customers.

●           We are responsible for all product returns.

●           We control the selling price for all channels.

●           We select the supplier.

●           We bear all credit risk.

In addition, we provide inventory to certain customers through pre-arranged agreements on a consignment basis.
Customer consigned inventory is maintained and stored by certain customers; however, ownership and risk of loss
remains with us. Customer consigned inventory at December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011 was approximately
$10.3 million. When the inventory is sold by the customer, we recognize revenue on a gross basis.

All revenues recognized are net of trade allowances, cash discounts and sales returns. Cash discounts and sales returns
are estimated using historical experience. Trade allowances are based on the estimated obligations and historical
experience. Adjustments to revenue and earnings resulting from revisions to estimates on discounts and returns have
been immaterial for each of the reported periods.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include all highly-liquid investments with maturity dates of less than three months when
purchased.
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Restricted Cash

We had restricted cash of $9.9 million and $20.6 million at December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively.
Restricted cash primarily includes amounts held in escrow related to our mortgage and insurance for workers’
compensation, auto liability, and general liability. Restricted cash is included in “Other current assets” and “Other
non-current assets” on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The table below provides the balances of each individual component in restricted cash as of December 29, 2012 and
December 31, 2011 (in thousands):

At
December
29,
2012

At
December
31,
2011

Cash in escrow:
Mortgage $41 $10,011
Insurance 7,906 8,786
Other 1,964 1,779
Total $9,911 $20,576

During fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010, changes in restricted cash required under our mortgage were classified in the
financing section of our Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows.  On September 19, 2012, we entered into an
amendment to our mortgage agreement, which provided for the immediate prepayment of approximately $11.8
million of the indebtedness under the mortgage agreement without incurring a prepayment premium from cash
currently held as collateral under the mortgage agreement.  In addition, on the last business day of each calendar
quarter, starting with the fourth quarter of 2012, additional funds held as collateral under the mortgage agreement will
be used to prepay indebtedness under the mortgage agreement, without prepayment premium, up to an aggregate
additional prepayment of $10.0 million.  Thereafter, any cash remaining in the collateral account under the mortgage
agreement, up to an aggregate of $10.0 million, will be released to the Company on the last business day of each
calendar quarter through the second quarter of 2014.  

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Our accounts receivable are principally from customers in the building products industry located in the United States
and Canada. We believe concentration of credit risk with respect to accounts receivable is limited due to the large
number of customers comprising our customer base.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts and Related Reserves

We evaluate the collectability of accounts receivable based on numerous factors, including past transaction history
with customers and their creditworthiness. We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for each aging category
on our aged trial balance, which is aged utilizing contractual terms, based on our historical loss experience. This
estimate is periodically adjusted when we become aware of specific customers’ inability to meet their financial
obligations (e.g., bankruptcy filing or other evidence of liquidity problems). As we determine that specific balances
ultimately will be uncollectible, we remove them from our aged trial balance. Additionally, we maintain reserves for
cash discounts that we expect customers to earn as well as expected returns. At December 29, 2012 and December 31,
2011, these reserves totaled $4.7 million and $5.1 million, respectively. Adjustments to earnings resulting from
revisions to estimates on discounts and uncollectible accounts have been immaterial.
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Inventory Valuation

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost or market. The cost of all inventories is determined by the moving average
cost method. We have included all material charges directly or indirectly incurred in bringing inventory to its existing
condition and location. We evaluate our inventory value at the end of each quarter to ensure that first quality, actively
moving inventory, when viewed by category, is carried at the lower of cost or market. At December 29, 2012 and
December 31, 2011, the market value of our inventory exceeded its cost.  Adjustments to earnings resulting from
revisions to lower of cost or market estimates have been immaterial.
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Additionally, we maintain a reserve for the estimated value impairment associated with damaged, excess and obsolete
inventory. The damaged, excess and obsolete reserve generally includes discontinued items or inventory that has turn
days in excess of 270 days, excluding new items during their product launch. At December 29, 2012 and December
31, 2011, our damaged, excess and obsolete inventory reserves were $1.1 million and $1.5 million, respectively.
Adjustments to earnings resulting from revisions to damaged, excess and obsolete estimates have been immaterial.

Consignment Inventory

We enter into consignment inventory agreements with vendors. This vendor consignment inventory relationship
allows us to obtain and store vendor inventory at our warehouses and third-party (“reload”) facilities; however,
ownership and risk of loss generally remains with the vendor. When the inventory is sold, we are required to pay the
vendor and we simultaneously take and transfer ownership from the vendor to the customer.

Consideration Received from Vendors and Paid to Customers

Each year, we enter into agreements with many of our vendors providing for inventory purchase rebates, generally
based on achievement of specified volume purchasing levels and various marketing allowances that are common
industry practice. We accrue for the receipt of vendor rebates based on purchases, and also reduce inventory to reflect
the net acquisition cost (purchase price less expected purchase rebates). At December 29, 2012 and December 31,
2011, the vendor rebate receivable totaled $9.0 million. Adjustments to earnings resulting from revisions to rebate
estimates have been immaterial.

In addition, we enter into agreements with many of our customers to offer customer rebates, generally based on
achievement of specified volume sales levels and various marketing allowances that are common industry practice.
We accrue for the payment of customer rebates based on sales to the customer, and also reduce sales to reflect the net
sales (sales price less expected customer rebates). At December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the customer rebate
payable totaled $5.5 million and $7.0 million, respectively. Adjustments to earnings resulting from revisions to rebate
estimates have been immaterial.

Shipping and Handling

Amounts billed to customers in sales transactions related to shipping and handling are classified as revenue. Shipping
and handling costs included in “Selling, general, and administrative” expenses were $91.2 million, $87.9 million, and
$85.5 million for fiscal 2012, fiscal 2011, and fiscal 2010, respectively.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expenses of $1.1 million, $1.9 million, and $1.8 million were
included in “Selling, general and administrative” expenses for fiscal 2012, fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2010, respectively.

Loss per Common Share

We calculate our basic loss per share by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of common shares and
participating securities outstanding for the period. Restricted stock granted by us to certain management employees
and non-employee directors participate in dividends on the same basis as common shares and are non-forfeitable by
the holder. The unvested restricted stock contains non-forfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents. As a
result, these share-based awards meet the definition of a participating security and are included in the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding, pursuant to the two-class method, for the periods that present net
income. The two-class method is an earnings allocation formula that treats a participating security as having rights to
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earnings that would otherwise have been available to common stockholders. Given that the restricted stockholders do
not have a contractual obligation to participate in the losses, we have not included these amounts in our weighted
average number of common shares outstanding for periods in which we report a net loss. In addition, because the
inclusion of such unvested restricted shares in our basic and dilutive per share calculations would be anti-dilutive, we
have not included 3,554,738, 2,361,424, and 1,914,288 of unvested restricted shares that had the right to participate in
dividends in our basic and dilutive calculations for fiscal 2012, fiscal 2011, and fiscal 2010, respectively, because all
periods reflected net losses.

Except when the effect would be anti-dilutive, the diluted earnings per share calculation includes the dilutive effect of
the assumed exercise of stock options using the treasury stock method. As we experienced losses in all periods, basic
and diluted loss per share are computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding for the period. For fiscal 2012, fiscal 2011, and fiscal 2010, we excluded 4,460,054, 3,266,740, and
2,839,103 unvested share-based awards, respectively, from the diluted earnings per share calculation because they
were anti-dilutive. The unvested share-based awards total includes excluding the assumed exercise of unexpired stock
options.
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During fiscal 2008, we granted 834,071 performance shares under our 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan, under which
shares are issuable upon satisfaction of certain performance criteria. On December 14, 2010, the Compensation
Committee of our Board decided to settle these awards in cash, and we classified them as liability awards at the time
of the modification. During fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2012, restricted stock units granted in fiscal 2006 and 2007
respectively, vested. These restricted stock units were also settled in cash upon vesting and were considered liability
awards. Therefore, these are not included in the computation of the basic and diluted earnings per share.

Common Stock Dividends

In the past we have paid dividends on our common stock at the quarterly rate of $0.125 per share. However, on
December 5, 2007, our Board of Directors suspended the payment of dividends on our common stock for an indefinite
period of time. Resumption of the payment of dividends will depend on, among other things, business conditions in
the housing industry, our results of operations, cash requirements, financial condition, contractual restrictions,
provisions of applicable law and other factors that our Board of Directors may deem relevant. Accordingly, we may
not be able to resume the payment of dividends at the same quarterly rate in the future, if at all.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Lease obligations for which we assume or retain substantially all the
property rights and risks of ownership are capitalized. Replacements of major units of property are capitalized and the
replaced properties are retired. Replacements of minor components of property and repair and maintenance costs are
charged to expense as incurred.

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. Useful
lives are 2 to 18 years for land improvements, 5 to 40 years for buildings, and 3 to 7 years for machinery and
equipment, which includes mobile equipment. Upon retirement or disposition of assets, cost and accumulated
depreciation are removed from the related accounts and any gain or loss is included in income. Depreciation expense
totaled $8.4 million for fiscal 2012, $10.4 million for fiscal 2011 and $12.8 million for fiscal 2010.

During fiscal 2012, we sold certain properties with carrying values of $7.4 million, which resulted in gains totaling
$9.9 million.  During fiscal 2011, we sold certain properties with carrying values of $4.8 million, which resulted in
gains totaling $10.6 million.  These gains are recorded in “Selling, general and administrative” expense in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations.  All of these properties in fiscal 2012 were classified as held for sale.  All but
one of these properties in fiscal 2011, which had a carrying value of $0.8 million and for which a gain of $5.4 million
was recorded, were classified as held for sale.  See Note 4 for discussion of the held for sale properties sold during the
year.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets, including property and equipment and intangible assets with definite useful lives, are reviewed for
possible impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be
recoverable.

We consider whether there were indicators of potential impairment on a quarterly basis. Indicators of impairment
include current period losses combined with a history of losses, management’s decision to exit a facility, reductions in
the fair market value of real properties and changes in other circumstances that indicate the carrying amount of an
asset may not be recoverable.
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Our evaluation of long-lived assets is performed at the lowest level of identifiable cash flows, which is generally the
individual distribution facility. In the event of indicators of impairment, the assets of the distribution facility are
evaluated by comparing the facility’s undiscounted cash flows over the estimated useful life of the asset, which ranges
between 5-40 years, to its carrying value. If the carrying value is greater than the undiscounted cash flows, an
impairment loss is recognized for the difference between the carrying value of the asset and the estimated fair market
value. Impairment losses are recorded as a component of “Selling, general and administrative” expense in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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Our estimate of undiscounted cash flows is subject to assumptions that affect estimated operating income at a
distribution facility level. These assumptions are related to future sales, margin growth rates, economic conditions,
market competition and inflation. In the event that undiscounted cash flows do not exceed the carrying value of a
facility, our estimates of fair market value are generally based on market appraisals and our experience with related
market transactions. We use a two year average of cash flows based on 2012 EBITDA and 2013 projected EBITDA,
which includes a growth factor assumption, to estimate undiscounted cash flows. These assumptions used to
determine impairment are considered to be level 3 measurements in the fair value hierarchy as defined in Note 13.

Our operating results have declined during the past several years as they are closely tied to U.S. housing starts, which
have been at historically low levels. During fiscal 2012, we began to see signs of a housing recovery and our results
have improved, however our sales are still at historically low levels. To the extent that reductions in volume and
operating income have resulted in impairment indicators, in all cases our carrying values continue to be less than our
projected undiscounted cash flows. As such, we have not identified significant known trends impacting the fair value
of long-lived assets to an extent that would indicate impairment.

During the first quarter of fiscal 2011 our Newtown, Connecticut facility was damaged due to severe winter
weather.  As a result of the damage to the facility and its contents, we have received approximately $5.8 million in
proceeds from the insurance company comprised of $2.2 million related to the damaged building, $2.4 million related
to damaged and destroyed inventory and $1.2 million related to the recovery of additional expenses incurred as a
result of the damage. Cash received related to the damaged building was classified as an investing cash inflow in our
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 and used to reduce the principal
of our mortgage, which was classified as a financing cash outflow. All other cash inflows related to the insurance
settlement were classified as operating cash flows in our Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows in the appropriate
period. The majority of the remaining cash inflows were used to fund costs incurred related to the Newtown loss. We
recognized a $1.4 million gain in fiscal 2011 of which $1.2 million related to the damaged building and $0.2 million
related to the recovery of gross margin on the inventory. We recorded an additional gain of $0.5 million related to the
damaged building during the second quarter of 2012. We recorded all gains related to the events above at the time the
recovery of the minimum expected proceeds under our insurance policy became probable and was estimable.  These
gains were recorded in “Selling, general and administrative expenses” in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Stock-Based Compensation

We recognize compensation expense equal to the grant-date fair value for all share-based payment awards that are
expected to vest. This expense is recorded on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the entire award,
unless the awards are subject to market or performance conditions, in which case we recognize compensation expense
over the requisite service period of each separate vesting tranche to the extent market and performance conditions are
considered probable. The calculation of fair value related to stock compensation is subject to certain assumptions
discussed in more detail in Note 7. Management updates such estimates when circumstances warrant. All
compensation expense related to our share-based payment awards is recorded in “Selling, general and administrative”
expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are provided using the liability method. Accordingly, deferred income taxes are recognized for
differences between the income tax and financial reporting bases of our assets and liabilities based on enacted tax laws
and tax rates applicable to the periods in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income. We recognize a
valuation allowance, when based on the weight of all available evidence, we believe it is more likely than not that
some or all of our deferred tax assets will not be realized. Such amounts are disclosed in Note 5.
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We generally believe that the positions taken on previously filed tax returns are more likely than not to be sustained
by the taxing authorities. We have recorded income tax and related interest liabilities where we believe our position
may not be sustained. Such amounts are disclosed in Note 5.
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Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency for our Canadian operations is the Canadian dollar. The translation of the applicable
currencies into United States dollars is performed for balance sheet accounts using current exchange rates in effect at
the balance sheet date and for revenue and expense accounts using a weighted average exchange rate during the
period. Any related translation adjustments are recorded directly in stockholders’ equity. Foreign currency transaction
gains and losses are reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Accumulated other comprehensive loss at
December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011 included the accumulated gain from foreign currency translation (net of
tax) of $1.8 million and $1.7 million, respectively.

Compensated Absences

We accrue for the costs of compensated absences to the extent that the employee’s right to receive payment relates to
service already rendered, the obligation vests or accumulates, payment is probable and the amount can be reasonably
estimated.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”)
requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements, as well as reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could
differ from these estimates and such differences could be material.

Reclassifications

During fiscal 2012, we classified certain amounts, which had historically been presented as “Property, plant and
equipment investments” in the “Cash flows from investing activities” section of the Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flows to “Other” changes in the “Cash flows from operating activities” section of the Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flows. To conform the historical presentation to the current and future presentation, we reclassified similar items in
prior periods from “Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities” to “Net cash used in operating activities” in our
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

New Accounting Standards

In May 2011, the FASB issued guidance which amends existing GAAP fair value measurement and disclosure
guidance to converge GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards requirements for measuring amounts at
fair value as well as disclosures about these measurements.  This guidance is effective during interim and annual
periods beginning after December 15, 2011.  This guidance did not have a material impact on our financial statements
and disclosures.

In June 2011, the FASB issued guidance which eliminates the option to present the components of other
comprehensive income as part of the statement of changes in stockholders’ equity.  The update also requires the
presentation of a single statement of comprehensive income or consecutive presentation of the statement of income
and the statement of comprehensive income, if a company elects to present two separate statements. Finally,
reclassification adjustments from other comprehensive income to net income are required to be presented on the face
of the financial statements.  The new guidance and subsequent amendment are effective for fiscal years, and interim
periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2011. We have formally adopted this guidance during fiscal
2012 and presented the total of comprehensive income (loss), the components of net income (loss) and the
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Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss).
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There were no other accounting pronouncements adopted during fiscal 2012 that had a material impact on our
financial statements.

3.  Restructuring Charges

We account for exit and disposal costs by recognizing a liability for costs associated with an exit or disposal activity at
fair value in the period in which it is incurred or when the entity ceases using the right conveyed by a contract (i.e., the
right to use a leased property). These costs are included in “Selling, general, and administrative” expenses in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations and “Other current liabilities” and “Other non-current liabilities” on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets for the fiscal years ended and at December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011.

We account for severance and outplacement costs by recognizing a liability for employees’ rights to post-employment
benefits. These costs are included in “Selling, general, and administrative” expenses in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations and in “Accrued compensation” on the Consolidated Balance Sheets for the fiscal years ended and at
December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011.

2007 Facility Consolidation and Severance Costs

During fiscal 2007, we announced a plan to adjust our cost structure in order to manage our costs more effectively.
The plan included the consolidation of our corporate headquarters and sales center to one building from two buildings
and reduction in force initiatives, which resulted in certain charges recorded in “Selling, general, and administrative”
expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007.

 As of December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011, there was no remaining accrued severance related to reduction in
force initiatives completed in fiscal 2007.

During the third quarter of fiscal 2011, we entered into an amendment to our corporate headquarters lease in Atlanta,
Georgia related to the unoccupied 4100 building.  This amendment released us from our obligations with respect to
this unoccupied space as of January 31, 2012, in exchange for a $5.0 million space remittance fee, which was paid in
the first quarter of 2012.  We also paid $0.9 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2012 and are obligated to pay an
additional $0.3 million on or before December 31, 2013 related to contractually obligated tenant improvement
reimbursement expense.  The provisions relating to the occupied 4300 building remain unchanged.  Under the existing
provisions, the current term of the lease ends on January 31, 2019.

The table below summarizes the balance of accrued facility consolidation reserve and the changes in the accrual for
fiscal 2012 (in thousands):

Balance at December 31, 2011 $6,337
Payments (6,084 )
Other assumption changes (30 )
Accretion of liability 79
Balance at December 29, 2012 $302

4.  Assets Held for Sale and Net Gain on Disposition

As part of our efforts to improve our cost structure and cash flow, we closed certain facilities and designated them as
assets held for sale. At the time of designation, we ceased recognizing depreciation expense on these assets. As of
December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011, total assets held for sale were $1.6 million and $2.3 million, respectively,
and were included in “Other current assets” in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. During fiscal 2012, we sold certain real
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properties held for sale, which had a total carrying value of $7.4 million, that resulted in a $9.9 million gain recorded
in “Selling, general, and administrative” expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.  During fiscal 2011, we
sold certain real properties held for sale, which had a total carrying value of $4.0 million, that resulted in a
$5.2 million gain recorded in “Selling, general, and administrative” expenses in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations.  We continue to actively market the remaining properties that are held for sale. Due to the fact that as of
December 29, 2012 the remaining properties are all land, depreciation expense is not impacted.
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5.  Income Taxes

Our provision for (benefit from) income taxes consists of the following:

Fiscal Year
Ended
December 29,
2012

Fiscal Year
Ended
December 31,
2011

Fiscal Year
Ended
January 1,
2011

(In thousands)
Federal income taxes:
Current $16 $ (89 ) $(637 )
Deferred — — (556 )
State income taxes:
Current 334 759 (145 )
Deferred — — (100 )
Foreign income taxes:
Current 56 317 793
Deferred (20 ) (25 ) 56
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes $386 $ 962 $(589 )

The federal statutory income tax rate was 35%. Our provision for (benefit from) income taxes is reconciled to the
federal statutory amount as follows:

Fiscal Year
Ended
December
29,
2012

Fiscal Year
Ended
December
31,
2011

Fiscal Year
Ended
January 1,
2011

(In thousands)
Benefit from income taxes computed at the federal statutory tax rate $(7,924 ) $(13,162 ) $(18,841 )
Benefit from state income taxes, net of federal benefit (866 ) (1,296 ) (2,153 )
Valuation allowance change 8,820 14,498 18,433
Nondeductible items 484 806 3,128
Other (128 ) 116 (1,156 )
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes $386 $962 $(589 )

Our income before provision for income taxes for our Canadian operations was $0.1 million, $0.9 million and
$1.6 million for fiscal 2012, fiscal 2011, and fiscal 2010, respectively.

For fiscal 2012, we recognized tax expense of $0.4 million. The expense recognized for the year is primarily
comprised of $0.3 million for current state income tax expense related to earnings generated on a separate company
basis.

For fiscal 2011, we recognized tax expense of $1.0 million. The expense recognized for the year is primarily
comprised of $0.8 million for current state income tax expense related to earnings generated on a separate company
basis and $0.3 million of current income tax expense resulting from foreign income taxes.

In accordance with the intraperiod tax allocation provisions of U.S. GAAP, we are required to consider all items
(including items recorded in other comprehensive income) in determining the amount of tax benefit that results from a
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loss from continuing operations that should be allocated to continuing operations. In fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, there
was no intraperiod tax allocation due to the fact that there was a loss in other comprehensive income for the period.
While the income tax benefit from continuing operations is reported in our Consolidated Statements of Operations, the
income tax expense on other comprehensive income is recorded directly to accumulated other comprehensive loss,
which is a component of stockholders’ equity.

Our financial statements contain certain deferred tax assets which have arisen primarily as a result of tax benefits
associated with the loss before income taxes incurred, as well as net deferred income tax assets resulting from other
temporary differences related to certain reserves, pension obligations and differences between book and tax
depreciation and amortization. We record a valuation allowance against our net deferred tax assets when we determine
that based on the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that our net deferred tax assets will not be
realized.
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In our evaluation of the weight of available evidence, we considered recent reported losses as negative evidence which
carried substantial weight. Therefore, we considered evidence related to the four sources of taxable income, to
determine whether such positive evidence outweighed the negative evidence associated with the losses incurred. The
positive evidence considered included:

   ●taxable income in prior carryback years, if carryback is permitted under the tax law;

   ●future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences

   ●tax planning strategies; and

   ●future taxable income exclusive of reversing temporary differences and carryforwards.

During the first quarter of fiscal 2009, we evaluated the weight of available positive and negative evidence relative to
changes in the environment during the first quarter of 2009. In late March and April, subsequent to the filing of the
fiscal 2008 10-K, we experienced a substantial drop in revenue compared to expectations. As such, these changes in
our internal assumptions and the revised external expectations of 2009 housing starts resulted in a change in our
projections from cumulative pretax income to cumulative pretax loss for the three year period ended 2010, causing us
to conclude that, as of April 4, 2009, the weight of the positive evidence was no longer sufficient to overcome the
weight of the negative evidence of a three year cumulative loss, therefore, a full valuation allowance for all deferred
income tax assets was necessary at the end of the first quarter of fiscal 2009.

During fiscal 2012 and 2011, we weighed all available positive and negative evidence and concluded the weight of the
negative evidence of a three year cumulative loss continued to outweigh the positive evidence.  Based on the
conclusions reached, we continued to maintain a full valuation allowance during 2012 and 2011.

The components of our net deferred income tax assets (liabilities) are as follows:

December 29,
2012

December 31,
2011

(In thousands)
Deferred income tax assets:
Inventory reserves $2,816 $ 3,012
Compensation-related accruals 5,838 5,979
Accruals and reserves 92 176
Accounts receivable 1,327 1,169
Restructuring costs 118 2,540
Pension 16,936 13,713
Benefit from NOL carryovers(1) 52,088 41,770
Other 695 646
Total gross deferred income tax assets 79,910 69,005
Less: Valuation allowances (78,050 ) (66,793 )
Total net deferred income tax assets $1,860 $ 2,212
Deferred income tax liabilities:
Intangible assets (60 ) (176 )
Property and equipment (1,065 ) (1,211 )
Pension — —
Other (739 ) (849 )
Total deferred income tax liabilities (1,864 ) (2,236 )
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Deferred income tax assets (liabilities), net $(4 ) $ (24 )

(1) Our federal and state NOL carryovers will expire over 1 to 20 years.
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Activity in our deferred tax asset valuation allowance for fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011 was as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year
Ended
December
29,
2012

Fiscal Year
Ended
December
31,
2011

Balance at beginning of the
year                                                                                                                            $66,793 $46,528
Valuation allowance removed for taxes related to:
Income before income taxes — —
Valuation allowance provided for taxes related to:
Loss before income taxes 11,257 20,265
Effect of a change in judgment — —
Balance at end of the year $78,050 $66,793

We have recorded income tax and related interest liabilities where we believe certain of our tax positions are not more
likely than not to be sustained if challenged. The following table summarizes the activity related to our unrecognized
tax benefits:

(In
thousands)

Balance at January 2, 2010 $739
Increases related to current year tax positions —
Additions for tax positions in prior years —
Reductions for tax positions in prior years (62 )
Settlements —
Balance at January 1, 2011 677
Increases related to current year tax positions —
Additions for tax positions in prior years 196
Reductions for tax positions in prior years —
Settlements —
Balance at December 31, 2011 873
Increases related to current year tax positions —
Additions for tax positions in prior years —
Reductions for tax positions in prior years —
Reductions due to lapse of applicable statute of limitations (47 )
Settlements —
Balance at December 29, 2012 $826

Included in the unrecognized tax benefits at December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011 were $0.8 million and
$0.9 million, respectively, of tax benefits that, if recognized, would reduce our annual effective tax rate. We also
accrued an immaterial amount of interest related to these unrecognized tax benefits during 2012 and 2011, and this
amount is reported in “Interest expense” in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. We do not expect our
unrecognized tax benefits to change materially over the next 12 months.

We file U.S., state, and foreign income tax returns in jurisdictions with varying statutes of limitations. The 2009
through 2012 tax years generally remain subject to examination by federal and most state and foreign tax authorities.
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6.  Receivables

We have a diversified customer base concentrated in the building products business. Credit risk is monitored and
provisions for expected losses are provided as determined necessary by management. We generally do not require
collateral.

The following reflects our activity in receivables related reserve accounts:

Beginning
Balance

Expense/
(Income)

Write offs
and
Other, Net

Ending
Balance

(In thousands)
Fiscal 2010
Allowance for doubtful accounts and related reserves $8,387 $2,222 $(4,894 ) $5,715
Fiscal 2011
Allowance for doubtful accounts and related reserves $5,715 $2,576 $(3,156 ) $5,135
Fiscal 2012
Allowance for doubtful accounts and related reserves $5,135 $2,034 $(2,449 ) $4,720
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7.  Stock-Based Compensation

We have two stock-based compensation plans covering officers, directors and certain employees and consultants: the
2004 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2004 Plan”) and the 2006 Long Term Equity Incentive Plan (the “2006 Plan”). The plans
are designed to motivate and retain individuals who are responsible for the attainment of our primary long-term
performance goals. The plans provide a means whereby our employees and directors develop a sense of proprietorship
and personal involvement in our development and financial success and encourage them to devote their best efforts to
our business. Although we do not have a formal policy on the matter, we issue new shares of our common stock to
participants, upon the exercise of options or vesting of restricted stock, out of the total amount of common shares
authorized for issuance under the 2004 Plan and the 2006 Plan.

The 2004 Plan provides for the grant of nonqualified stock options, incentive stock options and restricted shares of our
common stock to participants of the plan selected by our Board of Directors or a committee of the Board that
administers the 2004 Plan. We reserved 2,222,222 shares of our common stock for issuance under the 2004 Plan. The
terms and conditions of awards under the 2004 Plan are determined by the administrator for each grant.

The 2006 Plan permits the grant of nonqualified stock options, incentive stock options, stock appreciation rights,
restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance shares, performance units, cash-based awards, and other
stock-based awards to participants of the 2006 plan selected by our Board of Directors or a committee of the Board
that administers the 2006 Plan. We reserved 12,200,000 shares of our common stock for issuance under the 2006 Plan.
The terms and conditions of awards under the 2006 Plan are determined by the administrator for each grant. Awards
issued under the 2006 Plan are subject to accelerated vesting in the event of a change in control as such event is
defined in the 2006 Plan.  On January 10, 2012, January 18, 2012, April 18, 2012, August 6, 2012 and August 31,
2012, the Compensation Committee granted 2,025,335, 7,500, 10,000, 15,000 and 10,000 restricted shares of our
common stock to certain members of our management and certain directors, respectively.  There were no stock
options granted during fiscal 2012, 2011 or fiscal 2010.

We recognize compensation expense equal to the grant-date fair value for all share-based payment awards that are
expected to vest. This expense is recorded on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the entire award,
unless the awards are subject to market or performance conditions, in which case we recognize compensation expense
over the requisite service period of each separate vesting tranche to the extent the occurrence of such conditions are
probable. All compensation expense related to our share-based payment awards is recorded in “Selling, general and
administrative” expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

As of December 29, 2012, there was $2.5 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to restricted
stock. The unrecognized compensation expense for restricted stock is expected to be recognized over weighted
average term of 1.4 years. As of December 31, 2011, there was $2.3 million of total unrecognized compensation
expense related to restricted stock.  There was no future compensation expense remaining for options as of December
29, 2012 and December 31, 2011.  As of December 29, 2012, the weighted average remaining contractual term for our
options and restricted stock was 4.9 years and 1.3 years, respectively. As of December 31, 2011, the weighted average
remaining contractual term for our options and restricted stock was 5.9 years and 1.2 years, respectively.  The
maximum contractual term for stock options and restricted stock is 10 years and 1 to 5 years, respectively.

For fiscal 2012, fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2010, our total stock-based compensation expense was $2.8 million,
$2.0 million, and $4.0 million, respectively. We also recognized related income tax benefits of $1.1 million,
$0.8 million and $1.5 million, respectively which has been offset by a valuation allowance.

The total fair value of the options vested in fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2010 was $0.7 million and $1.0 million,
respectively. There were no options vested in fiscal 2012.  For restricted stock, the total fair value vested in 2012,
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fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2010 was $2.3 million, $2.2 million and $1.5 million, respectively.

There were no stock option exercises during fiscal 2012, fiscal 2011 or fiscal 2010. We present the benefits of tax
deductions in excess of recognized compensation expense as both a financing cash inflow and an operating cash
outflow in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows when present.  There were no excess tax benefits in fiscal
2012, fiscal 2011 or fiscal 2010.
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On December 14, 2010, the Compensation Committee approved an amendment to the 2008 Performance Share Award
Agreement under the 2006 Plan.  The Amendment provides that the Company may, at the discretion of the
Compensation Committee, settle grants pursuant to Performance Share Award Agreements either in (i) one share of
common stock of the Company for each Performance Share (as defined in the 2006 Plan) earned or (ii) a lump sum
cash payment equal to the Fair Market Value (as defined in the 2006 Plan) of one share of common stock of the
Company for each Performance Share earned. The Amendment was determined to be a modification of the award and
an adjustment related to the difference in fair value was recorded in fiscal 2010. The award, which impacts eight
employees, was classified as a liability award and was marked to market.  On January 1, 2011, the fair value of these
awards was based on the closing price of our common stock on December 31, 2010 of $3.66.  These awards were
settled in cash on January 7, 2011. Our restricted stock units were also settled in cash upon vesting and were
considered liability awards. Therefore, these are not included in the computation of the basic and diluted earnings per
share.

The tables below summarize activity and include certain additional information related to our outstanding employee
stock options for the three years ended December 29, 2012.  There have been no new employee stock option grants for
the three years ended December 29, 2012.

Shares

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Options outstanding at January 2, 2010 928,315 $6.34
Options granted — —
Options exercised — —
Options forfeited (2,300 ) 14.01
Options expired (1,200 ) 14.01
Options outstanding at January 1, 2011 924,815 6.31
Options granted — —
Options exercised — —
Options forfeited — —
Options expired (19,499 ) 12.53
Options outstanding at December 31, 2011 905,316 6.18
Options granted — —
Options exercised — —
Options forfeited — —
Options expired — —
Options outstanding at December 29, 2012 905,316 6.18
Options exercisable at December 29, 2012 905,316 $6.18

Outstanding Exercisable

Price Range
Number of
Options

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Remaining
Contractual
Life
(in Years)

Number of
Options

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Remaining
Contractual
Life
(in Years)

$4.66 750,000 $ 4.66 5.2 750,000 $ 4.66 5.2
$10.29-$14.01 155,316 $ 13.51 3.3 155,316 $ 13.51 3.3

905,316 4.9 905,316 4.9
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The following tables summarize activity for our performance shares, restricted stock awards and restricted stock unit
awards during fiscal 2012, fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2010:

Restricted Stock
Performance

Shares

Restricted
Stock
Units

Number of
Awards

Weighted
Average
Fair
Value

Number of
Awards

Number of
Awards (1)

Outstanding at January 2, 2010 1,539,129 $4.42 180,605 144,550
Granted 747,737 3.07 — —
Increase due to assumption changes — — 112,955 —
Vested (340,578 ) 4.49 — —
Forfeited (32,000 ) 3.47 (52,725 ) (16,600 )
Outstanding at January 1,
2011                                                                           1,914,288 2.67 240,835 127,950
Granted 819,240 3.14 — —
Vested (364,303 ) 6.16 (240,835 ) (63,200 )
Forfeited (7,801 ) 3.26 — (15,400 )
Outstanding at December 31,
2011                                                                           2,361,424 3.22 — 49,350
Granted 2,067,835 1.52 — —
Vested (681,484 ) 3.39 — (48,250 )
Forfeited (193,037 ) 2.76 — (1,100 )
Outstanding at December 29, 2012 3,554,738 $ 1.22 — —

(1) As the restricted stock units will be settled in cash, the fair value of these awards is
marked-to-market each reporting period through the date of settlement.  During fiscal 2012 and
fiscal 2011, certain restricted stock units vested and approximately $0.1 million and $0.2 million,
respectively was paid out to settle these awards.
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8.  Employee Benefits

Defined Benefit Pension Plans

Most of our hourly employees participate in noncontributory defined benefit pension plans, which include a plan that
is administered solely by us (the “hourly pension plan”) and union-administered multiemployer plans. Our funding
policy for the hourly pension plan is based on actuarial calculations and the applicable requirements of federal
law.  We believe that each multiemployer pension plan is immaterial to our financial statements and that we represent
an immaterial portion of the total contributions and future obligations of these plans. Contributions to multiemployer
plans are generally based on negotiated labor contracts. We contributed $1.3 million, $1.2 million, and $1.1 million to
union administered multiemployer pension plans for fiscal 2012, fiscal 2011, and fiscal 2010, respectively. Benefits
under the majority of plans for hourly employees (including multiemployer plans) are primarily related to years of
service.

The following tables set forth the change in projected benefit obligation and the change in plan assets for the hourly
pension plan:

December
29,
2012

December
31,
2011

(In thousands)
Change in projected benefit obligation:
Projected benefit obligation at beginning of period $99,425 $87,510
Service cost 1,878 2,091
Interest cost 4,885 4,609
Actuarial loss 12,183 9,029
Curtailment — —
Benefits paid (4,041 ) (3,814 )
Projected benefit obligation at end of period 114,330 99,425
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of assets at beginning of period 63,896 68,725
Actual return (loss) on plan assets 6,758 (1,015 )
Employer contributions 1,147 —
Benefits paid (4,041 ) (3,814 )
Fair value of assets at end of period 67,760 63,896
Net (unfunded) status of plan $(46,570 ) $(35,529 )

We recognize the unfunded status (i.e., the difference between the fair value of plan assets and the projected benefit
obligations) of our pension plan in our Consolidated Balance Sheets, with a corresponding adjustment to accumulated
other comprehensive loss, net of tax, offset by a valuation allowance. On December 29, 2012, we measured the fair
value of our plan assets and benefit obligations. As of December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the net unfunded
status of our benefit plan was $46.6 million and $35.5 million, respectively. These amounts were included in “Other
non-current liabilities” on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. The net adjustment to other comprehensive loss for fiscal
2012, fiscal 2011, and fiscal 2010 was $8.2 million loss ($8.2 million loss, net of tax, offset by a valuation allowance),
$15.0 million loss ($15.0 million loss, net of tax, offset by a valuation allowance), $1.0 million loss ($0.6 million loss,
net of tax), respectively, which represents the net unrecognized actuarial (loss) gain and unrecognized prior service
cost.
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The increase in the unfunded obligation for the period was approximately $11.0 million and was comprised of $6.7
million of liability growth, $12.2 million of actuarial losses offset by $6.8 million of asset returns and $1.1 million of
pension contributions.  The main driver of the $12.2 million of liability loss was the change in the underlying discount
rate assumption which decreased from 5.02% in fiscal 2011 to 4.24% in fiscal 2012.   The net periodic pension costs
also increased to $3.9 million in fiscal 2012 from $1.8 million in fiscal 2011 and were primarily driven by an increase
in the unrecognized amortization of the actuarial loss attributable to the decrease in the discount rate from 5.39% in
fiscal 2010 to 5.02% in 2011 and a reduction in the hourly pension plan’s expected return on plan assets due to
lowering the expected rate of return from 8.25% to 7.85%.

The unfunded status and the amounts recognized on our Consolidated Balance Sheets for the hourly pension plan are
set forth in the following table:

December
29,
2012

December
31,
2011

(In thousands)
Unfunded
status                                                                                                                            $(46,570 ) $(35,529 )
Unrecognized prior service cost 2 3
Unrecognized actuarial loss 37,459 29,213
Net amount recognized $(9,109 ) $(6,313 )
Amounts recognized on the balance sheet consist of:
Accrued pension liability (46,570 ) (35,529 )
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (pre-tax) 37,461 29,216
Net amount recognized $(9,109 ) $(6,313 )

The portion of estimated net loss for the hourly pension plan that is expected to be amortized from accumulated other
comprehensive loss into net periodic cost over the next fiscal year is $2.9 million. The expected amortization of prior
service cost recognized into net periodic cost over the next fiscal year is immaterial.

The accumulated benefit obligation for the hourly pension plan was $111.1 million and $96.8 million at December 29,
2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively.

Net periodic pension cost for our pension plans included the following:

Fiscal
Year
Ended
December
29,
2012

Fiscal Year
Ended
December 31,
2011

Fiscal Year
Ended
January 1,
2011

(In thousands)
Service cost                                                                                              $1,878 $ 2,091 $ 1,992
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 4,885 4,609 4,744
Expected return on plan assets (4,897 ) (5,505 ) (4,926 )
Amortization of unrecognized loss 2,077 579 494
Amortization of unrecognized prior service cost — — —
Net periodic pension cost $3,943 $ 1,774 $ 2,304
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The following assumptions were used to determine the projected benefit obligation at the measurement date and the
net periodic pension cost:

December
29,
2012

December
31,
2011

Projected benefit obligation:
Discount rate 4.24 % 5.02 %
Average rate of increase in future compensation levels 3.00 % 3.00 %
Net periodic pension cost
Discount rate 5.02 % 5.39 %
Average rate of increase in future compensation levels 3.00 % 4.00 %
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 7.85 % 8.25 %

Our estimates of the amount and timing of our future funding obligations for our defined benefit pension plans are
based upon various assumptions specified above. These assumptions include, but are not limited to, the discount rate,
projected return on plan assets, compensation increase rates, mortality rates, retirement patterns, and turnover rates.
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As indicated in the table above, we used a discount rate of 4.24% to compute the projected benefit obligation, which
was determined by matching of plan liability cash flows to a portfolio of bonds.  A change in the discount rate of 25
basis points, from 4.24% to 4.49%, while holding all other assumptions constant, would have resulted in a reduction in
the Company’s projected benefit obligation of approximately $3.7 million in 2012.

As indicated in the table above, we used an estimated rate of future compensation increases of 3.00% to compute the
projected benefit obligation.  A change in the rate of 25 basis points, from 3.00% to 3.25%, while holding all other
assumptions constant, would have resulted in an increase in the Company’s projected benefit obligation of less than
$0.2 million in 2012.

Determination of expected long-term rate of return

In developing expected return assumptions for our pension plan, the most influential decision affecting long-term
portfolio performance is the determination of overall asset allocation. An asset class is a group of securities that
exhibit similar characteristics and behave similarly in the marketplace. The three main asset classes are equities, fixed
income, and cash equivalents.

Upon calculation of the historical risk premium for each asset class, an expected rate of return can be established
based on assumed 90-day Treasury bill rates. Based on the normal asset allocation structure of the portfolio (65%
equities, 30% fixed income, and 5% other) with historical compound annualized risk free rate of 4.10%, the expected
overall portfolio return is 8.35% offset by 0.5% expense estimate resulting in a 7.85% net long term rate of return as
of December 29, 2012.

Our percentage of fair value of total assets by asset category as of our measurement date is as follows:

Asset Category

December
29,
2012

December
31,
2011

Equity securities —
domestic                                                                                                                            56 % 47 %
Equity securities — international 9 % 5 %
Fixed income 31 % 45 %
Other 4 % 3 %
Total 100 % 100 %

The fair value of our plan assets by asset category as of December 29, 2012 was as follows (in thousands):

Asset Category Level 1
Equity securities —
domestic                                                                                                                                                 $ 37,623
Equity securities — international 6,304
Fixed income 20,848
Other 2,985
Total $ 67,760

The fair value of our plan assets by asset category as of December 31, 2011 was as follows (in thousands):

Asset Category Level 1
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Equity securities —
domestic                                                                                                                                                 $ 30,179
Equity securities — international 2,843
Fixed income 28,975
Other 1,899
Total $ 63,896

The plan assets are valued using quoted market prices in active markets and we consider the investments to be Level 1
in the fair value hierarchy.  See Note 13 for a discussion of the levels of inputs to determine fair value.
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Investment policy and strategy

Plan assets are managed as a balanced portfolio comprised of two major components: an equity portion and a fixed
income portion. The expected role of plan equity investments will be to maximize the long-term real growth of fund
assets, while the role of fixed income investments will be to generate current income, provide for more stable periodic
returns, and provide some downside protection against the possibility of a prolonged decline in the market value of
equity investments. We review this investment policy statement at least once per year. In addition, the portfolio will
be reviewed quarterly to determine the deviation from target weightings and will be rebalanced as necessary. Target
allocations for fiscal 2013 are 50% domestic and 15% international equity investments, 30% fixed income
investments, and 5% cash. The expected long-term rate of return for the plan’s total assets is based on the expected
return of each of the above categories, weighted based on the target allocation for each class.

Our estimated future benefit payments reflecting expected future service are as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ending
(In
thousands)

January 4, 2014 $ 4,642
January 3, 2015 4,832
January 2, 2016 5,010
December 31, 2016 5,319
December 30, 2017 5,670
Thereafter 32,774

The Company’s required cash contribution to the pension plan in 2012 was approximately $3.3 million.  The 2012
required contribution was comprised of approximately $1.2 million related to our 2011 minimum required
contribution and approximately $2.1 million related to our 2012 minimum required contribution.  The Company’s
minimum required contribution for plan year 2012 was $3.2 million.  The Company has funded the $1.2
million related to its 2011 minimum required contribution with cash in 2012.  However, in an effort to preserve
additional cash for operations, we applied for a waiver from the IRS for our 2012 minimum required contribution. 
The waiver is still being reviewed by the IRS.  We have not made the $2.1 million of required 2012 contributions
related to the 2012 minimum required contribution.  If we are granted the requested waiver, our contributions for 2012
will be amortized over the following five years, increasing our future minimum required contributions. We are
currently required to make three quarterly cash contributions during fiscal 2013 of $0.8 million per quarter related to
our 2013 minimum required contribution. We are pursuing contributing personal property to the pension plan during
fiscal 2013.  We will designate the contribution such that it will offset our future minimum required contribution.

Defined Contribution Plans

Our employees also participate in several defined contribution plans. Contributions to the plans are based on employee
contributions and compensation. Contributions to the hourly defined contribution plan totaled $0.1 million,
$0.1 million, and $0.1 million for fiscal 2012, fiscal 2011, and fiscal 2010, respectively. During fiscal 2009, we
suspended the Company matching contributions to our defined salaried contribution plan as part of our cost reduction
initiatives.  The Company match was reinstated on January 1, 2012. Contributions to the salaried defined contribution
plan totaled $1.0 million for fiscal 2012.

9.  Inventory Reserve Accounts

The following reflects our activity for inventory reserve accounts (in thousands):
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Beginning
Balance Expense

Write-offs
and
Other, net

Ending
Balance

Fiscal 2010
Obsolescence/damaged inventory reserve $2,573 $667 $(1,570 ) $1,670
Lower of cost or market reserve $— $722 $(722 ) $—
Fiscal 2011
Obsolescence/damaged inventory reserve $1,670 $2,309 $(2,487 ) $1,492
Lower of cost or market reserve $— $— $— $—
Fiscal 2012
Obsolescence/damaged inventory reserve $1,492 $3,625 $(3,991 ) $1,126
Lower of cost or market reserve $— $— $— $—
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10.  Revolving Credit Facilities

We have our U.S. revolving credit facility agreement (the “U.S. revolving credit facility”) with Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association, successor by merger to Wachovia Bank, National Association, dated August 4, 2006, as
amended.  The U.S. revolving credit facility agreement has a final maturity of January 7, 2014 and maximum
available credit of $400 million.  The U.S. revolving credit facility also includes an additional $100 million
uncommitted accordion credit facility, which permits us to increase the maximum available credit up to $500 million.

As of December 29, 2012, we had outstanding borrowings of $169.5 million and excess availability of $86.0 million
under the terms of our U.S. revolving credit facility.  The interest rate on the U.S. revolving credit facility was 4.1% at
December 29, 2012.   As of December 31, 2011, we had outstanding borrowings of $93.4 million and excess
availability of $115.7 million under the terms of our U.S. revolving credit facility.  The interest rate on the U.S.
revolving credit facility was 4.2% at December 31, 2011.  As of December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011, we had
outstanding letters of credit totaling $4.5 million and $2.7 million, respectively, for the purposes of securing collateral
requirements under casualty insurance programs and for guaranteeing lease and certain other obligations. The $4.5
million in outstanding letters of credit as of December 29, 2012 does not include an additional $1.5 million fully
collateralized letter of credit securing certain insurance obligations that was issued outside of the U.S. revolving credit
facility.

As of December 29, 2012, our U.S. revolving credit facility, as amended, contains customary negative covenants and
restrictions for asset based loans, including a requirement that we maintain a fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.1 to 1.0
in the event our excess availability falls below the Excess Availability Threshold.  The fixed charge coverage ratio is
calculated as EBITDA divided by the sum of cash payments for income taxes, interest expense, cash dividends,
principal payments on debt, and capital expenditures.  EBITDA is defined as BlueLinx Corporation’s net income
before interest and tax expense, depreciation and amortization expense, and other non-cash charges.  The fixed charge
coverage ratio requirement only applies to us when excess availability under our amended U.S. revolving credit
facility is less than the Excess Availability Threshold on any date. As of December 29, 2012 and through the time of
the filing of this Form 10-K, we were in compliance with all covenants under the U.S. revolving credit facility.  We
are required to maintain the Excess Availability Threshold in order to avoid being required to meet certain financial
ratios and triggering additional limits on capital expenditures.  Our lowest level of fiscal month-end availability in the
last three years as of December 29, 2012 was $86.0 million, which is the excess availability as of that date.  We do not
anticipate our excess availability in fiscal 2013 will drop below the Excess Availability Threshold.  Should our excess
availability fall below the Excess Availability Threshold on any date, however, we would not meet the required fixed
charge coverage ratio covenant with our current operating results. 

In the event that excess availability falls below $35 million or the amount equal to 15% of the lesser of the borrowing
base or $400 million, the U.S. revolving credit facility gives the lenders the right to dominion of our bank
accounts.  This would not make the underlying debt callable by the lender and may not change our ability to borrow
on the U.S. revolving credit facility.  However, we would be required to reclassify the “Long-term debt” to “Current
maturities of long-term debt” on our Consolidated Balance Sheet.  In addition, we would be required to maintain a
springing lock-box arrangement where customer remittances go directly to a lock-box maintained by our lenders and
then are forwarded to our general bank accounts.  Our outstanding borrowings are not reduced by these payments
unless our excess availability falls below the greater of $35 million or the amount equal to 15% of the lesser of the
borrowing base or $400 million on any date or in the event of default.  Our amended U.S. revolving credit facility
does not contain a subjective acceleration clause, which would allow our lenders to accelerate the scheduled maturities
of our debt or to cancel our agreement.

On January 10, 2013, we filed a registration statement on Form S-1 with the SEC for a planned rights offering of our
common stock to our stockholders, which seeks to raise gross proceeds of $40 million (“the rights offering”). In
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connection with the rights offering we plan to distribute to our common stockholders non-transferable rights to
subscribe for and purchase up to $40 million of our common stock.  The estimated net proceeds from the rights
offering of approximately $39 million will be used to pay down the U.S. revolving credit facility. See subsequent
events disclosed in Note 16.

The Company intends to amend and extend its $400 million U.S. revolving credit facility.  The amendment will
extend the maturity by three years from the closing date.  It is expected that the maximum available credit under the
U.S. revolving credit facility will be increased by $22.5 million to $422.5 million.  The amended U.S. revolving credit
facility is also expected to continue to have a $100 million uncommitted accordion credit facility to potentially
increase the maximum available credit to $522.5 million.  The amended U.S. revolving credit facility is expected to
include covenants substantially similar to those in the existing U.S. credit facility.
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The Company has engaged Wells Fargo Capital Finance (“Wells Fargo”) as sole lead arranger for the transaction.  Wells
Fargo has informed the Company that it has received commitments from several financial institutions with respect to
the U.S. revolving credit facility, subject to execution of satisfactory documentation and the completion of the $40
million rights offering of common stock announced on January 10, 2013. Closing is expected to occur concurrently
with the completion of the rights offering of common stock.   The definitive terms of, and the obligations of BlueLinx,
Wells Fargo, and/or any members of the syndicate of financial institutions to enter into such an amendment to the U.S.
revolving credit facility are subject to additional discussions and negotiations among the parties, and there is no
assurance that an amendment to the existing U.S. revolving credit facility will be consummated.

On July 22, 2011, we concluded an offering of our common stock to our stockholders, pursuant to which we
distributed to our common stockholders transferable rights to subscribe for and purchase up to $60 million of our
common stock.  The 2011 rights offering was fully subscribed and resulted in gross proceeds of approximately $60
million.  The net proceeds from the 2011 rights offering were approximately $58 million, and $56 million of the net
proceeds were used to pay down the U.S. revolving credit facility.  A payment on the U.S. revolving credit facility of
$50.0 million was made on July 29, 2011 and an additional payment of $6.0 million was made on August 1, 2011.

On May 10, 2011, we entered into an amendment to our U.S. revolving credit facility, which became effective on July
29, 2011 pursuant to which certain components of the borrowing base calculation and excess liquidity calculation
were adjusted as part of this amendment.  The most significant of the changes included in the amendment are
described in the discussion of the terms and covenants of the U.S. revolving credit facility above.

On August 12, 2011, our subsidiary BlueLinx Canada entered into the Canadian revolving credit facility with CIBC
Asset-Based Lending Inc., as lender, administrative agent and the Agent.  The maturity date of this agreement is
August 12, 2014.  As of December 29, 2012, we had outstanding borrowings of $1.9 million and excess availability of
$2.0 million under the terms of our Canadian revolving credit facility.  The interest rate on the Canadian revolving
credit facility was 4.0% at December 29, 2012.  As of December 31, 2011, we had outstanding borrowings of
$1.1 million and excess availability of $2.6 million under the terms of our Canadian revolving credit facility.  The
interest rate on the Canadian revolving credit facility was 4.0% at December 31, 2011.  The Canadian revolving credit
facility contains customary covenants and events of default for asset-based credit agreements of this type, including
the requirement for BlueLinx Canada to maintain a minimum adjusted tangible net worth of $3.9 million and for that
entity’s capital expenditures not to exceed 120% of the amount budgeted in a given year.  As of December 29, 2012
and through the time of the filing of this Form 10-K, we were in compliance with all covenants under this facility.

In conjunction with the Canadian revolving credit facility and the modification of our U.S. revolving credit facility we
incurred approximately $1.0 million in debt fees that were capitalized and are being amortized over the remaining
terms of each respective agreement.

We believe that the amounts available from our revolving credit facilities and other sources are sufficient to fund our
routine operations and capital requirements for the next 12 months. If economic conditions, especially those related to
the housing market, do not continue to improve, we may need to seek additional sources of capital to support our
operations.

11.  Mortgage

We have a $295 million mortgage loan with the German American Capital Corporation. The mortgage has a term of
ten years and is secured by 51 distribution facilities and 1 office building owned by the special purpose entities. The
stated interest rate on the mortgage is fixed at 6.35%. German American Capital Corporation assigned half of its
interest in the mortgage loan to Wachovia Bank, National Association and both lenders securitized their Notes in
separate commercial mortgage backed securities pools in 2006.
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On September 19, 2012, we entered into an amendment to our mortgage agreement, which provided for the immediate
prepayment of approximately $11.8 million of the indebtedness under the mortgage agreement without incurring a
prepayment premium from cash currently held as collateral under the mortgage agreement.  In addition, on the last
business day of each calendar quarter, starting with the fourth quarter of 2012, additional funds held as collateral
under the mortgage agreement will be used to prepay indebtedness under the mortgage agreement, without
prepayment premium, up to an aggregate additional prepayment of $10.0 million.  Thereafter, any cash remaining in
the collateral account under the mortgage agreement, up to an aggregate of $10.0 million, will be released to the
Company on the last business day of each calendar quarter through the second quarter of 2014.  All funds released
pursuant to these provisions may only be used by the Company to pay for usual and customary operating
expenses.  During the periods described above in which cash in the collateral account is used to either prepay
indebtedness under the mortgage agreement or released to the Company, the lenders will not release any of the cash
collateral to the Company for specified capital expenditures as previously provided under the mortgage
agreement.  Under the terms of our mortgage, we are required to transfer certain funds to be held as collateral. We
expect to transfer approximately $13.2 million as collateral during the next twelve month period, approximately $6.4
million of which will be used to reduce mortgage principal on a quarterly basis.  The remaining amount of
approximately $6.8 million will be remitted to us on a quarterly basis for uses as indicated in the amendment.  In
conjunction with the modification of our mortgage agreement we incurred approximately $0.3 million in fees that
were capitalized and are being amortized over the remaining term of the mortgage.
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On July 14, 2011, we entered into an amendment to the mortgage which (i) eliminated the requirement to obtain
lender approval for any transfer of equity interests that would reduce Cerberus ABP Investor LLC’s ownership in the
Company and certain of our subsidiaries, directly or indirectly, to less than 51%, (ii) provided for the immediate
prepayment of $38.3 million of the indebtedness under the mortgage without incurring a prepayment premium from
funds currently held as collateral under the mortgage and, if certain conditions are met, will allow for an additional
prepayment on or after July 30, 2014 from funds held as collateral without incurrence of a prepayment premium,
(iii) allow us, at the lenders’ reasonable discretion, to use a portion of the cash held as collateral under the mortgage for
specified alterations, repairs, replacements and other improvements to the mortgaged properties, and (iv) in the event
certain financial conditions are met and the Company extends the Amended and Restated Master Lease by and among
certain of our subsidiaries with respect to properties covered by the mortgage for an additional five years, we may
request the lenders to disburse to the Company a portion of the cash held as collateral under the mortgage. In
conjunction with the modification of our mortgage agreement we incurred approximately $2.9 million in debt fees that
were capitalized and are being amortized over the remaining term of the mortgage.

During the first quarter of fiscal 2012, we sold certain parcels of excess land. As a result of the sale of one of these
parcels, we increased the amount of restricted cash required to be held in connection with our mortgage by
$0.3 million. In addition, during the third quarter of fiscal 2012, we sold our facility in Newark, California and
increased the restricted cash related to our mortgage by $12.8 million.  This restricted cash was used to pay down the
mortgage in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012.  During fiscal 2011, we sold certain real properties that ceased
operations. As a result of the sale of these properties during fiscal 2011, we increased the restricted cash related to our
mortgage by $6.5 million which was used to reduce the mortgage principal in January of fiscal 2012.

The mortgage loan required interest-only payments through June 2011, at which time we began making payments on
the outstanding principal balance. The balance of the loan outstanding at the end of ten years will then become due
and payable. The principal will be paid in the following increments (in thousands):

2013                                                                                                                                                $8,946
2014 2,556
2015 2,725
2016 191,753
2017 —
Thereafter —
Total $205,980

12.  Derivatives

On June 12, 2006, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement with Goldman Sachs Capital Markets, to hedge
against interest rate risks related to our variable rate U.S. revolving credit facility. The interest rate swap was
terminated in March of 2011. Due to the termination of the swap in fiscal 2011, the fair value of the swap as of
December 31, 2011 was zero. Changes associated with the ineffective interest rate swap recognized in the
Consolidated Statement of Operations for the period from January 1, 2011 to October 1, 2011 were approximately
$1.7 million of income and were comprised of amortization of the remaining accumulated other comprehensive loss of
the ineffective swap of $0.5 million offset by income of $2.2 million related to reducing the fair value of the
ineffective interest rate swap liability to zero.
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13.  Fair Value Measurements

We determine a fair value measurement based on the assumptions a market participant would use in pricing an asset
or liability.  The fair value measurement guidance established a three level hierarchy making a distinction between
market participant assumptions based on (i) unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in an active
market (Level 1), (ii) quoted prices in markets that are not active or inputs that are observable either directly or
indirectly for substantially the full term of the asset or liability (Level 2), and (iii) prices or valuation techniques that
require inputs that are both unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement (Level 3).

 Carrying amounts for our financial instruments are not significantly different from their fair value, with the exception
of our mortgage.  To determine the fair value of our mortgage, we used a discounted cash flow model. We believe the
mortgage fair value valuation to be Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy, as the valuation model has inputs that are
observable for substantially the full term of the liability. Assumptions critical to our fair value measurements in the
period are present value factors used in determining fair value and an interest rate.  At December 29, 2012, the
discounted carrying value and fair value of our mortgage was $202.7 million and $202.2 million, respectively.

14.  Related Party Transactions

Cerberus Capital Management, L.P., our equity sponsor, retains consultants that specialize in operations management
and support and who provide Cerberus with consulting advice concerning portfolio companies in which funds and
accounts managed by Cerberus or its affiliates have invested. From time to time, Cerberus makes the services of these
consultants available to Cerberus portfolio companies. We believe that the terms of these consulting arrangements are
favorable to us, or, alternatively, are materially consistent with those terms that would have been obtained by us in an
arrangement with an unaffiliated third party. We have normal service, purchase and sales arrangements with other
entities that are owned or controlled by Cerberus. We believe that these transactions are not material to our results of
operations or financial position.

In connection with the rights offering, we plan to distribute to our common stockholders non-transferable rights to
subscribe for and purchase up to $40 million of our common stock.  Cerberus ABP Investor LLC (“Cerberus”), the
Company’s majority shareholder, has indicated that it intends, subject to the exercise price of the rights being set at an
acceptable amount, to exercise all of the rights issued to it and to subscribe for the maximum additional shares
pursuant to the over-subscription privilege that it would be entitled to purchase. However, such indication is not
binding, and Cerberus is not legally obligated to do so. See subsequent events disclosed in Note 16.

15.  Commitments and Contingencies

Self-Insurance

It is our policy to self-insure, up to certain limits, traditional risks including workers’ compensation, comprehensive
general liability, and auto liability. Our self-insured deductible for each claim involving workers’ compensation, and
auto liability is limited to $0.8 million and $2.0 million, respectively. Our self-insured retention for each claim
involving comprehensive general liability (including product liability claims) is limited to $0.8 million.  We are also
self-insured up to certain limits for certain other insurable risks, primarily physical loss to property, excluding natural
catastrophes  ($0.1 million per occurrence), Director and Officer ($0.8 million per occurrence) and the majority of our
medical benefit plans ($0.3 million per occurrence). Insurance coverage is maintained for catastrophic property and
casualty exposures as well as those risks required to be insured by law or contract. A provision for claims under this
self-insured program, based on our estimate of the aggregate liability for claims incurred, is revised and recorded
annually. The estimate is derived from both internal and external sources including but not limited to actuarial
estimates. The actuarial estimates are subject to uncertainty from various sources, including, among others, changes in
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claim reporting patterns, claim settlement patterns, judicial decisions, legislation, and economic conditions. Although,
we believe that the actuarial estimates are reasonable, significant differences related to the items noted above could
materially affect our self-insurance obligations, future expense and cash flow. At December 29, 2012 and
December 31, 2011, the self-insurance reserves totaled $7.2 million and $7.6 million, respectively. We incurred $10.7
million in expense and $11.1 million in payments, net of reimbursements in fiscal 2012 related to our workers
compensation, auto, general liability and health and welfare reserves. We incurred $12.8 million in expense and
payments, net of reimbursements in fiscal 2011 related to our workers compensation, auto, general liability and health
and welfare reserves.
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Operating Leases

Total rental expense was approximately $4.8 million, $4.8 million, and $5.0 million for fiscal 2012, fiscal 2011, and
fiscal 2010, respectively.

At December 29, 2012, our total commitments under long-term, non-cancelable operating leases were as follows (in
thousands):

2013 $4,488
2014 3,943
2015 3,354
2016 3,394
2017 3,016
Thereafter 2,786
Total $20,981

Certain of our operating leases have extension options and escalation clauses.

Capital Leases

We entered into certain capital leases for trucks and trailers during fiscal 2012, fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2010.  As of
December 29, 2012, the basis and net book value of assets under capital leases was $10.3 million and $9.3 million,
respectively.  As of December 31, 2011, the basis and net book value of assets under capital leases was $5.0 million
and $4.0 million, respectively.  As of January 1, 2011, the basis and net book value of assets under capital leases was
$1.9 million and $1.6 million, respectively.  Depreciation expense for capital leases is included in the total
depreciation expense disclosed above.

At December 29, 2012, our total commitments under long-term, non-cancelable capital leases were as follows (in
thousands):

Principal Interest
2013 $1,188 $347
2014 1,237 278
2015 1,292 206
2016 1,238 131
2017 709 71
Thereafter 727 26
Total $6,391 $1,059

Executory costs are nominal for each of the years present.

Environmental and Legal Matters

We are involved in various proceedings incidental to our businesses and are subject to a variety of environmental and
pollution control laws and regulations in all jurisdictions in which we operate. Although the ultimate outcome of these
proceedings cannot be determined with certainty, based on presently available information management believes that
adequate reserves have been established for probable losses with respect thereto. Management further believes that the
ultimate outcome of these matters could be material to operating results in any given quarter but will not have a
materially adverse effect on our long-term financial condition, our results of operations, or our cash flows.
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Collective Bargaining Agreements

As of December 29, 2012, approximately 30% of our employees were represented by various labor unions.  As of
December 29, 2012, we had 42 collective bargaining agreements, of which 10, covering approximately 132 total
employees, are up for renewal in fiscal 2013.  We consider our relationship with our employees generally to be good.
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16.  Subsequent Events

On January 10, 2013, we filed a registration statement on Form S-1 with the SEC for a planned rights offering of our
common stock to our stockholders, which seeks to raise gross proceeds of $40 million. In connection with the rights
offering, we plan to distribute to our common stockholders non-transferable rights to subscribe for and purchase up to
$40 million of our common stock.  Cerberus, the Company’s majority stockholder, has indicated that it intends, subject
to the exercise price of the rights being set at an acceptable amount, to exercise all of the rights issued to it and to
subscribe for the maximum additional shares pursuant to the over-subscription privilege that it would be entitled to
purchase. However, such indication is not binding, and Cerberus is not legally obligated to do so.  We anticipate that
the record date and the subscription price will be determined on or about the time the SEC declares our registration
statement effective.  The distribution of rights and commencement of the rights offering is expected to occur promptly
following the effectiveness of that registration statement.

We are not aware of any additional significant events that occurred subsequent to the balance sheet date but prior to
the filing of this report that would have a material impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

17.  Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive income (loss) is a measure of income which includes both net loss and other comprehensive income
(loss). Other comprehensive income (loss) results from items deferred from recognition into our Consolidated
Statements of Operations. Accumulated other comprehensive loss is separately presented on our Consolidated Balance
Sheets as part of common stockholders’ (deficit) equity. Other comprehensive income (loss) was $(8.1) million,
$(14.5) million, and $1.0 million for fiscal 2012, fiscal 2011, and fiscal 2010, respectively.

For fiscal 2012 and 2011, there was no tax effect for any other comprehensive income (loss) items due to the fact that
there was no intraperiod income tax allocation and the deferred tax benefit was fully offset by a valuation
allowance.  For fiscal 2010, other comprehensive income (loss) included tax benefits of $0.4 million related to our
pension plan (see Note 8). Income tax expense recorded in other comprehensive income (loss) related to foreign
currency translation was $(0.2) million for fiscal 2010.  Other comprehensive income (loss) for fiscal 2010 included
tax expense of $(0.8) million related to our interest rate swap (see Note 12).  Other comprehensive income (loss) did
not include tax benefit (expense) related to our interest rate swap for other periods presented as the swap expired in
March of fiscal 2011.

The accumulated balances for each component of other comprehensive income (loss) were as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year
Ended
December 29,
2012

Fiscal Year
Ended
December 31,
2011

Fiscal Year
Ended
January 1,
2011

Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax $ 1,797 $ 1,694 $ 1,786
Unrealized loss from pension plan, net of tax (32,051 ) (23,806 ) (8,837 )
Unrealized income (loss) from cash flow hedge, net of tax 212 212 (307 )
Accumulated other comprehensive loss $ (30,042 ) $ (21,900 ) $ (7,358 )

18.  Unaudited Selected Quarterly Financial Data

Our fiscal year is a 52 or 53-week period ending on the Saturday closest to the end of the calendar year. Fiscal 2012,
fiscal 2011, and fiscal 2010 each contained 52 weeks.  Our fiscal quarters are based on a 5-4-4 week period.
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First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter

Three
Months
Ended

March 31,
2012(a)

Three
Months
Ended
April 2,
2011(b)

Three
Months
Ended
June 30,
2012(c)

Three
Months
Ended
July 2,
2011(d)

Three
Months
Ended

September
29,

2012(e)

Three
Months
Ended

October 1,
2011(f)

Three
Months
Ended

December 29,
2012(g)

Three
Months
Ended

December 31,
2011(h)

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Net sales $ 453,708 $ 390,604 $ 517,026 $ 500,810 $ 496,810 $ 472,898 $ 440,298 $ 391,119
Gross profit   54,232 46,269 63,188 57,645 60,531 58,278 52,119 47,957
Operating
expenses:
Selling, general
and
administrative 56,644 55,668 57,564 56,290 57,307 56,599 54,842 51,926
Gain on
modification of
lease agreement — — — — — (1,971) — —
Gain from
property
insurance
settlement — — (476) — (1,230) — (203)

(Gain) loss from
sale of properties (578) (7,222) 48 283 (9,151) — (204) (3,665)
Restructuring
and other
charges — — — 207 — 1,139 — 36

Depreciation and
amortization 2,260 2,938 2,187 2,624 2,106 2,559 2,012 2,441
Operating (loss)
income (4,094) (5,115) 3,865 (1,759) 10,269 1,182 (4,531) (2,578)
Non-operating
expenses:
Interest expense 6,782 8,986 7,325 7,730 7,294 6,963 6,756 6,831
Changes
associated with
ineffective
interest rate swap — (1,676) — — — — — —
Other (income)
expense (62) 15 49 134 (16) 333 22 19
(Benefit from)
provision for
income taxes (3,969) (4,916) (1,157) (3,556) 1,078 (2,265) (4,305) (2,873)
Tax valuation
allowance 4,174 4,802 1,354 3,714 (1,155) 2,359 4,366 3,697
Net (loss)
income $ (11,019) $ (12,326) $ (3,706) $ (9,781) $ 3,068 $ (6,208) $ (11,370) $ (10,252)
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(a) During the three months ended March 31, 2012, basic and diluted weighted average shares were
60,002,836. Total share-based awards of 4,519,590 were excluded from our diluted earnings per
share calculation because they were anti-dilutive.

(b) During the three months ended April 2, 2011, basic and diluted weighted average shares were
30,843,732. Total share-based awards of 3,096,843 were excluded from our diluted earnings per
share calculation because they were anti-dilutive.

(c) During the three months ended June 30, 2012, basic and diluted weighted average shares were
60,097,558. Total share-based awards of 4,515,590 were excluded from our diluted earnings per
share calculation because they were anti-dilutive.

(d) During the three months ended July 2, 2011, basic and diluted weighted average shares were
31,062,794. Total share-based awards of 3,079,540 were excluded from our diluted earnings per
share calculation because they were anti-dilutive.

(e) During the three months ended September 29, 2012, basic and diluted weighted average shares
were 60,098,691.

(f) During the three months ended October 1, 2011, basic and diluted weighted average shares were
51,182,748. Total share-based awards of 3,076,739 were excluded from our diluted earnings per
share calculation because they were anti-dilutive.

(g) During the three months ended December 29, 2012, basic and diluted weighted average shares
were 60,118,183, respectively. Total share-based awards of 4,460,054 were excluded from our
diluted earnings per share calculation because they were anti-dilutive.

(h) During the three months ended December 31, 2011, basic and diluted weighted average shares
were 59,659,984, respectively. Total share-based awards of 3,266,740 were excluded from our
diluted earnings per share calculation because they were anti-dilutive.
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19.  Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Financial Statements

The condensed consolidating financial information as of December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011 and for fiscal
2012, fiscal 2011, and fiscal 2010 is provided due to restrictions in our revolving credit facility that limit distributions
by BlueLinx Corporation, our operating company and our wholly-owned subsidiary, to us, which, in turn, may limit
our ability to pay dividends to holders of our common stock (see Note 10, Revolving Credit Facility, for a more
detailed discussion of these restrictions and the terms of the facility). Also included in the supplemental condensed
consolidated/combining financial statements are fifty-six single member limited liability companies, which are wholly
owned by us (the “LLC subsidiaries”). The LLC subsidiaries own certain warehouse properties that are occupied by
BlueLinx Corporation, each under the terms of a master lease agreement. The warehouse properties collateralize a
mortgage loan and are not available to satisfy the debts and other obligations of either us or BlueLinx Corporation.
Certain changes have been made to the prior year presentation to conform to the current year presentation.

The condensed consolidating statement of operations for BlueLinx Holdings Inc. for the fiscal year ended December
29, 2012 follows (in thousands):

BlueLinx
Holdings

BlueLinx
Corporation
and
Subsidiaries

LLC
SubsidiariesEliminationsConsolidated

Net
sales                                                                             $— $1,907,842 $28,330 $ (28,330 ) $ 1,907,842
Cost of sales — 1,677,772 — — 1,677,772
Gross profit — 230,070 28,330 (28,330 ) 230,070
Operating expenses (income):
Selling, general and administrative 3,940 250,098 (9,712 ) (28,330 ) 215,996
Depreciation and amortization — 5,040 3,525 — 8,565
Total operating expenses (income) 3,940 255,138 (6,187 ) (28,330 ) 224,561
Operating (loss) income (3,940 ) (25,068 ) 34,517 — 5,509
Non-operating expenses:
Interest expense — 12,159 15,998 — 28,157
Other expense (income), net — 10 (17 ) — (7 )
(Loss) income before (benefit from) provision for
income taxes (3,940 ) (37,237 ) 18,536 — (22,641 )
(Benefit from) provision for income taxes 386 — — 386
Equity in (loss) income of subsidiaries (18,701 ) — — 18,701 —
Net (loss) income $(23,027 ) $ (37,237 ) $18,536 $18,701 $ (23,027 )
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The condensed consolidating statement of operations for BlueLinx Holdings Inc. for the fiscal year ended December
31, 2011 follows (in thousands):

BlueLinx
Holdings

BlueLinx
Corporation
and
Subsidiaries

LLC
SubsidiariesEliminationsConsolidated

Net
sales                                                                             $ — $ 1,755,431 $ 29,665 $ (29,665 ) $ 1,755,431
Cost of sales — 1,545,282 — — 1,545,282
Gross profit — 210,149 29,665 (29,665 ) 210,149
Operating expenses (income):
Selling, general and administrative 3,728 244,398 (10,604 ) (29,665 ) 207,857
Depreciation and amortization — 6,790 3,772 — 10,562
Total operating expenses (income) 3,728 251,188 (6,832 ) (29,665 ) 218,419
Operating (loss) income (3,728 ) (41,039 ) 36,497 — (8,270 )
Non-operating expenses:
Interest expense — 12,528 17,982 — 30,510
Changes associated with ineffective interest rate
swap — (1,676 ) — — (1,676 )
Other expense (income), net — 516 (15 ) — 501
(Loss) income before (benefit from) provision for
income taxes (3,728 ) (52,407 ) 18,530 — (37,605 )
(Benefit from) provision for income taxes 459 503 — — 962
Equity in (loss) income of subsidiaries (34,380 ) — — 34,380 —
Net (loss) income $ (38,567 ) $ (52,910 ) $ 18,530 $ 34,380 $ (38,567 )

The condensed consolidating statement of operations for BlueLinx Holdings Inc. for the fiscal year ended January 1,
2011 follows (in thousands):

BlueLinx
Holdings

BlueLinx
Corporation
and
Subsidiaries

LLC
SubsidiariesEliminationsConsolidated

Net
sales                                                                             $ — $ 1,804,418 $ 29,825 $ (29,825 ) $ 1,804,418
Cost of sales — 1,593,745 — — 1,593,745
Gross profit — 210,673 29,825 (29,825 ) 210,673
Operating expenses (income):
Selling, general and administrative 9,663 241,152 195 (29,825 ) 221,185
Depreciation and amortization — 9,524 3,841 — 13,365
Total operating expenses (income) 9,663 250,676 4,036 (29,825 ) 234,550
Operating (loss) income (9,663 ) (40,003 ) 25,789 — (23,877 )
Non-operating expenses:
Interest expense — 14,780 19,008 — 33,788
Changes associated with ineffective interest rate
swap — (4,603 ) — — (4,603 )
Write-off of debt issuance costs — 183 — — 183
Other expense, net — 576 11 — 587

Edgar Filing: LKQ CORP - Form DEF 14A

142



(Loss) income before (benefit from) provision for
income taxes (9,663 ) (50,939 ) 6,770 — (53,832 )
(Benefit from) provision for income taxes 107 (696 ) — — (589 )
Equity in (loss) income of subsidiaries (43,473 ) — — 43,473 —
Net (loss) income $ (53,243 ) $ (50,243 ) $ 6,770 $ 43,473 $ (53,243 )
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The condensed consolidating balance sheet for BlueLinx Holdings Inc. as of December 29, 2012 follows (in
thousands):

BlueLinx
Holdings Inc.

BlueLinx
Corporation
and
Subsidiaries

LLC
Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Assets:
Current assets:
Cash $ 28 $ 5,160 $ — $ — $ 5,188
Receivables — 157,465 — — 157,465
Inventories — 230,059 — — 230,059
Other current assets 1,596 17,790 41 — 19,427
Intercompany receivable 73,981 28,814 — (102,795 ) —
Total current assets 75,605 439,288 41 (102,795 ) 412,139
Property and equipment:
Land and land improvements — 3,250 39,870 — 43,120
Buildings — 10,213 83,857 — 94,070
Machinery and equipment — 78,674 — — 78,674
Construction in progress — 1,173 — — 1,173
Property and equipment, at cost — 93,310 123,727 — 217,037
Accumulated depreciation — (71,583 ) (30,101 ) — (101,684 )
Property and equipment, net — 21,727 93,626 — 115,353
Investment in subsidiaries (67,053 ) — — 67,053 —
Non-current deferred income tax
assets, net — 445 — — 445
Other non-current assets — 10,646 6,153 — 16,799
Total assets $ 8,552 $ 472,106 $ 99,820 $ (35,742 ) $ 544,736
Liabilities:
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 203 $ 77,257 $ 390 $ — 77,850
Bank overdrafts — 35,384 — — 35,384
Accrued compensation 127 6,043 — — 6,170
Current maturities of long-term
debt — — 8,946 — 8,946
Deferred income tax liabilities, net — 449 — — 449
Other current liabilities — 9,831 1,106 — 10,937
Intercompany payable 28,814 73,981 — (102,795 ) —
Total current liabilities 29,144 202,945 10,442 (102,795 ) 139,736
Non-current liabilities:
Long-term debt — 171,412 197,034 — 368,446
Other non-current liabilities — 57,146 — — 57,146
Total liabilities 29,144 431,503 207,476 (102,795 ) 565,328
Stockholders’ (deficit)
equity/Parent’s Investment (20,592 ) 40,603 (107,656 ) 67,053 (20,592 )
Total liabilities and (deficit) equity $ 8,552 $ 472,106 $ 99,820 $ (35,742 ) $ 544,736
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The condensed consolidating balance sheet for BlueLinx Holdings Inc. as of December 31, 2011 follows (in
thousands):

BlueLinx
Holdings Inc.

BlueLinx
Corporation
and
Subsidiaries

LLC
Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Assets:
Current assets:
Cash $ 27 $ 4,871 $ — $ — $ 4,898
Receivables — 138,872 — — 138,872
Inventories — 185,577 — — 185,577
Other current assets 498 17,882 8,761 — 27,141
Intercompany receivable 67,041 18,482 — (85,523 ) —
Total current assets 67,566 365,684 8,761 (85,523 ) 356,488
Property and equipment:
Land and land improvements — 2,938 46,624 — 49,562
Buildings — 10,463 85,189 — 95,652
Machinery and equipment — 75,508 — — 75,508
Construction in progress — 741 — — 741
Property and equipment, at cost — 89,650 131,813 — 221,463
Accumulated depreciation — (70,426 ) (27,909 ) — (98,335 )
Property and equipment, net — 19,224 103,904 — 123,128
Investment in subsidiaries (40,549 ) — — 40,549 —
Non-current deferred income tax
assets, net — 358 — — 358
Other non-current assets — 14,747 9,194 — 23,941
Total assets $ 27,017 $ 400,013 $ 121,859 $ (44,974 ) $ 503,915
Liabilities:
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 161 $ 68,639 $ 1,428 $ — 70,228
Bank overdrafts — 22,364 — — 22,364
Accrued compensation — 4,496 — — 4,496
Current maturities of long-term debt — — 9,046 — 9,046
Deferred income tax liabilities, net — 382 — — 382
Other current liabilities — 15,205 1,353 — 16,558
Intercompany payable 18,482 67,041 — (85,523 ) —
Total current liabilities 18,643 178,127 11,827 (85,523 ) 123,074
Non-current liabilities:
Long-term debt — 94,488 234,207 — 328,695
Other non-current liabilities — 43,772 — — 43,772
Total liabilities 18,643 316,387 246,034 (85,523 ) 495,541
Stockholders’ equity (deficit)/Parent’s
Investment 8,374 83,626 (124,175 ) 40,549 8,374
Total liabilities and equity (deficit) $ 27,017 $ 400,013 $ 121,859 $ (44,974 ) $ 503,915
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The condensed consolidating statement of cash flows for BlueLinx Holdings Inc. for the fiscal year ended
December 29, 2012 follows (in thousands):

BlueLinx
Holdings
Inc.

BlueLinx
Corporation

LLC
SubsidiariesEliminationsConsolidated

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net (loss)
income                                                                                $ (23,027 ) $ (37,237 ) $ 18,536 $ 18,701 $ (23,027 )
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to cash (used
in) provided by operations:
Depreciation and amortization — 5,040 3,525 — 8,565
Amortization of debt issue costs — 2,471 1,275 — 3,746
Gain from sale of properties — — (9,885 ) — (9,885 )
Gain from property insurance settlement — — (476 ) — (476 )
Vacant property charges, net — (30 ) — — (30 )
Payments on modification of lease agreement — (5,875 ) — — (5,875 )
Deferred income tax benefit — (20 ) — — (20 )
Share-based compensation 528 2,269 — — 2,797
Decrease in restricted cash related to the ineffective
interest swap, insurance, and other — 695 — — 695
Equity (deficit) in earnings of subsidiaries 18,701 — — (18,701 ) —
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Receivables — (18,593 ) — — (18,593 )
Inventories — (44,482 ) — — (44,482 )
Accounts payable 42 8,619 389 — 9,050
Changes in other working capital (971 ) 1,751 942 1,722
Intercompany receivable (6,940 ) (10,332 ) — 17,272 —
Intercompany payable 10,332 6,940 — (17,272 ) —
Other — 3,066 (1,503 ) — 1,563
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (1,335 ) (85,718 ) 12,803 — (74,250 )
Cash flows from investing activities:
Investment in subsidiaries 1,862 154 (2,016 ) — —
Property, plant and equipment investments — (2,826 ) — (2,826 )
Proceeds from disposition of assets — 997 18,198 — 19,195
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 1,862 (1,675 ) 16,182 — 16,369
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repurchase of shares to satisfy employee tax
withholdings (526 ) — — — (526 )
Repayments on revolving credit facilities — (473,349) — — (473,349)
Borrowings on revolving credit facilities — 550,270 — — 550,270
Principal payments on mortgage — — (37,272 ) — (37,272 )
Payments on capital lease obligations — (2,259 ) — — (2,259 )
Increase in bank overdrafts — 13,020 — — 13,020
Decrease in restricted cash related to the mortgage — — 9,970 — 9,970
Debt financing costs — — (1,683 ) — (1,683 )
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (526 ) 87,682 (28,985 ) — 58,171
Increase in cash 1 289 — — 290
Cash and cash equivalents balance, beginning of period 27 4,871 — — 4,898
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Cash and cash equivalents balance, end of period $ 28 $ 5,160 $— $— $5,188
Supplemental cash flow information:
Net income tax refunds (income taxes paid) during the
period $— $37 $ (545 ) $— $ (508 )
Interest paid during the period $— $9,309 $ 14,979 $— $24,288

Noncash transactions:
Capital leases $— $5,238 $— $— $5,238
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The condensed consolidating statement of cash flows for BlueLinx Holdings Inc. for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2011 follows (in thousands):

BlueLinx
Holdings
Inc.

BlueLinx
Corporation

LLC
SubsidiariesEliminationsConsolidated

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net (loss)
income                                                                                $ (38,567 ) $ (52,910 ) $ 18,530 $ 34,380 $ (38,567 )
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to
cash  provided by (used in) operations:
Depreciation and amortization — 6,790 3,772 — 10,562
Amortization of debt issue costs — 1,983 957 — 2,940
Gain from sale of properties — — (10,604 ) — (10,604 )
Gain from property insurance settlement — — (1,230 ) — (1,230 )
Changes associated with ineffective interest rate swap — (1,676 ) — — (1,676 )
Vacant property charges, net — (291 ) — — (291 )
Gain on modification of lease agreement — (1,971 ) — — (1,971 )
Deferred income tax benefit — (25 ) — — (25 )
Share-based compensation — 1,602 372 — 1,974
Decrease in restricted cash related to the ineffective
interest swap, insurance, and other — 987 — — 987
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries 34,380 — — (34,380 ) —
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Receivables — (19,670 ) — — (19,670 )
Inventories — 2,673 — — 2,673
Accounts payable 102 5,871 — — 5,973
Changes in other working capital 167 530 172 (1,244 ) (375 )
Intercompany receivable (9,829 ) (9,727 ) — 19,556 —
Intercompany payable 9,218 9,094 — (18,312 ) —
Other — 1,244 (2,276 ) — (1,032 )
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (4,529 ) (55,496 ) 9,693 — (50,332 )
Cash flows from investing activities:
Investment in subsidiaries (54,349 ) 55,209 (860 ) — —
Property, plant and equipment investments — (3,203 ) (3,330 ) — (6,533 )
Proceeds from sale of assets — 504 17,851 — 18,355
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (54,349 ) 52,510 13,661 — 11,822
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayments on revolving credit facilities — (478,630) — — (478,630)
Borrowings on revolving credit facilities — 475,918 — — 475,918
Principal payments on mortgage — — (42,416 ) — (42,416 )
Payments on capital lease obligations — (1,440 ) — — (1,440 )
Decrease in bank overdrafts — (725 ) — — (725 )
Decrease in restricted cash related to the mortgage — — 20,604 — 20,604
Debt financing costs — (1,179 ) (1,542 ) — (2,721 )
Proceeds from stock offering less expenses paid 58,521 — — — 58,521
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 58,521 (6,056 ) (23,354 ) — 29,111
Decrease in cash (357 ) (9,042 ) — — (9,399 )
Cash and cash equivalents balance, beginning of period 384 13,913 — — 14,297
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Cash and cash equivalents balance, end of period $ 27 $ 4,871 $— $— $4,898
Supplemental cash flow information:
Net income tax refunds (income taxes paid) during the
period $— $231 $ (253 ) $— $ (22 )
Interest paid during the period $— $10,783 $ 17,315 $— $28,098

Noncash transactions:
Capital leases $— $3,131 $— $— $3,131
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The condensed consolidating statement of cash flows for BlueLinx Holdings Inc. for the fiscal year ended January 1,
2011 follows (in thousands):

BlueLinx
Holdings
Inc.

BlueLinx
Corporation

LLC
SubsidiariesEliminationsConsolidated

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net (loss)
income                                                                                $(53,243 ) $(50,243 ) $6,770 $43,473 $(53,243 )
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to cash (used
in) provided by operations:
Depreciation and amortization — 9,854 3,511 — 13,365
Amortization of debt issue costs — 1,298 665 — 1,963
Payments from terminating the G-P Supply Agreement — 4,706 — — 4,706
Changes associated with ineffective interest rate swap — (4,603 ) — — (4,603 )
Write-off of debt issuance costs — 183 — — 183
Vacant property charges, net — 53 — — 53
Deferred income tax provision (benefit) 910 1,041 (2,551 ) — (600 )
Share-based compensation 1,856 2,122 — — 3,978
Decrease in restricted cash related to the ineffective
interest swap, insurance, and other — 6,556 — — 6,556
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries 43,473 — — (43,473 ) —
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Receivables — 145 — — 145
Inventories — (15,065 ) — — (15,065 )
Accounts payable 21 (1,812 ) — — (1,791 )
Changes in other working capital 279 15,267 (94 ) — 15,452
Intercompany receivable 8,598 (3,453 ) — (5,145 ) —
Intercompany payable 6,122 (6,356 ) (4,911 ) 5,145 —
Other (47 ) (1,394 ) 481 — (960 )
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 7,969 (41,701 ) 3,871 — (29,861 )
Cash flows from investing activities:
Investment in subsidiaries (7,034 ) — 7,034 — —
Property, plant and equipment investments — (4,140 ) — — (4,140 )
Proceeds from disposition of assets — 711 — — 711
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (7,034 ) (3,429 ) 7,034 — (3,429 )
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repurchase of common stock (583 ) — — — (583 )
Repayments on revolving credit facility — (466,219 ) — — (466,219 )
Borrowings on revolving credit facility — 507,419 — — 507,419
Debt financing costs — (6,521 ) — — (6,521 )
Decrease in bank overdrafts — (4,143 ) — — (4,143 )
Increase in restricted cash related to the mortgage — — (11,201 ) — (11,201 )
Payments on capital lease obligations — (629 ) — — (629 )
Other — 7 — — 7
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (583 ) 29,914 (11,201 ) — 18,130
Increase (decrease) in cash 352 (15,216 ) (296 ) — (15,160 )
Cash and cash equivalents balance, beginning of period 32 29,129 296 — 29,457
Cash and cash equivalents balance, end of period $384 $13,913 $— $— $14,297
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Supplemental cash flow information:
Net income tax refunds (income taxes paid) during the
period $— $20,098 $(115 ) $— $19,983
Interest paid during the period $— $13,280 $18,395 $— $31,675

Noncash transactions:
Capital leases $— $1,889 $— $— $1,889
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The condensed consolidating statement of stockholders’ (deficit) equity for BlueLinx Holdings Inc. for fiscal 2010,
fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2012 follows (in thousands):

BlueLinx
Holdings
Inc.

BlueLinx
Corporation
and
Subsidiaries

LLC
Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Balance, January 2, 2010 $50,820 $ 142,363 $ (154,118 ) $ 11,755 $ 50,820
Net income (loss) (53,243 ) (50,243 ) 6,770 43,473 (53,243 )
Foreign currency translation adjustment, net
of tax 336 336 — (336 ) 336
Unrealized loss from pension plan, net of
tax (616 ) (616 ) — 616 (616 )
Unrealized gain from cash flow hedge, net
of tax 1,297 1,297 — (1,297 ) 1,297
Issuance of restricted stock 7 — — — 7
Repurchase of restricted stock (583 ) — — — (583 )
Compensation related to share-based grants 3,876 — — — 3,876
Reclassification of equity award to liability (903 ) — — — (903 )

Net transactions with the Parent — 1,136 7,034 (8,170 ) —
Balance, January 1, 2011 $991 $ 94,273 $ (140,314 ) $ 46,041 $ 991
Net income (loss) (38,567 ) (52,910 ) 18,530 34,380 (38,567 )
Foreign currency translation adjustment, net
of tax (92 ) (92 ) — 92 (92 )
Unrealized loss from pension plan, net of
tax (14,969 ) (14,969 ) — 14,969 (14,969 )
Unrealized gain from cash flow hedge, net
of tax 519 519 — (519 ) 519
Issuance of restricted stock, net of
forfeitures 7 — — — 7
Issuance of stock related to the rights
offering, net of expenses 58,521 — — — 58,521
Compensation related to share-based grants 2,158 — — — 2,158
Impact of net settled shares for vested
grants (194 ) — — — (194 )

Net transactions with the Parent — 56,805 (2,391 ) (54,414 ) —

Balance, December 31, 2011 $8,374 $ 83,626 $ (124,175 ) $ 40,549 $ 8,374
Net income (loss) (23,027 ) (37,237 ) 18,536 18,701 (23,027 )
Foreign currency translation adjustment, net
of tax 103 103 — (103 ) 103
Unrealized loss from pension plan, net of
tax (8,245 ) (8,245 ) — 8,245 (8,245 )
Issuance of restricted stock, net of
forfeitures 19 19 — (19 ) 19
Compensation related to share-based grants 2,730 — — — 2,730

(526 ) — — — (526 )
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Impact of net settled shares for vested
grants
Other (20 ) — — — (20 )

Net transactions with the Parent — 2,337 (2,017 ) (320 ) —
Balance, December 29, 2012 $(20,592 ) $ 40,603 $ (107,656 ) $ 67,053 $ (20,592 )
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ITEM 9.  CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

None.

ITEM 9A.  CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our
reports pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer,
as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management necessarily applied its judgment
in assessing the costs and benefits of such controls and procedures that, by their nature, can provide only reasonable
assurance regarding management’s control objectives.

Our management performed an evaluation, as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K,
under the supervision of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer of the effectiveness of the design and
operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act).
Based on that evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer have concluded that our disclosure
controls and procedures are effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or
submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in
the SEC’s rules and forms, and is accumulated and communicated to our management including our chief executive
officer and chief financial officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and the Report of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm thereon are set out in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

No change in our internal control over financial reporting occurred during the fiscal quarter ended December 29, 2012
that materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

The certifications of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer required by Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 are filed as Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Additionally, as
required by Section 303A.12 (a) of the NYSE Listed Company Manual, our Chief Executive Officer filed a
certification with the NYSE on June 18, 2012 reporting that he was not aware of any violation by us of the NYSE’s
Corporate Governance listing standards.  On November 6, 2012, our Chief Executive Officer filed an interim written
affirmation with the NYSE reporting that the Company was out of compliance with the NYSE’s Corporate governance
listing standards due to only having two directors on the Company’s Audit Committee (following the resignation of
Charles H. McElrea), rather than the three directors required by Section 303A.07(a) of the NYSE Listed Company
Manual.  On February 14, 2013, the Board affirmatively determined Mr. M. Richard Warner to be independent.  Mr.
Warner joined the Audit Committee as the third director on the Company’s Audit Committee, bringing the Company
back into compliance with Section 303A.07(a) of the NYSE Listed Company Manual.

ITEM 9B.  OTHER INFORMATION.
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PART III

ITEM 10.   DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE.
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The following table contains the name, age and position with our company of each of our executive officers and
directors as of February 20, 2013. Their respective backgrounds are described in the text following the table.

Name Age  Position
Howard S. Cohen 66 Chairman of the Board of Directors (Director

since September 2007, Chairman since March
2008)

George R. Judd 51 President, Chief Executive Officer and
Director (since October 2008)

H. Douglas Goforth 49 Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
and Treasurer (Since February 2008)

Ned M. Bassil 47 Chief Supply Chain Officer (since December
2011)

Sara E. Epstein 35 Vice President, General Counsel and
Corporate Secretary (since February 2013)

Richard S. Grant 66 Director (since 2005)
Steven F. Mayer 53 Director (since 2004)
Alan H. Schumacher 66 Director (since 2004)
Ronald E. Kolka 53 Director (since August 2012)
M. Richard Warner 61 Director (since 2008)

Executive Officers

George R. Judd has served as our Chief Executive Officer since October 2008 and as our President and Chief
Operating Officer since May 2004. Mr. Judd has also served as a member of our board since October 2008.
Previously, he worked for Georgia-Pacific Corporation in a variety of positions managing both inside and outside
sales, national accounts and most recently as Vice President of Sales and Eastern Operations since 2002. From 2000
until 2002, Mr. Judd worked as Vice President of the North and Midwest regions of the Distribution Division. He
served as Vice President of the Southeast region from 1999 to 2000. Mr. Judd serves on the board of directors of
Snappy Air Distribution Products, Inc. and on the advisory board of DocuSign Inc. Mr. Judd formerly served on the
board of the Building Products Institute in Washington, D.C., and he is past Chair of the National Lumber & Building
Material Dealers Association. He graduated from Western Connecticut State University in 1984 with a Bachelor’s
degree in Marketing.

H. Douglas Goforth has served as our Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer since February
2008. From November 2006 until February 2008, Mr. Goforth served as Vice President and Corporate Controller for
Armor Holdings Inc. which was acquired by BAE Systems in July 2007. Previously he served as Corporate Controller
for BlueLinx from May 2004 until October 2006, where he played a key role in our 2004 IPO. From 2002 until 2004
he served as Controller for the Distribution Division of Georgia-Pacific Corporation. Mr. Goforth has 25 years of
combined accounting, finance, treasury, acquisition and management experience with leading distribution and
manufacturing companies including Mitsubishi Wireless Communications, Inc., Yamaha Motor Manufacturing, Inc.
and Ingersoll-Rand. Mr. Goforth is a North Carolina State Board Certified Public Accountant and earned a Bachelor
of Science in Accounting from Mars Hill College in North Carolina.

Ned M. Bassil has served as our Senior Vice President, Chief Supply Chain Officer since December 2011. Prior to
that, Mr. Bassil was a Senior Partner at a Bahou Heritage, a boutique firm providing large industrial clients with
customized advisory services, from 2006 to 2007 and from 2009 to 2011. Mr. Bassil held the role of Group CEO at
Azadea Holdings from 2008 to 2009, overseeing operations at over 350 retail outlets in 12 countries in Europe, the
Middle East, & Africa, in the areas of Fashion, Food & Beverage, and Home Furnishings, in addition to Real Estate
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development activities. Mr. Bassil also held a number of senior management roles such as VP Global Operations,
Senior VP Operations, and General Manager at Black & Decker from 2004 to 2005, and Philips Electronics from
1998 to 2004 in durable consumer goods, consumer electronics, and lighting.  He also held various operating roles at
Allied Signal (Honeywell) from 1993 to 1998 in the automotive industry, including Director of Operational
Excellence at Allied Signal from 1996 to 1998, overseeing the Black Belt deployment within the Automotive Products
Group. Mr. Bassil received his Masters of Business Administration in Finance from the Wharton School at the
University of Pennsylvania, a Masters in Engineering fromYoungstown State University, and a Bachelor of Science in
Electrical Engineering from Youngstown State University.

Sara E. Epstein has served as our Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary since February 2013, and
our Senior Counsel and Corporate Secretary since March 2010. Prior to joining us, Ms. Epstein was an attorney with
Jones Day. Ms. Epstein received a Juris Doctor degree from Tulane University and a Bachelor of Arts degree from
Tufts University.
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Directors

Howard S. Cohen has served as Chairman of our Board since March 2008 and as a member of our Board since
September 2007. He is a Senior Advisor to Cerberus. Mr. Cohen served as our Interim Chief Executive Officer from
March 2008 through October 2008 and as our Executive Chairman from March 2008 through March 2009. Mr. Cohen
possesses 33 years of leadership experience, including service as President and CEO of four publicly-traded
companies: GTECH Corporation, from 2001 to 2002; Bell & Howell, from 2000 to 2001; Sidus Systems Inc., from
1998 to 1999; and Peak Technologies Group, Inc., from 1996 to 1998. Mr. Cohen has also managed independent
divisions of three Fortune 500 companies. Mr. Cohen serves as the Chairman of the Board of Directors of Albertsons
LLC and Equable Ascent Financial, LLC, both of which are Cerberus portfolio companies. Mr. Cohen previously
served on the Board of SSA Global Technologies, Inc. from 2005 until 2007.

Mr. Cohen’s past experience as our interim Chief Executive Officer and Executive Chairman, financial expertise,
management advisory expertise, experience as a director and officer of public companies, relationship with our largest
stockholder and his performance as one of our Board members make him a valuable member of our Board.

George R. Judd has served as a member of our Board since October 2008. As an executive officer of our Company,
Mr. Judd’s background is described above. Mr. Judd’s experience as our Chief Executive Officer, years of experience
with Georgia-Pacific Corporation and BlueLinx in a variety of leadership roles, institutional knowledge, management
skills, industry knowledge and his performance as one of our Board members make him a valuable member of our
Board.

Richard S. Grant has served as a member of our Board since December 2005. Previously, Mr. Grant served as a
director of The BOC Group plc, until his retirement in 2002. Over 30 years of service with The BOC Group,
Mr. Grant held various management positions, most recently as Chief Executive of BOC Process Gas Solutions,
Chairman of CNC sa, a Mexican joint venture company, and he had group responsibility for Technology, Latin
America and Continental Europe. Previous responsibilities included service as the BOC Regional Director for South
Pacific/South Asia, Chairman of Elgas Ltd, an Australian LPG distributor, and before that as President of Ohmeda
Medical Devices and Chief Executive Officer of Glasrock Home Healthcare Inc. Mr. Grant currently serves on the
Board of Compass Minerals International Inc, where he is lead director, a member of the audit committee and the
compensation committee, and was previously a member of the nominating corporate governance committee, of which
he was Chairman. Mr. Grant previously served as a director of Distributed Energy Systems Corporation from 2006 to
2007.

Mr. Grant’s experience managing distribution businesses, leadership experience, international board experience,
transactional experience, financial expertise, experience as an officer and director of public companies, independence
and his performance as one of our Board members make him a valuable member of our Board.

Steven F. Mayer has served as a member of our Board since May 2004. He has been Senior Managing Director or
Managing Director of Cerberus California, LLC and predecessor entities since November 2002 and also serves as
Co-Head of Private Equity at Cerberus. Prior to joining Cerberus in 2002 and since 2001, Mr. Mayer was an
Executive Managing Director of Gores Technology Group. Prior to joining Gores, from 1996 to 2001, Mr. Mayer was
a Managing Director of Libra Capital Partners, L.P. From 1994 until 1996, Mr. Mayer was a Managing Director of
Aries Capital Group, LLC, a private equity investment firm that he co-founded. From 1992 until 1994, Mr. Mayer was
a principal with Apollo Advisors, L.P. and Lion Advisors, L.P., affiliated private investment firms. Prior to that time,
Mr. Mayer was an attorney with Sullivan & Cromwell. Mr. Mayer is a member of the boards of directors of Grifols,
S.A., YP Holdings, LLC, TransCentra, Inc., Spyglass Entertainment Holdings, LLC and Innkeepers USA, LLC.
Mr. Mayer received his A.B., cum laude, from Princeton University and his juris doctor degree, magna cum laude,
from Harvard Law School.
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Mr. Mayer’s financial expertise, management advisory expertise, experience as a director of public companies,
relationship with our largest stockholder and his performance as one of our Board members make him a valuable
member of our Board.

Alan H. Schumacher has served as a member of our Board since May 2004. He is a director of Noranda Aluminum
Holding Corporation, North American Bus Industries, Inc., School Bus Holdings Inc. and Quality Distribution Inc. He
is also a member of the board of managers of Quality Distribution LLC. Mr. Schumacher was a director of Anchor
Glass Container Inc. from 2003 to 2006, and of Equable Ascent Financial, LLC from December 2009 through
February 27, 2012. Mr. Schumacher was a member of the Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board from 2002
through June, 2012. Mr. Schumacher has 23 years of experience working in various positions at American National
Can Corporation and American National Can Group, where, from 1997 until his retirement in 2000, he served as
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer and, from 1988 through 1996, he served as Vice President,
Controller and Chief Accounting Officer.
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Mr. Schumacher’s financial expertise (including his qualification as an audit committee financial expert), experience in
the oversight of financial reporting and internal controls, experience as an officer and director of public companies,
independence and his performance as one of our Board members make him a valuable member of our Board.

Ronald E. Kolka has served as a member of our Board since August 16, 2012.  Mr. Kolka has been a Senior Operating
Executive at Cerberus Operations and Advisory Company, LLC (“COAC”) since January 5, 2012.  Prior to his tenure
with COAC, Mr. Kolka was Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Chrysler LLC beginning in
2007.  Mr. Kolka joined Chrysler Corporation in 1986.

Mr. Kolka’s financial and management expertise, his relationship with our largest stockholder and his performance as
one of our Board members make him a valuable member of our Board.

M. Richard Warner has served as a member of our Board since March 2008. Mr. Warner served as a consultant for
Cerberus Capital Management, L.P., or Cerberus, from May 2007 through June 2011. Prior to his work with Cerberus,
Mr. Warner was employed for more than 20 years in a variety of capacities at Temple-Inland Inc., most recently as a
Senior Advisor during 2006, President from 2003 to 2005, Vice President & Chief Administrative Officer from 1999
to 2003 and Vice President & General Counsel from 1994 to 2002. Prior to joining Temple-Inland, Mr. Warner was a
commercial lawyer in private practice. Mr. Warner currently serves on the boards of Balcones Resources Inc. He was
a director of Equable Ascent Financial, LLC, a Cerberus portfolio company from 2007 to February 27, 2012.
Mr. Warner received his BBA degree, magna cum laude, from Baylor University and his Juris Doctor degree from
Baylor University Law School.

Mr. Warner’s financial expertise, management advisory expertise, experience as a director and officer of public
companies, industry knowledge and experience, relationship with our largest stockholder and his performance as one
of our Board members make him a valuable member of our Board.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our directors and officers, and beneficial owners of more than 10% of our
equity securities, to file initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership with the SEC. Based solely
on our review of the copies of such reports received by us with respect to transactions during 2012, or written
representations from certain reporting persons, we believe that our directors, officers and persons who own more than
10% of our equity securities have complied with all applicable filing requirements for 2012.

Corporate Governance Guidelines and Code of Ethics

Our corporate governance guidelines, as in effect from time to time, may be found on our website,
www.bluelinxco.com. Our Board intends to review its corporate governance principles, committee charters and other
aspects of governance as often as necessary to remain current in all aspects of corporate governance for similarly
situated companies.

Our Board has adopted a policy to self-evaluate its performance on an annual basis.

Our code of conduct and ethics, applicable to all employees and officers as well as members of our Board, as in effect
from time to time, may be found on our website, www.bluelinxco.com. Any amendment to or waiver of our code of
conduct and ethics for any Board member, our Chief Executive Officer, our Chief Financial Officer as well as any
other executive officer will be disclosed on our website, www.bluelinxco.com. Additionally, our corporate
governance guidelines and code of conduct and ethics are available in print to any stockholder who requests them by
writing to BlueLinx Holdings Inc., attn: Corporate Secretary, 4300 Wildwood Parkway, Atlanta, Georgia 30339.
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Our code of conduct and ethics provides a procedure by which employees and others may directly or anonymously,
through a secure toll-free phone number, inform our management and/or the Audit Committee of any alleged violation
of our code of conduct and ethics, including any allegations of accounting fraud. Reporting employees are protected
from retaliation and any other form of adverse action.
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Communications with the Board of Directors

Stockholders and other interested parties who wish to send communications, including recommendations for director
nominees, to our Board or any individual director may do so by writing to the Board of Directors, in care of our
secretary, at our principal executive offices, BlueLinx Holdings Inc., attn: Corporate Secretary, 4300 Wildwood
Parkway, Atlanta, Georgia 30339. Your letter should indicate whether you are a stockholder. Depending on the
subject matter, our Corporate Secretary will, as appropriate:

●forward the communication to the director to whom it is addressed or, in the case of communications addressed to the
Board of Directors generally, to the chairman;

●attempt to handle the inquiry directly where it is a request for information about us; or

●not forward the communication if it is primarily commercial in nature or if it relates to an improper topic.

Communications from interested parties that are complaints or concerns relating to financial and accounting methods,
internal accounting controls or auditing matters should be sent to the chairman of the Audit Committee, following the
procedures set forth above. Director nominations will be reviewed for compliance with the requirements identified
under “Submission of Stockholder Proposals” in the proxy statement to be filed in connection with our 2013 annual
meeting of stockholders and if they meet such requirements, will be promptly forwarded to the director or directors
identified in the communication.  There have been no material changes to the procedures pursuant to which
stockholders may recommend nominees for directors since our 2012 annual meeting of stockholders.

All communications will be summarized for our Board on a periodic basis and each letter will be made available to
any director upon request.

Audit Committee

Our Board established a separately-designated standing Audit Committee in accordance with Section 3(a)(58)(A) of
the Exchange Act. The purpose of the Audit Committee is to assist our Board in fulfilling its responsibilities to
oversee our financial reporting process, including monitoring the integrity of our financial statements and the
independence and performance of our internal and external auditors. The Audit Committee is directly responsible for
the appointment, compensation, retention and oversight of our independent registered public accounting firm.

The Audit Committee met eight times in 2012. The Audit Committee currently consists of Messrs. Schumacher, Grant
and Warner. Mr. Charles H. McElrea resigned from the Board of Directors and the Audit Committee effective October
30, 2012. As discussed above, our Board has affirmatively determined that Messrs. Schumacher, Grant and Warner
are each “independent,” as such term is defined under the rules of the SEC and the listing standards of the NYSE
applicable to audit committee membership, and each meets the NYSE’s financial literacy requirements. Mr. McElrea
also was deemed to be independent during his time on the Audit Committee. Our Board has determined that
Mr. Schumacher is an “audit committee financial expert,” as such term is defined under the applicable rules of the SEC.
On November 6, 2012, our Chief Executive officer filed an interim written affirmation with the NYSE reporting that
the Company was out of compliance with the NYSE’s Corporate governance listing standards due to only having two
directors on the Company’s Audit Committee following Mr. McElrea’s resignation, rather than the three directors
required by Section 303A.07(a) of the NYSE Listed Company Manual.  On February 14, 2013, the Board
affirmatively determined Mr. M. Richard Warner to be independent.  Mr. Warner joined the Audit Committee as the
third director on the Company’s Audit Committee, bringing the Company back into compliance with Section
303A.07(a) of the NYSE Listed Company Manual.

Edgar Filing: LKQ CORP - Form DEF 14A

163



The Audit Committee operates pursuant to a written charter, a copy of which can be found on our website at
www.bluelinxco.com. Additionally, the audit committee charter is available in print to any stockholder who requests it
by writing to BlueLinx Holdings Inc., attn: Corporate Secretary, 4300 Wildwood Parkway, Atlanta, Georgia 30339.

The Audit Committee has adopted a procedure to receive allegations on any fraudulent accounting issues through a
toll-free telephone number as set out in our code of conduct and ethics. See “Corporate Governance Guidelines and
Code of Ethics” above.

ITEM 11.  EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

COMPENSATION DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

The Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors, referred to in this discussion as the Committee, is
responsible for reviewing, establishing and approving the compensation of our named executive officers.
Compensation paid to our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and the other named executive officers
identified in the Summary Compensation Table is set forth under “Compensation of Executive Officers” below. The
following discussion and analysis focuses on compensation to our named executive officers for 2012.

82

Edgar Filing: LKQ CORP - Form DEF 14A

164



Table of Contents

The Committee regularly consults with management regarding employee compensation matters. The Chief Executive
Officer’s compensation was primarily determined, and the material terms of his compensation arrangement are
reflected in, his second amended and restated employment agreement entered into on January 22, 2013. The terms of
the second amended and restated employment agreement are substantially similar to the terms of the employment
agreement we entered into with Mr. Judd in 2008, although it does provide for a slightly higher base salary.  In
promoting Mr. Judd to serve as our Chief Executive Officer in 2008, we established the terms of his employment
agreement based on a review of the compensation he was receiving in his capacity as our President and Chief
Operating Officer, the compensation necessary to hire a qualified chief executive officer from outside of the
Company, as well as our review of the market data for chief executive officer compensation at comparator companies
which was provided to the Committee by its outside compensation consultant, Hewitt Associates, in its 2008
compensation benchmarking survey. For further information regarding the terms of the Chief Executive Officer’s
employment, see “Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Chief Executive Officer” below. Our Chief
Executive Officer makes compensation recommendations to the Committee for the other named executive officers.
The Committee also considers market factors in making decisions about our compensation program. In this regard, in
2005, the Committee retained Hewitt Associates, now Meridian, to advise it on executive compensation matters and to
provide compensation recommendations as to our executive officers. The Committee and the Company periodically
discuss compensation issues and solicit compensation advice and data from Meridian. At the request of the
Committee, Meridian provided an updated compensation benchmarking study to the Company in February 2013. The
following discussion and analysis, which was reviewed and approved by the Committee, analyzes the objectives and
results for 2012 of our named executive officer compensation policies and procedures.

 Compensation Policies and Objectives

Our primary goal is to establish a compensation program that serves the long-term interests of the Company and our
stockholders by aligning management’s interests with that of our stockholders through equity ownership and by
promoting the attainment of certain individual and corporate goals. In addition, our compensation program is designed
to attract and retain top quality executives with the qualifications necessary for the long-term financial success of the
Company.

Our executive compensation program is based on the following principles:

●Compensation decisions are driven by a pay-for-performance philosophy, which takes into account performance by
both the Company and the individual;

●Performance is determined with reference to pre-established goals, both with respect to the Company and the
individual, which we believe enhances the individual executive’s performance;

●Where possible, a significant component of total direct compensation should consist of variable compensation;

●Total compensation opportunity should be comparable to the median ranges in the marketplace within which we
compete; and

● Increased compensation can be earned through an individual’s increased contribution to the Company.

Compensation programs in which our named executive officers participate are designed to be competitive with the
compensation programs of companies with which we compete for executive talent in order to enhance our ability to
attract and retain key executive leadership. In this regard, the Committee directed the Company to engage Hewitt
Associates to perform a benchmark study of the Company’s compensation structure in 2008. In evaluating our
compensation program, the Committee considered the level of compensation paid to executive officers in comparable
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executive positions within a comparator group consisting of eighteen distribution companies and two building
products companies selected by BlueLinx with annual revenues between $645 million and $10.8 billion. The
companies within the group were selected based on size, industry focus and organizational status and we believe as a
group they represent the appropriate comparable labor market for executive talent. This group comprised the
following companies: Amcon Distributing Company; Andersons Inc.; Applied Industrial Technologies Inc.; Beacon
Roofing Supply Inc.; Building Materials Holding Corporation; Builders FirstSource Inc.; Fastenal Company; GATX
Corp.; Genuine Parts Company; Huttig Building Products Inc.; Interline Brands Inc.; MSC Industrial Direct; Nash
Finch Co.; RSC Holdings Inc.; Rush Enterprises Inc.; United Rentals Inc.; Universal Forest Products; Watsco Inc.;
Wesco International Inc.; and WW Grainger Inc.

83

Edgar Filing: LKQ CORP - Form DEF 14A

166



Table of Contents

Hewitt’s comprehensive benchmarking study focused on a number of elements to compare the Company to companies
within these comparator groups, including base salaries, target bonuses and actual bonuses paid, actual annual equity
awards, total cash compensation, benefits and total compensation. The Company and the Committee reviewed
information from these comparator companies and used the data as a reference point to assist them in establishing the
compensation program for the Company, setting our executive officers’ compensation and benefits to be competitive
with those of executive officers in similar positions at these comparator companies and to achieve a balance of
incentives to help achieve our performance objectives. Although the Committee does not tie executive compensation
to a single reference benchmark or target within the comparator group, the Committee generally considers the 50th
and 75th percentiles of companies within the comparator group. The benchmarking study is used as a comparative
tool in the Committee’s evaluation of the Company’s executive compensation in relation to companies believed to
represent the appropriate comparable labor market for executive talent.

The Committee periodically consults with Meridian on compensation issues and may periodically engage consultants
in the future to advise on the ongoing competitiveness of our compensation programs as warranted.  At the request of
the Committee, Meridian provided an updated compensation benchmarking study to the Company in February
2013.  The Company plans to review the updated compensation benchmarking study and utilize this study as we make
future compensation decisions.  In addition, the Committee periodically reviews and revises salary ranges and total
compensation programs to develop compensation ranges that it believes will position us within the same range as
market salaries for similar positions in our industry based on market information obtained from consultation with,
Meridian, informal market surveys, various trade group publications and other publicly available information.

At the 2012 Annual Meeting, our stockholders expressed their continued support of our executive compensation
programs by approving the non-binding advisory vote on our executive compensation. More than 99% of votes cast
supported our executive compensation policies and practices. During 2012, we reviewed our executive compensation
programs in conjunction with business results and stockholder support of our executive compensation program.
Following that review, we continue to believe that our executive compensation programs are designed to support the
company and business strategies in concert with our compensation philosophy described above.

Elements of Compensation

Compensation for our named executive officers consists of four general components:

●Base salary;

●Annual performance-based cash awards;

●Long-term equity incentive compensation; and

●Other perquisite and benefit programs.

The appropriate mix and amount of compensation for each named executive officer varies based on the level of the
executive’s responsibilities, as determined by the Committee in consultation with our Chief Executive Officer. The
compensation structure for each of our named executive officers is largely established by his employment agreement.
The Committee may increase any component of compensation provided by an employment agreement to any of our
named executive officers. There is no established policy or formula for allocating any individual’s total compensation
between cash and non-cash, or between short-term and long-term incentives. This approach is designed to provide the
Company with flexibility to respond to marketplace and individual factors in attracting and retaining executive talent
and encouraging performance.
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The Committee typically reviews and adjusts base salaries and awards of cash bonuses and equity-based
compensation on an annual basis. Our Chief Executive Officer presents recommendations and proposals on
compensation, which are developed in consultation with our Chief Administrative Officer and other Company
representatives, to the Committee, including recommended base salaries, recommended structure, target levels and
payout levels for the annual cash bonus program under the Company’s short term incentive plan (“STIP”), and
recommended equity awards to executive officers, and management’s rationale for its recommendations. The
Committee considers these recommendations before determining compensation.
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Base Salary

Base salaries represent a fixed portion of named executive officer compensation and vary by job responsibility. We
provide base salary because it is standard in the marketplace and provides a stable part of compensation to encourage
retention. Named executive officer salaries generally are reviewed and approved annually by the Committee.
Additionally, periodic salary adjustments are considered upon a promotion, change in job responsibility or when
otherwise necessary for equitable reasons. The Chief Executive Officer’s base salary was initially established in his
employment agreement, and the Committee consults with the Chief Executive Officer regarding the salaries of the
other named executive officers. The Committee then considers such matters and approves base salary as to the named
executive officers. The Committee primarily considers the recommendations of the Chief Executive Officer, market
data, a general review of the executive’s compensation (individually and relative to the other executives), and the
individual performance of the executive.

In May 2012, the Compensation Committee increased Mr. Judd’s salary and Mr. Goforth’s salary.  The Compensation
Committee had discussed at multiple meetings that Mr. Judd and Mr. Goforth had not received a recent salary
increase.  In light of the substantial contributions of Messrs. Judd and Goforth over the past several years, in guiding
the Company through one of the most severe downturns in the homebuilding industry while still improving the
Company’s liquidity position, and the Compensation Committee’s determination that Messrs. Judd and Goforth were
compensated below market for their positions and contributions to the Company, the Compensation Committee
decided a salary increase was both appropriate and warranted for both Messrs. Judd and Goforth.

Annual Bonuses

We utilize cash bonuses as an incentive to promote achievement of individual and Company performance goals. This
component of compensation places more emphasis on our annual financial performance and the potential rewards
associated with future performance of the Company and the individual executive. Annual bonuses are determined
based on agreements with the individual executive as well as pursuant to the Company’s STIP. Cash incentives are
designed to:

●Support our strategic business objectives;

●Promote the attainment of specific financial goals;

●Reward achievement of specific performance objectives; and

●Encourage teamwork.

Under the STIP, an annual bonus pool is established and funded based solely on performance as measured against
established business and/or financial goals at different levels of the Company’s operating structure. The Committee
establishes the bonus pool based on Company performance. In general, the bonus pool is allocated to each participant
based on the participant’s “target bonus percentage” (a percentage of such participant’s current base salary) and the extent
to which the Company and/or such participant’s operating group(s) meets the established business and/or financial
goals. Each of the named executive officers is a participant in the STIP, and each of their annual bonuses are subject
to adjustment by the Committee, in its discretion, based on the executive’s individual performance and contribution to
the Company during the year. The threshold, target and maximum bonus percentages for 2012 for each of the named
executive officers as a percentage of each executive’s base salary were as follows:

Threshold Target Maximum
George R. Judd 50 % 100 % 200 %
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H. Douglas Goforth 32.5 % 65 % 130 %
Dean A. Adelman(1) 25 % 50 % 100 %
Ned M. Bassil 32.5 % 65 % 130 %

(1)        Mr. Adelman resigned from the Company effective February 1, 2013.  We are presenting his compensation
package for 2012 as he was a named executive officer as of the end of the fiscal year ended December 29, 2012.

Generally, the Committee sets the target levels for financial performance metrics for the STIP in alignment with the
Company’s strategic plan. In making the annual determination of the threshold, target and maximum levels, the
Committee may consider specific circumstances facing the Company during the year. For 2012, 100% of a named
executive officer’s potential STIP award was based on corporate earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and
amortization (“EBITDA”) targets, as adjusted for non-cash items and other items that are allowed at the discretion of the
Committee. This objective is measured separately against a threshold, target and maximum goal. For 2012, these
EBITDA goals were as follows:

Threshold ($) Target ($) Maximum ($)
(In millions)

EBITDA 3.5 10.0 30
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For purposes of STIP calculations, during fiscal 2012 the Company achieved EBITDA of $14.1 million, which
includes $9.9 million in gains from the sale of real estate.  Based on our financial performance, the named executive
officers earned bonuses for fiscal 2012 based on achieved EBITDA which was paid in the form of restricted stock
granted in January of 2013.  The officers received restricted stock in lieu of cash to conserve capital for future
working capital requirements.

Officer

Base
Salary
($)(2)

Target
Bonus %

Total
Target
Payout
($)

Portion of
Target
Payout

Related to
EBITDA

Goal (100%)
($)

Actual
Payout

Related to
EBITDA
Goal (0%)
($)(1)

Actual
Total
Payout
($)

George R. Judd 690,000 100 690,000 690,000 345,000 345,000
H. Douglas Goforth 425,000 65 276,250 276,250 138,125 138,125
Dean A. Adelman 315,000 50 157,500 157,500 78,750 78,750
Ned M. Bassil 400,000 65 260,000 260,000 40,000 40,000

 (1)Restricted shares granted in lieu of a cash bonus were based on a total economic value, shown in the above
table, of $601,875 ($345,000 for Mr. Judd, $138,125 for Mr. Goforth, $78,750 for Mr. Adelman and $40,000 for
Mr. Bassil), which equates to total shares of 182,940 (104,863 shares for Mr. Judd, 41,983 shares for Mr. Goforth,
23,936 shares for Mr. Adelman and 12,158 shares for Mr. Bassil) with a total fair value on the date of grant of
$603,702 ($346,048 for Mr. Judd, $138,544 for Mr. Goforth, $78,989 for Mr. Adelman and $40,121 for Mr.
Bassil).  These restricted shares vest one year from the date of grant.  As indicated above, Mr. Adelman resigned
from the Company effective February 1, 2013.  We are presenting his compensation package for 2012 as he was a
named executive officer as of the end of the fiscal year ended December 29, 2012.  He forfeited this restricted
stock bonus as of the date of his resignation.

 (2)The STIP targets for each named executive officer are based on the each respective officer’s final base salary for
fiscal 2012.

For 2013, the Committee established the STIP financial performance objectives for Messrs. Judd and Goforth as based
on EBITDA and revenue growth, and for Mr. Bassil as based on EBITDA, gross margin performance and inventory
performance. We believe it will be a challenge to achieve the target financial goal in 2013 for funding of the STIP at
its target funding level. As demonstrated in connection with the 2012 STIP, the maximum financial goals were
designed to be difficult to achieve, and we believe they will be.

Long Term Equity Incentive Plan

The purpose of our Long Term Equity Incentive Plans, or LTIP, is to provide an incentive to our employees to work
towards the achievement of our long term performance goals. A further purpose of the LTIP is to provide a means
through which we may better attract able individuals to become employees of the Company by providing these
individuals with stock ownership. We also consider the program a key retention tool. For all of these reasons, we
believe this component of compensation further advances and aligns the interests of the Company and its
stockholders. LTIP grants are made annually. On May 29, 2007, the Compensation Committee resolved to set the date
on which annual LTIP grants would be made to executive officers and certain members of management as the second
Tuesday of each fiscal year. The Committee has the discretion to make additional LTIP grants at any time during the
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year. Such grants generally will be in connection with new hires or promotions within the Company.

In making decisions regarding long-term equity incentive awards for named executive officers, the Committee
reviews the comparable equity award data for similar positions in our industry, market data and data from our
compensation consultant, and also considers other relevant factors.

On January 10, 2012, the Committee awarded shares of restricted stock to certain of the Company’s named executive
officers. Messrs. Judd, Goforth and Adelman received 606,612, 379,133 and 318,471 restricted shares, respectively.
The value of these awards was based on the market price of our common stock at the date of the grant. The Committee
considered the total dollar value of each named executive officer’s award when approving each grant.
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The Compensation Committee recognized that many employees have made significant contributions to the Company
over the past several years, but have not received recognition for their effort through additional compensation.  In an
effort to provide recognition of these employees’ contributions and as a part of the Company’s retention strategy, the
Compensation Committee decided to award performance shares to these employees, including the named executive
officers, in January 2013.  The performance shares vest over three years based on the Company’s achievement of
EBITDA targets, providing additional incentive to the employees to achieve such targets.

Further information on equity ownership can be found below in “Executive Compensation.”

Defined Contribution Plan

The Company historically provides retirement benefits to the named executive officers, including matching
contributions, under the terms of its tax-qualified 401(k) defined contribution plan. In 2009, the Company suspended
its matching contributions to the 401(k) plan for all employees until business conditions improve. This suspension
continued in effect for fiscal 2011 and continued for all or part of fiscal 2012 for the named executive officers. This
suspension is expected to continue for fiscal 2013 for the named executive officers.  The named executive officers
participate in the plan on substantially the same terms as our other participating employees. We believe that these
benefits are comparable to those provided by comparable companies. The Company does not maintain any defined
benefit or supplemental retirement plans for its executive officers.

Perquisites and Other Personal Benefits

The Company provides the named executive officers with perquisites and other personal benefits that the Company
believes are reasonable, competitive in the market and consistent with its overall compensation program to better
enable the Company to attract and retain superior employees for key positions. The named executive officers
generally are provided a car allowance, payment of certain club dues, life insurance and reimbursement for relocation
expenses, if applicable. The Committee periodically reviews the levels of perquisites and other personal benefits
provided to named executive officers.

Costs of the perquisites and personal benefits described above for the named executive officers for 2012 that meet the
threshold established by SEC regulations are included in the Summary Compensation Table in the “All Other
Compensation” column. See “Executive Compensation.”

Employment Agreements

We use employment agreements to attract and/or retain executive officers to BlueLinx. We primarily serve the
housing and remodeling industries which are historically cyclical industries. Employment agreements enhance our
ability to attract and retain top executive talent by providing some degree of certainty in light of these major cycles.
The Committee, with assistance from our human resources department and legal counsel both inside and outside of
the Company, establish and negotiate the terms of the employment agreements. The Committee believes multi-year
employment agreements are necessary to secure executive talent for the long-term benefit of the Company and our
stockholders. The Committee further believes that not utilizing employment agreements would put us at a competitive
disadvantage to our peers in recruiting executives. Our employment agreements also include confidentiality,
non-competition and non-solicitation provisions, all for the benefit of the Company. Consistent with our compensation
philosophy, the employment agreements provide for a significant component of each executive’s annual compensation
to be variable, as cash bonuses under our STIP are awarded based on Company performance against pre-established
financial or operational goals. For example, no cash bonuses were paid to our named executive officers based on our
fiscal 2011 financial performance.  Based on improvements in our business during fiscal 2012, cash bonuses became
payable to our named executive officers in fiscal 2013.  However, these cash bonuses were paid in the form of
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restricted stock grants.  Additionally, the value of annual equity compensation is determined by our common stock
price so our executives’ interests are aligned with those of our stockholders in this regard.

Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Chief Executive Officer

On January 22, 2013, we entered into a Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with George R. Judd,
our Chief Executive Officer. The Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreement expires on January 22,
2015, except that it will be renewed automatically for an additional one-year period unless ninety days prior written
notice is given by either party in advance of the expiration date of any such extended term. The Second Amended and
Restated Employment Agreement provides that Mr. Judd will receive a base salary at the rate of $690,000 per year,
subject to increase at the discretion of the Committee. Mr. Judd shall also be eligible to receive an annual bonus
pursuant to the terms of our annual bonus plan, with the annual bonus potential to be a target of 100% of his base
salary up to a maximum of 200% of base salary, based upon satisfaction of performance goals and bonus criteria to be
defined and approved by the Compensation Committee in advance for each fiscal year in accordance with the terms of
the applicable bonus plan. In addition, the Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreement provides that
Mr. Judd is eligible to participate in all benefit programs for which senior executives are generally eligible. The
Committee reviewed the Hewitt Associates benchmark study and considered the level of compensation paid to chief
executive officers within the comparator group of companies as a factor in establishing his compensation.
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Under his Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, the Company may terminate Mr. Judd’s
employment for cause or without cause. If Mr. Judd’s employment is terminated without cause or he resigns for good
reason, the Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreement provides Mr. Judd with, among other things,
payment equal to one time his annual base salary in effect immediately prior to the date of termination, plus one time
the cash bonus amount equal to the target bonus amount Mr. Judd was eligible to receive for the fiscal year prior to the
year of the termination of his employment. Such sum is payable in twelve equal monthly installments commencing on
the earlier to occur of the first business day of the seventh month after the date of termination or Mr. Judd’s death. The
Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreement also contains confidentiality provisions, as well as a covenant
not to compete during the employment term and continuing for a period of one year following his date of termination.
The Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreement supercedes and replaces Mr. Judd’s Amended and
Restated Employment Agreement with the Company dated January 21, 2011.

Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Chief Financial Officer

On January 22, 2013, we entered into a Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with H. Douglas
Goforth, our Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer. The Second Amended and Restated
Employment Agreement expires on January 23, 2015, except that it will be renewed automatically for an additional
one-year period unless ninety days prior written notice is given by either party in advance of the expiration date of any
such extended term. The Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreement provides that Mr. Goforth’s annual
base salary shall be paid at the rate of $425,000 per year, subject to increase at the discretion of the Committee.
Mr. Goforth shall also be eligible to receive an annual bonus pursuant to the terms of the Company’s annual bonus
plan, with the annual bonus potential to be a target of 65% of his base salary up to a maximum of 130% of base salary,
based upon satisfaction of performance goals and bonus criteria to be defined and approved by the Compensation
Committee in advance for each fiscal year in accordance with the terms of the bonus plan. In addition, the Second
Amended and Restated Employment Agreement provides that Mr. Goforth is eligible to participate in all benefit
programs for which senior executives are generally eligible.

Under his Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, the Company may terminate Mr. Goforth’s
employment for cause or without cause. If Mr. Goforth’s employment is terminated without cause or he resigns for
good reason, the Second Amended and Restated Agreement provides Mr. Goforth with, among other things, payment
equal to one time his annual base salary in effect immediately prior to the date of termination, plus one time the cash
bonus amount equal to the target bonus amount Mr. Goforth was eligible to receive for the prior fiscal year. Such sum
is payable in twelve equal monthly installments commencing on the earlier to occur of the first business day of the
seventh month after the date of termination or Mr. Goforth’s death. The Second Amended and Restated Employment
Agreement also contains confidentiality provisions, as well as a covenant not to compete during the employment term
and continuing for a period of one year following his date of termination. The Second Amended and Restated
Employment Agreement supercedes and replaces Mr. Goforth’s Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with
the Company dated January 21, 2011.
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Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Chief Administrative Officer

Mr. Adelman resigned from the Company effective  February 1, 2013.  We are presenting his compensation package
for 2012 as he was a named executive officer as of the end of the fiscal year ended December 29, 2012.

On January 21, 2011, we entered into an Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Dean A. Adelman, our
Chief Administrative Officer. The Amended and Restated Employment Agreement expires on January 20, 2013,
except that it will be renewed automatically for an additional one-year period unless ninety days prior written notice is
given by either party in advance of the expiration date of any such extended term. Mr. Adelman’s annual base salary
shall be paid at the rate of $315,000 per year. Mr. Adelman shall also be eligible to receive an annual bonus pursuant
to the terms of our annual bonus plan, with the annual bonus potential to be a target of 50% of his base salary up to a
maximum of 100% of base salary, based upon satisfaction of performance goals and bonus criteria to be defined and
approved by the Compensation Committee in advance for each fiscal year in accordance with the terms of the
applicable bonus plan. In addition, the Amended and Restated Employment Agreement provides that Mr. Adelman is
eligible to participate in all benefit programs for which senior executives are generally eligible. The Compensation
Committee reviewed the Hewitt Associates benchmark study and considered the level of compensation paid to
executive officers in comparable executive positions to Mr. Adelman within the comparator group of companies to
establish his compensation under the Amended and Restated Employment Agreement.

Under his Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, the Company may terminate Mr. Adelman’s employment
for cause or without cause. If Mr. Adelman’s employment is terminated without cause or he resigns for good reason,
the Amended and Restated Employment Agreement provides Mr. Adelman with, among other things, payment equal
to one time his annual base salary in effect immediately prior to the date of termination, plus one time the cash bonus
amount equal to the target bonus amount Mr. Adelman was eligible to receive for the fiscal year prior to the year of
the termination of his employment, payable in twelve equal monthly installments commencing on the earlier to occur
of the first business day of the seventh month after the date of termination or Mr. Adelman’s death. The Employment
Agreement also contains confidentiality provisions, as well as a covenant not to compete during the employment term
and continuing for a period of one year following his date of termination. The Amended and Restated Employment
Agreement supercedes and replaces Mr. Adelman’s Employment Agreement with the Company dated June 4, 2009.

Employment Agreement with Chief Supply Chain Officer

On October 31, 2011, we entered into an Employment Agreement with Ned M. Bassil, our new Senior Vice-President
and Chief Supply Chain Officer. The Employment Agreement became effective on December 1, 2011 and expires on
December 1, 2013, except that the Employment Agreement will be renewed automatically for successive additional
one-year periods unless ninety days prior written notice is given by either party in advance of the expiration date of
any such extended term. The Employment Agreement provides that Mr. Bassil will receive a base salary at the rate of
$400,000 per year, subject to increase at the discretion of the Committee. Mr. Bassil shall also be eligible to receive an
annual bonus pursuant to the terms of our annual bonus plan, with the annual bonus potential to be a target of 65% of
his base salary up to a maximum of 130% of base salary, based upon satisfaction of performance goals and bonus
criteria to be defined and approved by the Compensation Committee in advance for each fiscal year in accordance
with the terms of the applicable bonus plan. Upon Mr. Bassil commencing employment, Mr. Bassil received a
payment of $100,000 less applicable taxes. In addition, Mr. Bassil received an additional payment of $100,000 less
applicable taxes on the first anniversary of the effective date of his Employment Agreement. The Employment
Agreement provides that Mr. Bassil is eligible to participate in all benefit programs for which senior executives are
generally eligible.

Mr. Bassil also received 200,000 restricted shares of the Company’s common stock on December 1, 2011 as part of his
incentive package to join the Company. The shares were issued pursuant to the Company’s 2006 Long Term Equity
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Incentive Plan. The shares vest over a three-year period commencing on the effective date of his Employment
Agreement.

Under the Employment Agreement, the Company may terminate Mr. Bassil’s employment for cause or without cause.
If Mr. Bassil’s employment is terminated without cause or he resigns for good reason, the Employment Agreement
provides Mr. Bassil with, among other things, payment equal to one time his annual base salary in effect immediately
prior to the date of termination, plus one time the amount equal to the target bonus for Mr. Bassil for the fiscal year
prior to the year of the termination of his employment, payable in twelve equal monthly installments commencing on
the earlier to occur of the first business day of the seventh month after the date of termination or Mr. Bassil’s death.
The Employment Agreement also contains confidentiality provisions, as well as a covenant not to compete during the
employment term and continuing for a period of one year following his date of termination in the event Mr. Bassil is
terminated without cause, he voluntarily resigns or resigns for good reason, or the employment period ends.
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Risk Analysis of Compensation Program

The Compensation Committee has reviewed our compensation program to determine if the elements encourage
excessive or unnecessary risk taking that reasonably could have a material adverse effect on the Company. There is no
objective way to measure risk resulting from a company’s compensation program; therefore, such analysis is subjective
in nature. After reviewing our compensation program, the Compensation Committee believes that the only elements
that could incentivize risk taking are the annual cash incentives under the STIP and awards made under the LTIP with
payouts dependent on the achievement of certain performance levels by the Company. Since base salaries are fixed,
they do not encourage risk taking. The same is true of awards under the LTIP that include only time-based vesting.
Based upon the value of each of these elements to the overall compensation mix and the relative value each has to the
other, the Compensation Committee believes that the Company’s compensation program is appropriately balanced.
The Compensation Committee believes that the mix of short- and long-term awards minimizes risks that may be
taken, as any risks taken for short-term gains ultimately could jeopardize not only the Company’s ability to meet the
long-term performance objectives, but also appreciation in the Company’s stock price. In addition, the Compensation
Committee believes that the establishment of reasonable performance goals, the capping of payouts and the avoidance
of any steep payout changes at the various payout levels of the performance-based STIP and LTIP compensation
components further reduce any risk-taking incentive that may be associated with these compensation elements. As a
result, the Compensation Committee does not believe that our compensation program incentivizes unreasonable risk
taking.

Internal Revenue Code Section 162(m)

In making compensation decisions, the Compensation Committee also considers the potential impact of
Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (“Section 162(m)”). Section 162(m) disallows a tax
deduction for any publicly held corporation for individual compensation exceeding $1 million in any taxable year for
the Chief Executive Officer and the other executive officers, other than compensation that is performance-based under
a plan that is approved by the stockholders of the Company and meets other technical requirements. However, the
Committee reserves the right to provide for compensation to executive officers that may not be deductible if it
believes such compensation is in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders.

Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee reviewed and discussed the “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” set forth above
with management. Based on such review and discussions, the Compensation Committee recommended to the Board
that such Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and our 2013
Proxy Statement.

Richard Warner, Chairman
Howard Cohen
Alan Schumacher

2012 SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

The following table sets forth the cash and non-cash compensation for 2012, 2011 and 2010, awarded to our Chief
Executive Officer, our Chief Financial Officer, our Chief Administrative Officer and our Chief Supply Chain Officer.
We refer to these individuals as our “named executive officers.”

Name and
Principal Position

Year Salary
($)

Bonus
($)

Stock
Awards

Non-Equity
Incentive

All Other
Comp.

Total
($)
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($)(2)

($)

George R. Judd, 2012 645,000 — 891,720 345,000 19,095 1,900,815
President and
Chief 2011 600,000 — 691,839 — 22,542 1,314,381
Executive
Officer(3) 2010 600,000 — 631,872 — 16,089 1,247,961

H. Douglas
Goforth, 2012 400,000 — 557,326 138,125 19,310 1,114,761
CFO &
Treasurer(4) 2011 375,000 — 372,527 — 16,321 763,848

2010 375,000 — 368,592 — 18,537 762,129

Dean A. Adelman, 2012 315,000 — 468,152 78,750 6,148 868,050
Chief
Administrative 2011 315,000 — 319,308 — 6,960 641,268
Officer(5) 2010 315,000 — 315,936 — 2,047 632,983

Ned M. Bassil, 2012 400,000 — — 40,000 106,421 546,421
Chief Supply
Chain Officer(6) 2011 26,154 — 290,000 — 100,000 416,154
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(1)The amounts in this column were calculated based on the grant date fair value of our common stock, in accordance
with FASB ASC Topic 718. Stock awards generally vest in various increments over multi-year periods. As a result,
this grant date fair value may not be indicative of the ultimate value the executive may receive under these grants.

(2)Under the fiscal 2012 STIP, the Committee determined that based on the Company’s financial performance,
including EBITDA achievement, restricted stock awards were made to the named executive officers during
January 2013 in lieu of a cash bonus otherwise payable under the fiscal 2012 STIP.  The economic value of this
bonus, presented in the above table, for Messrs. Judd, Goforth, Adelman and Bassil was $345,000, $135,125,
$78,750 and $40, 000, respectively. Total restricted shares granted in January of 2013 were 182,940 (104,863
shares for Mr. Judd, 41,983 shares for Mr. Goforth, 23,936 shares for Mr. Adelman and 12,158 shares for Mr.
Bassil) with a total fair value on the date of grant of $603,702 ($346,048 for Mr. Judd, $138,544 for Mr. Goforth,
$78,989 for Mr. Adelman and $40,121 for Mr. Bassil).  These awards vest one year from the date of grant.  As
indicated above, Mr. Adelman resigned from the Company on February 1, 2013.  We are presenting his
compensation package for 2012 as he was a named executive officer as of the end of the fiscal year ended
December 29, 2012.  He forfeited this restricted stock bonus as of the date of his resignation.

(3)Mr. Judd’s “Base Salary” for 2012 includes a $90,000 compensation increase that went into effect mid year of fiscal
2012.  He therefore received half of this increase ($45,000) in fiscal 2012 as it was not retrospective.  Mr. Judd’s
“All Other Compensation” for 2012 includes an auto allowance of $7,620; a club dues allowance of $6,000 and
health benefits paid by the Company of $5,475.

(4)Mr. Goforth’s “Base Salary” for 2012 includes a $50,000 compensation increase that went into effect mid year of
fiscal 2012.  He therefore received half of this increase ($25,000) in fiscal 2012 as it was not
retrospective.  Mr. Goforth’s “All Other Compensation” for 2012 includes an auto allowance of $7,500; a club dues
allowance of $6,000 and health benefits paid by the Company of $5,809.

(5)Mr. Adelman’s “All Other Compensation” for 2011 includes health benefits paid by the Company of $6,148.  Mr.
Adelman resigned from the Company effective February 1, 2013.

(6)Mr. Bassil’s “All Other Compensation” for 2012 represents the amount earned by Mr. Bassil in accordance with his
employment agreement, which is based upon his continued employment with the Company through the first
anniversary of the effective date of that agreement, as well as $6,421 of health benefits paid by the Company. We
have only presented two years of compensation for Mr. Bassil as his employment with the Company did not begin
until December of 2011.
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GRANTS OF PLAN-BASED AWARDS FOR 2012

The table below sets forth information regarding all grants of awards made to the named executive officers during
2012. For further information regarding the terms of certain of these grants, see “Compensation Discussion and
Analysis” above.

Estimated Possible Payouts
Under Non-Equity Incentive

Plan Awards(1)

Estimated Future Payouts Under
Equity Incentive
Plan Awards

All Other
Stock 
Awards
# of

Shares(2)

All
Other

Option Awards
# of
Shares

Underlying
Option

Exercise or
Base
Price
of

Option
Awards
($/sh)

Grant Date
Fair
Value
of Stock
and

Option
Awards
($)Name

Grant
Date

Threshold
($)

Target
($)

Max
($)

Threshold
(#)

Target
(#)

Max
(#)

George R.
Judd N/A 345,000 690,000 1,380,000 — — — N/A — — N/A

1/10/12 606,612 891,720

Howard D.
Goforth N/A 138,125 276,250 552,500 — — — N/A — — N/A

1/10/12 379,133 557,326

Dean A.
Adelman N/A 78,750 157,500 315,000 — — — N/A — — N/A

1/10/12 318,471 468,152

Ned M.
Bassil N/A 130,000 260,000 520,000 — — — N/A — — N/A

N/A N/A N/A

(1)These columns show the range of possible payouts which were targeted for 2012 performance under the Company’s
STIP as described in the section titled “Annual Bonuses” in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis and are based
on the named executive officer’s final base salary for 2012. The Committee awarded restricted stock during January
of fiscal 2013 in lieu of cash bonuses based on the Company’s fiscal 2012 financial results.  These restricted stock
awards vest one year from the date of grant.  We have not presented this award in the table above, or in the “2012
Outstanding Equity Awards Table” below as it was not granted until fiscal 2013.

(2)The restricted stock grants disclosed in the table were all issued pursuant to the Company’s 2004 or 2006 LTIP.
Each of the restricted stock awards cliff vest three years from the date of grant.

2012 OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT YEAR END

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to unexercised stock options and unvested shares of
restricted stock held on December 29, 2012 by each of our named executive officers.

Option Awards Stock Awards
Name Number

of
Number

of
Option
Exercise

Option
Expiration

Number of
Shares of

Market
Value of

Equity
Incentive

Equity
Incentive
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Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options

Exercisable

Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options

Unexercisable

Price ($) Date Stock That
Have Not
Vested

Shares of
Stock That
Have Not
Vested
($)(1)

Plan Awards:
Number

of
Unearned

Shares, Units,
or Other
Rights
That

Have Not
Vested (#)

Plan Awards:
Market or
Payout
Value
of

Unearned
Shares,
Units
or Other
Rights
That

Have Not
Vested
($)(1)

George R. Judd 78,647 — 14.01 6/5/16 1,060,453 2,979,873 — —
Howard D. Goforth — — — — 628,522 1,766,147 — —
Dean A.
Adelman(2) 14,000 — 10.29 11/9/15 524,845 1,474,814 — —

21,169 — 14.01 6/5/16
Ned M. Bassil — — — — 200,000 562,000 — —

(1) Computed based on the closing price of our common stock on December 29, 2012 of $2.81.
(2)Mr. Adelman forfeited all unvested restricted stock and all unexpired options as of the date of his resignation,

described further above, effective February 1, 2013.
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OPTION EXERCISES AND STOCK VESTED

The following table sets forth information with respect to shares of restricted stock that vested in 2012. No stock
options held by the named executive officers were exercised in 2012.

Stock Awards
Number of Shares

Acquired 
on Vesting (#)

Value Realized
on Vesting ($)

George R. Judd 270,095 539,498
H. Douglas Goforth 138,123 262,434
Dean A. Adelman 127,266 248,817
Ned M. Bassil — —

Payments upon Certain Events of Termination or Change-in-Control

As described above under “Employment Agreements,” certain of our named executive officers are entitled to receive
payments in connection with the termination of their employment by the Company in certain circumstances.
Additionally, our named executive officers hold equity awards issued pursuant to our 2004 LTIP and our 2006 LTIP.
Options and restricted stock issued pursuant to these plans generally vest automatically upon a change in control of
the Company.

The following table describes the estimated present value of unvested restricted stock awards that would have
immediately vested in the event that the named executive officer’s employment was terminated by reason of death or
disability on December 29, 2012 or if a change in control of the Company occurred on such date. All outstanding
option awards held by the named executive officers were fully vested at December 29, 2010.

Value of
Restricted Stock(1) Total(1)

George R. Judd $ 2,979,873 $2,979,873
H. Douglas Goforth $ 1,766,147 $1,766,147
Dean A. Adelman $ 1,474,814 $1,474,814
Ned M. Bassil $ 562,000 $562,000

(1) Computed based on the closing price of our common stock on December 29, 2012 of $2.81.
(2)Mr. Adelman forfeited all unvested restricted stock as of the date of his resignation, described further above,

effective February 1, 2013.

In addition to accelerated vesting of outstanding equity awards upon a change in control, our named executive officers
are entitled to receive certain other payments in connection with certain termination events specified in their
employment agreements. As described above under “Compensation Disclosure & Analysis — Employment Agreements,”
in the case of Messrs. Judd, Goforth, Adelman and Bassil, any of the Company’s obligations to make cash payments
following the termination of their respective employment is contingent upon the executive complying with the
restrictive covenants contained in their respective employment agreements. These restrictive covenants prohibit,
during periods defined in the agreements and subject to certain limited exceptions, (i) competing with the Company,
(ii) employing or soliciting Company employees, (iii) interfering with Company relationships with its customers or
vendors and (iv) disclosing or using in an unauthorized manner any of the Company’s confidential or proprietary
information. These restrictive covenants generally limit the employee’s competitive activities for a period of one year
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following the later of the expiration or termination of employment under the employment agreement.

In the event that any of the named executive officers’ employment is terminated by the Company “for cause,” we are
only obligated to pay the executive his salary and provide the executive with fringe benefits through the date of
termination.

93

Edgar Filing: LKQ CORP - Form DEF 14A

184



Table of Contents

The following table describes the estimated present value of payments that would have been due to the named
executive officers in the event that their employment was terminated by the Company due to a “termination without
cause” (as defined in the employment agreement) or by the executive for “good reason” (as defined in the employment
agreement) and that such termination occurred on December 29, 2012. Such amounts would be payable pursuant to
the terms of their agreements with the Company as described in the footnotes to the table as well as above under
“Employment Agreements.”

Salary and
Bonus

Continuing
Medical
Coverage

Outplacement
Services
Allowance

George R. Judd $ 1,380,000 $ 19,606 $ 25,000
H. Douglas Goforth $ 701,250 $ 19,985 $ 25,000
Dean A. Adelman(1) $ 472,500 $ 12,321 $ 25,000
Ned. M. Bassil $ 660,000 $ 17,596 $ 25,000

(1)As Mr. Adelman resigned effective February 1, 2013, and was not terminated by the Company, amounts shown
above will not be paid to this named executive officer.

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION FOR 2012

Shown below is information concerning the compensation for each member of the Board for 2012.  Mr. Judd’s
compensation is reported above in the 2012 Summary Compensation Table.

Name

Fees Earned
or Paid
in Cash
($)(1)

Stock
Awards
($)(2)

All Other
Compensation

($)
Total
($)

Howard S. Cohen(3) 258,000 — — 258,000
Richard S. Grant(4) 77,500 10,544 — 88,044
Ronald E. Kolka — — — —
Charles H. McElrea (6) 75,000 10,544 — 85,544
Steven F. Mayer — — — —
Alan H. Schumacher(5) 103,750 15,816 — 119,566
Robert G. Warden — — — —
M. Richard Warner(7) 80,000 — — 80,000

(1)Our directors who are not current employees of the Company, current employees or members of Cerberus’
operations team, or the Chairman of our Board, referred to as our outside directors, receive an annual director’s
retainer fee. For 2012, these fees were paid in restricted stock that equated to 35,864 shares for each applicable
director with a grant date fair value of $52,720 and an economic value of $50,000.  These awards vested on
January 10, 2013.  The Chairman of our Board receives an annual chairman’s fee that has an economic value of
$258,000 in consideration of the additional time and commitment attendant to the duties of the position of
Chairman of the Board.  For 2012, this fee was paid in 185,058 shares of restricted stock with a grant date fair
value of $272,035.  This restricted stock award vested on January 10, 2013.  In addition, each outside director
receives a fee of $1,250 in cash for each directors’ meeting attended.  Outside directors also receive a fee of
$20,000 in cash for serving as chairperson of a committee or $10,000 in cash for being a member of a
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committee.  In addition, members of our Audit Committee received shares of restricted stock (which will vest three
years from the date of grant).  These additional awards are described within footnotes 4, 5 and 6 of this
table.  Other than our Chairman of the Board, directors who are currently employed by the Company or Cerberus,
or who are members of Cerberus’ operations team, do not receive additional consideration for serving as directors,
except that all directors are entitled to reimbursement for travel and out-of-pocket expenses in connection with
their attendance at board and committee meetings.  The grant date fair value of awards granted during 2012, other
than those awards discussed in this footnote, is included in the “Stock Awards” column of the above table.

(2)The amounts in this column were calculated based on the grant date fair value of our common stock, in accordance
with FASB ASC Topic 718. Stock awards generally vest in various increments over multi-year periods. As a result,
this grant date fair value may not be indicative of the ultimate value the executive may receive under these
grants.  The grant date fair value of awards granted during 2012, other than those described in Footnote 1, is
included in the “Stock Awards” column of the above table.
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(3)Mr. Cohen serves as non-executive Chairman of the Board. At December 29, 2012, Mr. Cohen held 185,058 shares
of restricted stock and fully vested options to acquire 750,000 shares of common stock.  The economic value of
awards granted during 2012 is included in the “Fees Earned or Paid in Cash” column in the above table.

 (4)Mr. Grant serves as a member of the Audit Committee of the Board. At December 29, 2012, Mr. Grant held
45,838 shares of restricted stock, and fully vested options to purchase 10,000 shares of the Company’s common
stock.  Included in the total shares are 7,173 shares of restricted stock received for additional fees related to
serving on the Audit Committee, which had grant date fair value of $10,544.  This award cliff vests three years
from the date of grant. The grant date fair value of these awards is included in the “Stock Awards” column in the
above table.  During fiscal 2012, as discussed in Footnote 1, Mr. Grant also received 35,864 shares with a grant
date fair value of $52,720.  These awards vest on January 10, 2013. The economic value of awards granted during
2012 is included in the “Fees Earned or Paid in Cash” column in the above table.

(5)Mr. Schumacher serves as the Chairman of the Audit Committee of the Board and as a member of the
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. At December 29, 2012, Mr. Schumacher held 50,824 shares
of restricted stock.  Included in the total shares above are 10,759 shares of restricted stock received for additional
fees related to serving as chairperson of the Audit Committee, which had grant date fair value of $15,816.  This
award cliff vests three years from the date of grant.  The grant date fair value of these awards is included in the
“Stock Awards” column in the above table.  During fiscal 2012, as discussed in Footnote 1, Mr. Schumacher also
received 35,864 shares with a grant date fair value of $52,720.  These awards vest on January 10, 2013. The
economic value of awards granted during 2012 is included in the “Fees Earned or Paid in Cash” column in the above
table.

(6)Mr. McElrea served as a member of the Audit Committee of the Board through October 30, 2012. Subsequent to
Mr. McElrea’s resignation, he forfeited the 43,037 shares of restricted stock granted to him in January of
2012.  Included in the total number of shares forfeited are 7,173 shares of restricted stock received for additional
fees related to serving on the Audit Committee, which had grant date fair value of $10,544.  The grant date fair
value of these awards is included in the “Stock Awards” column in the above table.  During fiscal 2012, as discussed
in Footnote 1, Mr. McElrea also received and subsequently forfeited 35,864 shares with a grant date fair value of
$52,720. The economic value of awards granted during 2012 is included in the “Fees Earned or Paid in Cash”
column in the above table.

(7)On February 14, 2013, Mr. Warner joined the Audit Committee as the third director on the Company’s Audit
Committee. At December 29, 2012, Mr. Warner held 35,864 shares of restricted stock.  As discussed in Footnote 1,
these awards, which were received in fiscal 2012, had a grant date fair value of $52,720 and vest on January 10,
2013. The economic value of awards granted during 2012 is included in the “Fees Earned or Paid in Cash” column in
the above table.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

Messrs. Cohen, Schumacher and Warner are the current members of the Compensation Committee.  Mr. Cohen served
as our interim Chief Executive Officer from March 2008 through October 2008 and as our Executive Chairman from
March 2008 through March 2009, and is an advisor to Cerberus. Mr. Warner was a consultant for Cerberus until June
2011.

Beginning in fiscal 2013, directors may elect to receive their annual director retainer in either cash, shares of common
stock, or a combination thereof.
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ITEM 12.  SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF MANAGEMENT AND CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS

The following table sets forth, as of February 20, 2013 (unless otherwise indicated in the footnotes), certain
information with respect to our common stock owned beneficially by (1) each director or director nominee, (2) each
named executive officer, (3) all executive officers and directors as a group, and (4) each person known by us to be a
beneficial owner of more than 5% of our outstanding common stock. Unless otherwise noted, each of the persons
listed has sole investment and voting power with respect to the shares of common stock included in the table.
Beneficial ownership has been determined in accordance with Rule 13d-3 of the Exchange Act. Pursuant to the rules
of the SEC, shares of our common stock that a beneficial owner has a right to acquire within 60 days pursuant to the
exercise of stock options are deemed to be outstanding for the purpose of computing percentage ownership of such
owner.
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Name of Beneficial Owner

Number of Shares
Beneficially 
Owned

Percentage of 
Shares

Outstanding(1)
Stephen Feinberg(2)(3) 33,651,979 52.06 %
Stadium Capital Management, LLC(4) 4,977,133 7.70 %
Group Capital Management, LLC(11) 4,506,123 6.97 %
Howard S. Cohen(5) 1,753,632 2.71 %
George R. Judd(6) 2,037,203 3.15 %
Howard D. Goforth 900,867 1.39 %
Dean A. Adelman(7) 189,468 *
Ned M. Bassil 256,027 *
Sara E. Epstein(10) 39,401 *
Richard S. Grant(8) 71,264 *
Steven F. Mayer(9) 0 0
Alan H. Schumacher 68,262 *
Ronald E. Kolka(3) 0 0
M. Richard Warner 43,463 *
All executive officers and directors as a group (11 persons) 5,359,587 8.29 %

 * Less than one percent.

(1)The percentage ownership calculations are based on 64,636,413 shares of our stock outstanding on February 20,
2013.  This total includes options to purchases 870,147 shares of our common stock which are exercisable within
60 days of that date.

(2)Cerberus ABP Investor LLC is the record holder of 33,651,979 shares of our common stock. Mr. Feinberg
exercises sole voting and investment authority over all of our securities owned by Cerberus ABP Investor LLC.
Thus, pursuant to Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act, Mr. Feinberg is deemed to beneficially own
33,651,979 shares of our common stock.

(3)The address for Messrs. Feinberg and Kolka is c/o Cerberus Capital Management, L.P., 299 Park Avenue, New
York, NY 10171.

(4)Stadium Capital Management, LLC exercises shared voting and investment authority over 4,977,133 shares of our
stock in conjunction with Alexander M. Seaver and Bradley R. Kent. In addition, Stadium Capital Partners, L.P.,
also exercises shared voting and investment authority over 4,434,149 of these shares of our stock. The address for
Stadium Capital Management, LLC, Alexander M. Seaver, Bradley R. Kent and Stadium Capital Partners L.P. is
199 Elm Street, New Canaan, Connecticut 06840-5321.

(5)Mr. Cohen’s ownership includes options to purchase 750,000 shares of our common stock which are exercisable
within 60 days of February 20, 2013.

(6)Mr. Judd’s ownership includes options to purchase 78,647 shares of our common stock which are exercisable within
60 days of February 20, 2013.

 (7)Mr. Adelman’s resigned from the Company effective February 1, 2013.  All shares of unvested restricted stock and
unexercised options expired as of the date of his resignation.  These awards are therefore no longer included in the
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above number of shares beneficially owned.

(8)Mr. Grant’s ownership includes options to purchase 10,000 shares of our common stock which are exercisable
within 60 days of February 20, 2013.

(9)The address for Mr. Mayer is c/o Cerberus California, LLC, 11812 San Vicente Boulevard, Los Angeles, CA
90049.

(10)Ms. Epstein has served as our Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary since February 2013, and
our Senior Counsel and Corporate Secretary since March 2010.

(11)Prescott Group Aggressive Small Cap, L.P. and Prescott Group Aggressive Small Cap II, L.P., through the
account of Prescott Group Aggressive Small Cap Master Fund, G.P., exercises shared voting and investment
authority over 4,506,123 shares of our stock, representing approximately 6.97%.  Prescott Group Capital
Management, L.L.C. serves as the general partner of each of Prescott Group Aggressive Small Cap, L.P. and
Prescott Group Aggressive Small Cap II, L.P. and may direct the vote and disposition of the 4,506,123 shares of
our common stock. As the principal of Prescott Group Capital Management, L.L.C., Mr. Phil Frohlich may direct
the vote and disposition of the 4,506,123 shares of our common stock.  The address for Prescott Group
Aggressive Small Cap, L.P., Prescott Group Aggressive Small Cap II, L.P., Prescott Group Aggressive Small Cap
Master Fund, G.P., Prescott Group Capital Management, L.L.C. and Mr. Phil Frohlich is 1924 South Utica, Suite
1120, Tulsa, Oklahoma 74104-6529.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information about the shares of our common stock that may be issued upon the exercise
of options and other awards under our existing equity compensation plans as of December 29, 2012. Our
stockholder-approved equity compensation plans are the 2004 Equity Incentive Plan and the 2006 Long-Term Equity
Incentive Plan. We do not have any non-stockholder approved equity compensation plans.

(a) (b) (c)

Plan Category

Number of
Securities
to be Issued Upon
Exercise of
Outstanding
Options,
Warrants and
Rights

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price
of
Outstanding
Options,
Warrants
and Rights

Number of Securities
Remaining
Available for Future Issuance
Under
Equity Compensation Plans
(Excluding Securities
Reflected in
Column (a))

Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders 905,316 $ 6.18 7,622,080
Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holders — n/a —
Total 905,316 $ 6.18 7,622,080

ITEM 13.  CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE.

Review and Approval or Ratification of Related Person Transactions

Our legal department and Corporate Secretary are primarily responsible for identifying and reviewing relationships
and transactions in which the Company and our directors, executive officers, certain of our stockholders or their
immediate family members are participants to determine whether any of these “related persons” had or will have a direct
or indirect material interest. In order to identify potential related person transactions, our legal department annually
prepares and distributes to all directors and executive officers a written questionnaire which includes questions
intended to elicit information about any related person transactions. Information regarding transactions with related
persons or any violation of policy, including transactions involving a potential conflict of interest in violation of our
Code of Ethical Conduct, may be anonymously reported by employees through our Business Conduct and Ethics
Hotline.

If a related person transaction is identified by the legal department as one which must be reported in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K or our Proxy Statement, as applicable, pursuant to applicable SEC regulations, we present the
transaction to the Audit Committee for its review and approval or ratification. In evaluating related person
transactions, our Audit Committee members apply the same standards of good faith and fiduciary duty they apply to
their general responsibilities as a committee of the Board and as individual directors. The Audit Committee may
approve a related person transaction when, in its good faith judgment, the transaction is in the best interests of the
Company.

Cerberus Capital Management, L.P., our equity sponsor, retains consultants that specialize in operations management
and support and who provide Cerberus with consulting advice concerning portfolio companies in which funds and
accounts managed by Cerberus or its affiliates have invested. From time to time, Cerberus makes the services of these
consultants available to Cerberus portfolio companies. We believe that the terms of these consulting arrangements are
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favorable to us, or, alternatively, are materially consistent with those terms that would have been obtained by us in an
arrangement with an unaffiliated third party. We have normal service, purchase and sales arrangements with other
entities that are owned or controlled by Cerberus. We believe that these transactions are not material to our results of
operations or financial position.

Other than the transactions discussed above, for the last fiscal year there has not been, nor is there currently proposed,
any “transaction,” as defined by the SEC:

● to which we are or will be a participant;

● in which the amount involved exceeded or will exceed $120,000; and

● in which any “related person,” as defined by the SEC, had or will have a direct or indirect material interest.

Directors Independence

We believe that, as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, four of the current members of our Board do not
meet the independence standards promulgated under the listing standards of the NYSE. Three of the current members
of our Board are employees of or advisors to Cerberus. Messrs. Mayer and Kolka are currently employed by Cerberus
and Mr. Cohen is an advisor to Cerberus. Mr. Judd is the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer.
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ITEM 14.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.

The following table presents the aggregate fees billed by Ernst & Young LLP for professional services for fiscal years
2012 and 2011, by category as described in the notes to the table:

2012 2011
Audit Fees(1) $1,603,124 $1,614,758
Audit-Related Fees(2) 152,129 159,000
Tax Fees — —
All Other Fees(3) 1,995 1,995
TOTAL $1,757,248 $1,775,753

(1)Consists of fees related to audits of our consolidated financial statements, reviews of interim financial statements
and disclosures in filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Audit fees also included fees
related to the audit of internal control over financial reporting, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

(2) Consists of fees billed for services related to benefit plan audits.

(3)Consists of fees billed for services related to certain transactional services and certain research related products.

Pre-Approval of Audit and Non-Audit Services

The charter of the Audit Committee provides that the Audit Committee is responsible for the pre-approval of all
material audit services and non-audit services to be performed for us by our independent registered public accounting
firm. All audit and non-audit work described above was pre-approved by the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee
may delegate to one or more of its members the authority to grant such pre-approvals. The decisions of any such
member shall be presented to the full Audit Committee at each of its scheduled meetings.

PART IV

ITEM 15.  EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.

(a)  Financial Statements, Schedules and Exhibits

1. Financial Statements. The Financial Statements of BlueLinx Holdings Inc. and the Reports of Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm are presented under Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

2. Financial Statement Schedules. Not applicable.

3. Exhibits.

Exhibit
Number Item

3.1 Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of BlueLinx (A)

3.2 Amended and Restated By-Laws of BlueLinx(B)
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4.1 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of May 7, 2004, by and among BlueLinx and the initial
holders specified on the signature pages thereto(C)

4.2 Letter Agreement, dated as of August 30, 2004, by and among BlueLinx, Cerberus ABP Investor
LLC, Charles H. McElrea, George R. Judd, David J. Morris, James C. Herbig, Wayne E.
Wiggleton and Steven C. Hardin(C)

4.3 Investment Letter, dated March 10, 2004, between BlueLinx and Cerberus ABP Investor LLC, as
Purchaser of Common Stock(D)
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Exhibit
Number Item

4.4 Investment Letter, dated May 7, 2004, between BlueLinx and Cerberus ABP Investor LLC, as
Purchaser of Common Stock(D)

4.5 Executive Purchase Agreement dated May 7, 2004 by and among BlueLinx, Cerberus ABP
Investor LLC and Charles H. McElrea(D)

4.6 Executive Purchase Agreement dated May 7, 2004 by and among BlueLinx, Cerberus ABP
Investor LLC and George R. Judd(D)

4.7 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of June 16, 2011 between BlueLinx Holdings Inc. and
Stadium Capital Management, LLC (incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on June 20, 2011)

10.1 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of March 12, 2004, by and among Georgia-Pacific
Corporation, Georgia-Pacific Building Materials Sales, Ltd. and BlueLinx Corporation(C)

10.2 First Amendment to Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 6, 2004, by and among
Georgia-Pacific Corporation, Georgia-Pacific Building Materials Sales, Ltd. and BlueLinx
Corporation(C)

10.3† Master Purchase, Supply and Distribution Agreement, dated May 7, 2004 by and between
BlueLinx Corporation and Georgia-Pacific(B)

10.4 Form of Director and Officer Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Form
8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 13, 2011)

10.5 BlueLinx Holdings Inc. Amended and Restated Short-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Attachment B to the Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2011 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 18, 2011)

10.6 BlueLinx Holdings Inc. 2004 Long Term Equity Incentive Plan(C)

10.7 BlueLinx Holdings Inc. 2004 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan Form of Restricted Stock Award
Agreement (incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on January 11, 2008)

10.8 BlueLinx Holdings Inc. 2006 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan (as amended and restated
effective May 21, 2008) (incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the Definitive Proxy
Statement for the 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on April 18, 2011)

10.9 Amended and Restated Bluelinx Holdings Inc. 2006 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan (as
amended through May 17, 2012 and restated solely for purposes of filing pursuant to Item 601 of
Regulation S-K) (Incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the Definitive Proxy Statement for
the 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on April 16, 2012)
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10.10 BlueLinx Holdings Inc. 2006 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Award
Agreement (incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on June 9, 2006)

10.11 BlueLinx Holdings Inc. 2006 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan Nonqualified Stock Option
Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on June 9, 2006)

10.12 BlueLinx Holdings Inc. 2006 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan Form of Performance Share
Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on January 4, 2013)

10.13 BlueLinx Holdings Inc. Short-Term Incentive Plan (as amended and restated effective January 1,
2011) (Incorporated by reference to Appendix B to the Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2011
Annual Meeting of Stockholders, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April
18, 2011)
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Exhibit
Number Item

10.14 Canadian Credit Agreement, dated August 12, 2011, by and among Bluelinx Canada, CIBC
Asset-Based Lending Inc. and the lenders from time to time parties thereto (Incorporated by
reference to Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 16, 2 011)

10.15 Letter Agreement, dated December 18, 2006, relating to and amending the Master Purchase,
Supply and Distribution Agreement between Georgia-Pacific Corporation and BlueLinx
Corporation dated May 7, 2004 (incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on December 22, 2006)

10.16† Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of June 9, 2006, between the entities set forth therein
collectively as borrower and German American Capital Corporation as Lender (incorporated by
reference to Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 6,
2009)

10.17 Twelfth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of June 9, 2006, between the
entities set forth therein collectively as borrower and German American Capital Corporation as
Lender (incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on September 20, 2012)

10.18 Guaranty of Recourse Obligations, dated as of June 9, 2006, by BlueLinx Holdings Inc. for the
benefit of German American Capital Corporation (incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 15, 2006)

10.19 Environmental Indemnity Agreement, dated as of June 9, 2006, by BlueLinx Holdings Inc. in
favor of German American Capital Corporation (incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 15, 2006)

10.20† Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated August 4, 2006, by and between
BlueLinx Corporation, Wachovia and the other signatories listed therein (incorporated by
reference to Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 6,
2009)

10.21 First Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated August 4,
2006, by and between BlueLinx Corporation, Wachovia and the other signatories listed therein,
dated October 22, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended January 1, 2011, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
February 25, 2011)

10.22 Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated August 4,
2006, by and between BlueLinx Corporation, Wells Fargo, as successor in interest to Wachovia,
and the other signatories listed therein, dated July 7, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Form
8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 7, 2010)

10.23 Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated August 4,
2006, by and between BlueLinx Corporation, Wells Fargo, as successor in interest to Wachovia,
and the other signatories listed therein, dated May 10, 2011(incorporated by reference to
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Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 12, 2011)

10.24 Fourth Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated August 4,
2006, by and between BlueLinx Corporation, Wells Fargo, as successor in interest to Wachovia,
and the other signatories listed therein, dated August 11, 2011 (incorporated by reference to
Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 16, 2011)

10.25 Fifth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated July 14, 2011, by and between
BlueLinx Corporation and certain of its subsidiaries and U.S. Bank National Association in its
capacity as trustee for the registered holders of Wachovia Bank Commercial Mortgage Trust,
Commercial Mortgage Pass Through Certificates, Series 2006-C 27, as successor in interest to
German American Capital Corporation (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on November 4, 2011)
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Exhibit
Number Item

10.26 Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between BlueLinx Corporation and
George R. Judd, dated January 22, 2013, (incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on January 28, 2013)

10.27 Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between BlueLinx Corporation and
Howard D. Goforth, dated January 22, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 28, 2013)

10.28 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between BlueLinx Corporation and Dean A.
Adelman, dated January 21, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Form 8-K/A filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on January 27, 2011)

10.29 Employment Agreement between BlueLinx Corporation and Ned M. Bassil, dated October 31,
2011 (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on November 4, 2011)

10.30 Investment Agreement, dated as of April 26, 2011, between BlueLinx and Cerberus ABP
Investor LLC (incorporated by reference to Form 8-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on April 26, 2011)

14.1 BlueLinx Code of Ethical Conduct (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 14 to Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended January 1, 2005, filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on March 22, 2005)

21.1 List of subsidiaries of the Company*

23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP*

31.1 Certification of George R. Judd, Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002*

31.2 Certification of Howard D. Goforth, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer, pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002*

32.1 Certification of George R. Judd, Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002*

32.2 Certification of Howard D. Goforth, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer, pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002*

101 The following financial information from the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 29, 2012, formatted in Extensible Business Reporting Language
(“XBRL”): (i) Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss, (ii) Consolidated
Balance Sheets, (iii) Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ (Deficit) Equity, (iv) Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows and (v) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.**
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* Filed herewith.

** Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, these interactive data files are deemed not to be “filed”
or part of a registration statement or prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or Section 18 of the Securities Act of 1934, as amended,
and
otherwise are not subject to liability under these sections.

† Portions of this document were omitted and filed separately with the SEC pursuant to a request
for confidential treatment in accordance with Rule 24b-2 of the Exchange Act.

(A) Previously filed as Appendix B to the proxy statement for the 2012 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders filed on Schedule 14A with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 16,
2012.
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(B) Previously filed as an exhibit to Amendment No. 3 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (Reg. No. 333-118750) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
November 26, 2004.

(C) Previously filed as an exhibit to Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (Reg. No. 333-118750) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
October 1, 2004.

(D) Previously filed as an exhibit to Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (Reg. No. 333-118750) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
October 8, 2004.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

BLUELINX HOLDINGS INC.
(Registrant)

By: /s/ George R. Judd
George R. Judd
President and Chief Executive
Officer

Date: February 20, 2013

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

                                    Signature
Name

 Capacity
Date                     

/s/  George R. Judd                    President and Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer) February 20, 2013George R. Judd

/s/  Howard D. Goforth Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer (Principal Financial Officer) February 20, 2013Howard D. Goforth

/s/  Scott T.
Phillips                             Chief Accounting Officer (Principal Accounting

Officer) February 20, 2013
Scott T. Phillips

/s/  Howard S. Cohen Chairman February 20, 2013Howard S. Cohen

/s/  Richard S. Grant Director February 20, 2013Richard S. Grant

/s/  Steven F. Mayer Director February 20, 2013Steven F. Mayer

/s/  Ronald E. Kolka Director February 20, 2013Ronald E. Kolka

/s/  Alan H. Schumacher Director February 20, 2013Alan H. Schumacher

/s/  M. Richard Warner Director February 20, 2013M. Richard Warner
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